UNIVERSITY OF BELGRADE

FACULTY OF VETERINARY MEDICINE

Mira Rakić Martinez

IDENTIFICATION OF THE MECHANISMS OF RESISTANCE AND POTENTIAL CROSS RESISTANCE OF *LISTERIA MONOCYTOGENES* UPON ADAPTATION TO DIFFERENT ANTIMICROBIALS

Doctoral Dissertation

Belgrade, 2013

UNIVERZITET U BEOGRADU

FAKULTET VETERINARSKE MEDICINE

Mira Rakić Martinez

ISPITIVANJE MEHANIZAMA REZISTENCIJE I MOGUĆE UNAKRSNE REZISTENCIJE *LISTERIA MONOCYTOGENES* NAKON ADAPTACIJE NA RAZLIČITA ANTIMIKROBNA SREDSTVA

Doktorska Disertacija

Belgrade, 2013

MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE

dr Vera Katić, Professor,
 Faculty of Veterinary medicine,
 University of Belgrade

•

 dr Sophia Kathariou, Professor, Department of Food Science,
 North Carolina State University, Raleigh, N. Carolina

3. dr Dusan Mišić, assistant Professor, Faculty of Veterinary medicine University of Belgrade

4. dr Zorica Lepšanović, Senior Research Fellow Military Medical Academy Belgrade

DEDICATION

I would like to dedicate this dissertation to my dear parents Zora and Ljubo with enormous respect and all my love.

Disertaciju posvećujem mojim dragim roditeljima Zori i Ljubu uz beskrajno poštovanje i svu moju ljubav.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank Dr. Vera Katić for being my mentor, not only through PhD studies, but in my undergraduate years as well. Her objectivity, articulate thinking and dedication to work inspired me to keep moving forward even after long, tiresome days in the lab. I will forever appreciate Dr. Katic's encouragement to pursue personal happiness and her support in important life decisions.

I am forever grateful to Dr. Sophia Kathariou for accepting me in her lab and making me feel at home while far from it. Her incredible ability to find the best solutions when things were not looking promising and open completely new horizons along with her creativity and knowledge made science so attractive. Looking at all the great, bright and skilful young people pursuing their dreams under Dr. Kathariou's guidance makes me very proud for being a part of it.

My appreciation also goes to Dr. Lepšanović and Dr. Mišić for accepting to be members of the committee. I am thankful to all my lab mates and to Ms. Robin Siletzky for her solid support throughout my work. A special thanks to Dr. Vikrant Dutta for his patience, willingness to help and his much admired teaching skills.

Lastly and foremost I would like to thank my family. To my dear parents Ljubo and Zora whose unconditional love, support and presence whenever I needed them have been and will always be my motive to be better. To my big brother Zoran, who has been, and is my role model, but still owes me German lessons. Finally, I want to thank my boys, my beloved husband Sergio and my precious son Gregory, who have been an endless source of energy, support and love. Thanks for being my wingmen guys!

ABSTRACT

Ability to contaminate ready-to-eat, highly processed, cold-stored food products, relatively high fatality rate and environmental adaptations define *.Listeria monocytogenes* as a challenging foodborne pathogen of high public health significance. *Listeria*'s adaptations and prolonged persistence in food processing facilities are a key link to contamination of foods.

In recent years, bacterial multidrug resistance has been recognized as an emerging health challenge. Exposure to antimicrobials (antibiotics, disinfectants or environmentally ubiquitous heavy metals), may provide selective pressures for resistance with accompanying cross-resistance and increase in environmental fitness.

In this work I addressed some of the possible mechanisms of adaptations that may contribute to persistence of *L. monocytogenes* in the environment as well as to survival and growth in different foods. This includes adaptations to heavy metals such as cadmium, disinfectants such as benzalkonium chloride (BC), selected antibiotics (e.g. the fluoroquinolone ciprofloxacin) and other toxic compounds (e.g. tetraphenyl-phosponium, often used as an anti-carcinogenic and efflux pump substrate). In order to characterize the impact of multidrug resistance on survival and growth of *L. monocytogenes* in different foods, we tested mutants adapted to higher concentrations of antibiotic ciprofloxacin and disinfectant benzalkonium chloride. By screening of the *mariner*-based mutant librarie of *L monocytogenes* 10403S we detected tetR-like mutants with increase in the resistance to tetraphenyl-phosponium. Lastly, we tested selected *mariner*-based mutants with the change in the response to number of different stresses (cold sensitive, non-hemolytic, resistance to phage in epidemic clone II strains) deletion mutants of *wap* and region18, as well as selected food and clinical isolates.

Selection of several *L. monocytogenes* strains on either ciprofloxacin (2 μ g/ml) or the BC(10 μ g/ml) led to derivatives with increased MICs not only to these agents but also to several other compounds, including the antibiotic gentamicin, the dye ethidium bromide, and the chemotherapeutic drug tetraphenyl - phosphonium chloride. The spectrum of compounds

to which these derivatives exhibited reduced susceptibility was the same regardless of whether they were selected on ciprofloxacin or on BC. Strains harboring the large, cadmium and BC resistance plasmid pLM80 (identified in the epidemic clone II strain H7858) did not differ in MICs to ciprofloxacin and gentamicin from plasmid-cured strains. However, ciprofloxacin-selected derivatives of pLM80-harboring strains had higher MICs than those derived from the plasmid-cured strains. Partially restored susceptibility to the antimicrobials in the presence of the potent efflux inhibitor reserpine suggests that mutations in efflux systems are responsible for the multidrug resistance phenotype of strains selected on ciprofloxacin or BC.

Adaptive responses of bacteria to unstable environments are mediated by transcriptional regulators. A family of transcriptional regulators that is well represented and widely distributed among bacteria is the TetR family. These transcriptional repressors control genes whose products are involved in multidrug resistance, enzymes implicated in different catabolic pathways, biosynthesis of antibiotics, osmotic stress, and pathogenicity. We found a *tetR*::Tn917 mutant with an insertion in the *tetR* repressor (next to the MDR transporter *mdrT*) to have pronounced (8-fold) increase in TPP (tetraphenylphosponium) resistance compared to the parental L. monocytogenes strain 10403S. Such data suggest that the observed stimulation of TPP resistance of the mutant involves increased expression of MDR transporter(s) other than *mdrT*, but also repressed by *tetR*. To test our hypothesis we screened a *mariner*-based mutant library of L. monocytogenes strains 10403S and F2365 for the mutants with the decrease and increase in TPP resistance.(960 mutants of each strain, 10403S and F2365, respectively, were screened). We failed to isolate mutants with decreased resistance to TPP, but 5 mutants highly resistant to TPP were isolated. One of these tetR-like mutants had insertion in tetR gene. Mutants harbored single transposon insertion and one characterized had transposon integrated in LMRG_01858 (sucrose phosphorylase).

As previously mentioned, BC resistance in *L. monocytogenes* is commonly associated with a plasmid-borne disinfectant resistance cassette (*bcrABC*).We investigated conjugative transfer of resistance to BC and to cadmium from nonpathogenic *Listeria* spp. to other nonpathogenic *Listeria*, as well as to *L. monocytogenes*. BC-resistant *L. welshimeri* and *L. innocua* harboring bcrABC, along with the cadmium resistance determinant *cadA2*, were able

to transfer resistance to other nonpathogenic listeriae as well as to *L. monocytogenes* of diverse serotypes, including strains from the latest major 2011 cantaloupe outbreak. Transfer among nonpathogenic *Listeria* spp. was noticeably higher at 25°C than at 37°C, whereas acquisition of resistance by *L. monocytogenes* was equally efficient at 25 and 37°C. When the nonpathogenic donors were resistant to both BC and cadmium, acquisition of cadmium resistance was an effective surrogate for transfer of resistance to BC, suggesting coselection between these resistance attributes.

Non-pathogenic *Listeria* spp. such as *L. innocua* and *L. welshimeri* are commonly used as an indicator of *L. monocytogenes* due to their higher prevalence and co-existence with *L. monocytogenes* in the plant ecosystem. We have analyzed the prevalence of cadmium, arsenic and bezalkonium chloride (BC) resistance among non-pathogenic *Listeria* isolates from different turkey processing plants in the United States. The aim was to elucidate the role of non-pathogenic *Listeria* spp. as resistance gene reservoirs and their gene transfer potential that may contribute to the dissemination of disinfectant resistance genes in *L. monocytogenes*. Results obtained indicate high prevalence of resistance to BC and cadmium, and of the *bcrABC* (plasmid-borne disinfectant resistance cassette), *cadA1* and *cadA2* determinants (*cadAC* efflux systems associated with cadmium resistance). Resistance to cadmium was highly prevalent, exceeding 90% regardless of species. Resistance to BC, while also highly prevalent in both species, was more common in *L. welshimeri* (83%) than *L. innocua* (73%). In contrast, arsenic resistance was relatively uncommon (<10%) in either species. Noteworthy is that Pulsed field gel electrophoresis (PFGE) profiles of isolates were largely plant-specific

Epidemiological trends in recent years suggest that *L. monocytogenes* -contaminated produce is associated with higher outbreak occurrence than previously recognized. In 2011 a multistate outbreak of listeriosis in the United States involved cantaloupe and resulted in 33 deaths and 147 illnesses. This outbreak highlighted the need for further efforts to understand the ability of *L monocytogenes* to survive and grow on cantaloupe and other produce. One of my objectives was to assess survival and growth of outbreak strains of *L. monocytogenes* on the outer surface of cantaloupe (rind) compared to inner surface (flesh) or in freshly extracted juice at various incubation temperatures. Three *L. monocytogenes* strains implicated in the

2011 multistate outbreak in cantaloupe were employed in this study. Two strains were of serotype 1 /2a and the third of serotype 1/2b. L. monocytogenes populations increased by approximately 10 fold following 21 days incubation at 4 or 8° C, and by approximately 100 fold following 7 days incubation at 25°C. After 24 hours at 25°C L. monocytogenes populations increased by approximately 10 fold. Interestingly, increases were higher on the rind than on the flesh or in the juice, with statistically significant differences after 7 days of incubation at 4°C and 72 hr at 25°C. No significant differences were noted among the three different strains. Rinsing of inoculated fragments with water prior to the incubation revealed initial decreases of L monocytogenes followed by subsequent growth. After the initial decrease cells grew at the same level as cells from fragments without water rinses, with exception of those incubated at the temperature of 25°C that grew to higher levels . The results of this study suggest that L. monocytogenes can not only survive on the surface of cantaloupe but that it also has temperature and time-dependent potential for growth. Results also revealed that water treatment of the surface does not prevent growth of L. monocytogenes. These data will be valuable in design of controls to limit persistence and growth of this pathogen on cantaloupe and other produce.

Further analysis of survival and growth on the surface of cantaloupe included mutants with changes in certain phenotypes (increased resistance to the antibiotic ciprofloxacin, cold sensitivity, loss of hemolytic activity, phage susceptibility) as well as deletion mutants of wall-associated protein (*wap*) and a specific genomic region (region-18). The protein encoded by *wap* belongs to a super-family of surface-associated proteins involved in various cellular processes, including surface hydrophobicity, wall metabolism, secretion, pathogenicity, immunogenicity and cell adhesion. A genomic region (region-18) appeared to be markedly divergent in ECII strains but conserved among other serotype 4b strains. *L. monocytogenes* strains of other serotypes lack region-18, or *wap*. The results suggest no significant difference in growth between mutants and parental strains. As expected, the cold sensitive mutant of the strain F2365 failed to grow at 4°C, whereas other mutants along with the parental strains after initial decrease grew for up to 1.3 log units over 7 days at 4C.

Milk and dairy products along with processed meats are still considered major vehicles for *L. monocytogenes* involved in food related outbreaks. Eighteen *L. monocytogenes*

strains of different serotypes involved in food-related outbreaks as well as human and animal clinical isolates were tested for growth in raw and pasteurized milk over 10 days at 8C. Included in study were also ciprofloxacin adapted mutants of two wild type strains. The goal was to assess possible difference in survival and growth between wild types and antibiotic adapted mutants, across serotypes and between two types of milk. Isolates of serotype 4b assigned to three epidemic clonal groups (ECI, ECIa and ECII) have been analyzed for difference between clonal groups as well as types of milk. Populations increased significantly over the 10 days of incubation at 8C (p<0.0001) Results obtained also indicate overall better growth of *L. monocytogenes* in pasteurized over raw milk. Wild type strains did not significantly differ from ciprofloxacin- adapted mutants. Comparison across serotypes showed no significant differences between serotypes or between types of milk. Significant difference, however, has been noted between clonal groups composed of serotype 4b. ECI grew significantly better in both raw (p=0.0166) and pasteurized (p=0.0433) milk compared to ECIa. Both ECI and ECIa had higher population increases then ECII with significant difference between ECI and ECII in pasteurized milk (p=0.0358) and ECIa and ECII in raw milk (p=0.0026). Interestingly, population increases of ECI in pasteurized milk were significantly higher compared to raw milk (p=0.0001), whereas such difference between milk types was not noticed for ECIa and ECII. Results of present study confirmed good adaptability and growth of *L. monocytogenes* in milk.

In efforts to elucidate possible sources of *L monocytogenes* resistance to different antimicrobials, in this thesis we provided evidence of gene transfer potential of nonpathogenic *Listeria* spp., their role as resistance gene reservoirs and ability to contribute, trough conjugative transfer to the dissemination of disinfectant resistance genes in *L. monocytogenes*. We also confirmed that mutations in efflux systems are responsible for the multidrug resistance phenotype of strains selected on antibiotics and disinfectants. By employing *mariner*-based transposon mutant library we screened for mutants with changes in certain phenotypes (increased resistance to the antibiotic ciprofloxacin, cold sensitivity, loss of hemolytic activity, phage susceptibility). These mutants along with mutants adapted to antimicrobials and deletion mutants of *wap* and region-18 were used to assess survival and growth of *L monocytogenes* in different foods. However, further studies are necessary in order to better understand the distribution of epidemic clones of *L. monocytogenes*, their transmission characteristics and ability to cause foodborne disease.

KEY WORDS: *Listeria* spp., *Listeria monocytogenes*, resistance, antimicrobials, efflux system, plasmide, *tetR* repressor, conjugative transfer, cantaloupe, temperature, survival, growth, milk

DISCIPLINE: VETERINARY MEDICINE SPECIFIC AREA: HYGIENE OF MILK UDK NUMBER 579.62

KRATAK SADRŽAJ

Sposobnost da kontaminira hranu pripremljenu za konzum, visoko prerađene proizvode i proizvode skladištene na niskim temperaturama kao i relativno visok stepen smrtnosti i izrazita sosobnost adaptacije na uslove okoline svrstavaju *Listeria monocytogenes* u grupu patogenih mikroorganizama prenosivih hranom koji predstavljaju jedan od najvećih izazova u oblasti javnog zdravlja. Adaptacija *L. monocytogenes* na uslove sredine i sposobnost dugotrajnog opstanka u objektima za proizvodnju i preradu hrane ključni su razlozi za kontaminaciju različitih proizvoda.

Poslednjih godina, višestruka rezistencija bakterija na različita antimikrobna sredstva nametnula se kao jedna od najznačajnijih tema u oblasti zdravstva. Izlaganje brojnim antimikrobnim sredstvima (antibiotici, dezinficijensi kao i sveprisutni teški metali) omogucava selektivni pritisak za razvoj rezistencije uz propratnu unakrsnu rezistenciju i doprinosi povećanju vitalnosti bakterija u sredini u kojoj se nalaze.

U ovom radu prikazani su neki od mogućih mehanizama adaptacije koji mogu doprineti i doprinose opstanku L. monocytogenes u sredini kao i sposobnost rasta ovog patogena u različitim tipovima hrane. Prikaz uključuje i mehanizme adaptacije na teške metale kao što je kadmijum, dezinficijense kao bezalkonijum hlorid (BC), odabrane antibiotike (fluorokvinolon ciprofloksacin, na primer) i druge toksične supstance (tetrafenil-fosfonijum, koji se često koristi kao anti-kancerogeno sredstvo ali i substrat efluks pumpe). U cilju karakterizacije uticaja višestruke rezistencije na preživljavanje i rast *L. monocytogenes* u razlicitim tipovima hrane, testirali smo mutante adaptirane na visoke koncentracije antibiotika ciprofloksacina i dezinficijensa bezalkonijum hlorida. Ispitivanjem kolekcije mutanata roditeljskog soja L. monocytogenes 10403S sa umetnutim mariner-transpozonom, registrovali smo mutante sa karakteristikama tetR mutanta sa povecanom rezistencijom na tetrafenil-fosfonijum. Konacno, testirali smo i odabrane mutante sa transpozonom koji su u toku eksperimenta iskazali promene u fenotipu nastale kao posledica odgovora organizama na razlicite uslove stresa (osetljivost na niske temperature, ne-hemoliticne sojeve, sojeve koje pripadaju epidemskom klonu II a osetljive na dejstvo faga), mutante nastale kao posledica genetskog brisanja proteina wap i genetskog regiona 18, kao i odabrane kliničke izolate i izolate iz hrane.

Selekcija nekoliko sojeva *L. monocytogenes* na ciprofloksacinu (2 µg/ml) ili BC (10 µg/ml) rezultirala je porasnom minimalnih inhibitornih koncentracija (MIC) ne samo na agense korišćene pri izolaciji već i na nekoliko drugih supstanci, ukljucujuci antibiotik gentamicin, boju etidium bromid i hemoterapeutski lek I supstrat efluks pumpe tetrafenil-fosfonijum hlorid. Spektar supstanci prema kojima su derivati ispoljili smanjenu osetljivost bio je isti bez obzira da li su originalno izolovani na ciprofloksacinu ili bezalkonijum-hloridu. Sojevi sa velikim plazmidom pLM80, na kome su smešteni geni za rezistenciju na kadmijum I BC (identifikovan u soju H7550 iz epidemskog klona II) nisu se razlikovali po MIC od derivate u kojima je plasmid uklonjen eksperimentalnom metodom. Derivati izolovani na ciprofloksacinu sa plazmidom pLM80, međutim, pokazali su veće vrednosti za MIC od onih bez plazmida. Delimicno oporavnjena osetljivost na antimikrobna sredstva u prisustvu snažnog efluks inhibitora rezerpina sugeriše da su promene u efluks sistemu odgovorne za promenu fenotipa u smeru višestruke rezistencije kod sojeva izolovanih na ciprofloksacinu ili BC.

Adaptivni odgovor bakterija na nestabilne uslove sredine često su posredovani regulatorima transkripcije. Familija TetR je jedna od najznacajnije zastupljenih I široko rasprostranjenih među regulatorima transkricije. Ovi represori kontrolišu gene čiji su proizvodi uključeni u razvoj višestruke rezistencije, enzime uključene u različite kataboličke puteve, biosintezu antibiotika, osmotski stres i patogenost. Mi smo utvrdili da tetR::Tn917 mutant sa insercijom u *tetR* represoru (smeštenom pored MDR transportera *mdrT*) ima izraženi (8-puta) porast u rezistenciji na TPP (tetraphenylphosponium) u poređenju sa roditeljskim sojem L. monocytogenes 10403S. Ovaj podatak sugeriše da primećena stimulacija rezistencije na TPP kod testiranog mutiranog soja uključuje i pojačanu ekspresiju drugih MDR transportera pored mdrT, koji su, međutim, regulisani represorom tetR. U cilju provere naše hipoteze testirali smo kolekciju transpozon mutanata L. monocytogenes sojeva 10403S i F2365 u potrazi za mutantima sa smanjenom ili povecanom rezistencijom na TPP (testirano je po 960 mutanata od svakog soja pojedinačno). Tokom eksperimena nismo uspeli da izolujemo mutante sa smanjenom rezistencijom na TPP, ali smo izolovali pet visoko rezistentnih mutanata. Utvrdili smo zatim da je jedan od pomenutih mutanata, nalik na *tetR*, sa insercijom u *tetR* genu. Mutanti su posedovali po jednu inserciju u transpozonu. Nakon karakterizacije jednog od

izolovanih mutanata utvrdili smo da je transpozon integrisan u LMRG_01858 gen (sucrose phosphorylase).

Kao što je ranjie pomenuto, rezistencija *L. monocytogenes* na BC je najčesće posledica prisustva kasete za rezistenciju (bcrABC) umetnute u plazmid. Eksperimentom u okviru ove Disertacije smo ispitivali mogućnost konjugativnog transfera rezistencije na BC i teški metal kadmijum sa ne-patogenih rezistentnih sojeva roda *Listeria* na druge, osetljive ne-patogene sojeve kao i na *L. monocytogenes*. BC-rezistentne *L. welshimeri* i *L. innocua* sa bcrABC kasetom, zajedno sa determinantom rezistencije na kadmijum cadA2, pokazale su sposobnost transfera rezistencije na druge ne-patogene sojeve I *L. monocytogenes* različitih serotipova, uključujući i sojeve izolovane tokom poslednje velike epidemije listerioze u Sjedinjenim Drzavama 2011., izazvane patogenima prisutnim u dinji. Transfer među ne-patogenim *Listeria* spp. bio je značajno viši na 25°C nego na 37°C, dok je prenos rezistencije na *L. monocytogenes* bio jednako efikasan na 25 i 37°C. Kada su ne-patogeni davaoci bili rezistentni na obadve supstance BCi kadmijum, prenos rezistencije na kadmijum se pokazao kao efikasan surogat za transfer rezistencije na BC, sugerišući koselekciju između determinati rezistencije.

Ne-patogene *Listeria* spp. kao sto su *L. innocua* i *L. welshimeri* često se uzimaju kao indikatori prisustva *L. monocytogenes* obzirom na višu prevalenciju i suživot sa *L. monocytogenes* u ekosistemu objekata za proizvodnju i preradu hrane. Jedan od predmeta interesovanja u toku izrade Disertacije bila je i analiza prevalencije rezistencije na kadmijum, arsenik i bezalkonijum hlorid među ne-patogenim sojevima iz roda Listeria izolovanih u različitim objektima za preradu živine (ćuraka) u nekoliko država u Sjedinjenim Državama. Ovu analizu smo uradili sa ciljem da rasvetlimo ulogu ne-patogenih *Listeria* spp. kao rezervoara gena rezistencije i njihov potencijal za transfer ovih gena koji može dorineti širenju rezistencije na teške metale i dezinficijense među *L. monocytogenes*. Dobijeni rezultati ukazuju na visoku prevalenciju rezistenciju na BC locirane na plazmidu) i *cadA1* i *cadA2* determinanti (*cadAC* efluks sistem uključen u rezistenciju na kadmijum). Rezistencija na kadmijum je bila značajna, sa preko 90% bez obzira na vrstu. Rezistancija na BC, iako visoko zastupljena među obadve vrste, češće je registrovana medju *L. welshimeri* (83%) nego

L. innocua (73%). Na suprot ovom nalazu, rezistencija na arsenik je bila retka (<10%) kod obe vrste. Veoma je važno napomenuti da su PFGE profili u značajnoj meri bili specifični za objekat.

Epidemiološki trend poslednjih godina ukazuje da su slučajevi izazvani prisustvom L. monocytogenes u svežem voću i povrću mnogo češći nego što se ranije predpostavljalo. Poslednji značajan slučaj iz 2011. izazvan je prisustvom patogena u dinjama i rezultirao je sa 147 obolelih I 33 smrtna slučaja. Ova epidemija naglasila je potrebu za daljim istraživanjima sa ciljem da se bolje razume sposobnost L. monocytogenes da preživi i raste na dinjama i drugim sirovim proizvodima. Jedan od ciljeva u okviru ove Disertacije bio je da se utvrdi sosobnost preživljavanja i rasta sojeva izolovanih tokom poslednje epidemije listerioze 2011. i drugih sojeva povezanih sa eidemijama ili pojedinačnim slučajevima na površini dinje (kori) u poređenju sa unutrašnjom jestivom površinom (srž) ili u svežem ekstraktu pri različitim temperaturama inkubacije. Sojevi izolovani tokom epidemije 2011. pripadaju serotipu 1/2a i 1/2b i različitih su PFGE profila. Sojevi iz drugih eidemija (serotip 1/2a i 4b) su takođe testirani. Kora, srž i ekstrakt dinje su inokulisani svakim od sojeva pojedinačno tako da konačna koncentracija bakterija u matriksu iznosi 10⁵cfu /fragmentu ili ml). Opstanak i rast su praćeni brojanjem kolonija tokom 21 dana inkubacije na 4 i 8°C i sedam dana inkubacije na 25°C. Dobijeni podatci su statistički obradjeni korišćenjem softvera SAS i linearnog miks efekt modela. Populacije L. monocytogenes uvećane su za približno 10 puta tokom 21 dana inkubacije na 4 ili 8° C i približno 100 puta nakon 7 dana inkubacije na 25°C. Nakon 24h na 25°C populacija L. monocytogenes uvećana je približno 10 puta. Interesantno je naglasiti da je uvećanje populacije bilo veće na kori nego u jestivom delu dinje ili u ekstraktu sa statistički značajnom razlikom (P>0.0001) zabeleženom nakon 7 dana inkubacije na 4°C i 72 h na 25°C. Sojevi izolovani tokom epidemije izazvane kontaminiranim dinjama nisu ispoljili statistički značajne razlike u rastu, dok je medju preostalim testiranim sojevima takva razlika uočena. Ispiranje fragmenata dinje u sterilnoj destilovanoj vodi pre inkubacije na 8 i 25°C rezultiralo je redukcijom populacije za približno 100 puta, ali su se patogeni mikroorganizmi oporavili i rasli na nivou patogena na netretiranim fragmentima. Rezultati ovog ispitivanja ukazuju da L. monocytogenes ne samo da preživljava na spoljašnoj površini dinje, već ima i potencijal da raste različitim intenzitetom direktno zavisnim od temperature i vremena inkubacije. Rezultati sugerišu i limitiranu efikasnost tretmana sirovih proizvoda vodom obzirom da takav tretman ne zaustavlja rast *L. monocytogenes*. Dobijeni podatci mogu biti od velike važnosti u kreiranju mera kontrole u cilju limitiranog opstanka i rasta patogena na dinjama i drugim sirovim proizvodima.

U dalje analize opstanka i rasta patogena na površini dinje uvršćeni su mutanti sa izvesnim promenama u fenotipu (uvećana rezistencija na antibiotik ciprofloksacin, osetljivost na niske temperature, gubitak hemolitičke aktivnosti, osetljivost na delovanje faga) i genotipu (uklanjanje wap (protein u ćelijskom zidu) kao i specifičnog genetskog regiona – region 18). Protein kodiran wap pripada super-familiji proteina na površini bakterijske ćelije koji su uključeni u različite ćelijske procese, uključujući hidrofobnost površine, metabolizam ćelijskog zida, sekreciju, patogenost, imunogenost i ćelijsku adheziju. Genetski region (region 18) pokazao se kao značajno različit kod sojeva klonalne grupe ECII u odnosu na ostale sojeve serotipa 4b. Sojevi *L. monocytogenes* drugih serotipova ne poseduju region-18, ni wap. Rezultati eksperimenta ukazuju na nedostatak značajne razlike u rastu između roditeljskih sojeva i mutanata. Očekivano, mutant roditeljskog soja F2365, osetljiv na niske temperature nije rastao na 4°C, dok su populacije ostalih mutanata i roditeljskih sojeva, nakon početnog pada, uvecane za 1,3 logaritamskih jedinica tokom 7 dana na 4°C.

Mleko i proizvodi od mleka uz proizvode od mesa se i dalje smatraju najznačajnijim vektorom *L. monocytogenes* odgovornu za epidemije povezane sa konzumiranjem hrane. Osamnaest sojeva *L. monocytogenes* različitog serotipa izolovanih iz hrane tokom epidemija, kao i humanih i životinjskih kliničkih izolata testirani su na rast u sirovom i pasterizovanom mleku tokom 10 dana na temperaturi od 8°C. U test su uključeni i mutant adaptirani na antibiotik ciprofloksacin uz roditeljski soj. Cilj je bio da se utvrde moguće razlike u preživljavanju i rastu između roditeljskih sojeva i mutanata, između različitih serotipova i različitih tipova mleka. Sojevi koji pripadaju serotipu 4b dodatno su analizirani kako bi se utvrđeno je značajno (p<0.0001) uvećanje populacija tokom 10 dana inkubacije na 8°C. Dobijeni rezultati ukazuju i na generalno bolji rast *L. monocytogenes* u pasterizovanom u odnosu na sirovo mleko. Roditeljski soj nije se po rastu razlikovao od mutant adaptiranog na ciprofloksacin. Poređenje serotipova međusobno kao i u odnosu na tip mleka nije

rezultiralo značajnim razlikama. Statistički značajna razlika, međutim, uočena je među klonalnim grupama u okviru serotipa 4b. ECI sojevi su rasli značajno bolje kako u sirovom (p=0.0166), tako i u pasterizovanom (p=0.0433) mleku u poređenju sa klonalnom grupom ECIa. Obadve klonalne grupe, ECI i ECIa iskazale su veći porast populacija nego ECII sa značajnom razlikom između ECI i ECII u pasterizovanom mleku (p=0.0358) i ECIa i ECII u sirovom mleku (p=0.0026). Interesantno je naglasiti da je porast poulacije ECI u pasterizovanom mleku bio značajno viši u poređenju sa sirovim mlekom (p=0.0001), dok ovakva razlika nije zabeležena među klonalnim grupama ECIa i ECII. Rezultati ovog istraživanja potvrdili su dobru adaptabilnost i rast L. monocytogenes u mleku. U nameri da rasvetlimo moguće uzroke rezistencije *L. monocytogenes* na različita antimikrobna sredstva, u ovoj Disertaciji smo dokazali potencijal ne-patogenih Listeria spp za transfer različitih gena, njihovu ulogu rezervoara gena rezistencije i sposobnost da doprinesu, putem konjugacije, širenju gena rezistencije na dezinficijense medju L. monocytogenes. Takodje smo potvrdili da su mutacije u efluks sistemu odgovorne za visestruku rezistenciju sojeva adaptiranih na antibiotike I dezinficijense. Korišćenjem kolekcije mutanata sa transpozonom izolovani su sojevi sa fenotipskim promenama (povećana rezistencija na antibiotik ciprofloksacin, osetljivost na niske temperature, gubitak hemoliticke sposobnosti kao I osetljivost na fage). Navedeni mutant, kao i mutant bez wap i regiona-18 korisceni su kako bi se testirala sposobnost L. monocytogenes da se adaptira i raste u razlicitim tipovima hrane. Dalja ispitivanja su, medjutim, neophodna kako bi se bolje razumela distribucija epidemskih klonova L. monocytogenes, njihove karakteristike i sposobnost da i zazovu oboljenja putem hrane.

KLJUČNE REČI

Listeria spp., *Listeria monocytogenes*, rezistencija, antimikrobna sredstva, efflux sistem, plazmid, tetR represor, konjugativni transfer, dinja, mleko, opstanak, rast

NAUČNA OBLAST: VETERINARSKA MEDICINA UŽA NAUČNA OBLAST: HIGIJENA MLEKA UDK BROJ: 579.62

TABLE OF CONTENTS

2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1. Antimicrobial resistance of <i>Listeria</i> spp
2.2. Adaptation of Listeria monocytogenes to Ciprofloxacin or to the Disinfectant
Benzalkonium Chloride Results in Reduced Susceptibility to Ciprofloxacin, Gentamicin
Benzalkonium Chloride and Other Toxic Compounds7
2.3. Identification of <i>L.monocytogenes</i> antibiotic resistance genes under control of <i>tet</i> R
repressors
2.4. Co-selection of cadmium and benzalkonium chloride resistance in conjugative transfers
from non-pathogenic Listeria spp. to other listeriae10
Resistance gene distribution among non-pathogenenic Listeriae from different poultry
processing plants
2.6. Survival and growth of outbreak and other strains of Listeria monocytogenes on
cantaloupe12
2.7. Change in phenotype and genotype as an asset for L. monocytogenes growth on
cantaloupe14
2.8. Assessment of <i>L. monocytogenes</i> growth in raw and pasteurized milk16
3.0. TASKS AND RESEARCH

3.1. Adaptation of Listeria monocytogenes to Ciprofloxacin or to the Disinfectant Benzalkonium Chloride Results in Reduced Susceptibility to Ciprofloxacin, Gentamicin Benzalkonium Chloride and Other Toxic Compounds 3.1.1.Bacterial strains and growth conditions. 19 3.1.2. Isolation of mutants selected on ciprofloxacin or BC 21 3.1.3. Antimicrobial agents, susceptibility testing and MIC determinations. 21 3.1.4. Determination of tolerance to bile salts, triclosan and sodium dodecyl sulfate. 23 3.1.5. RNA extraction and reverse-transcription PCR (RT-PCR).

3.2. Identification of <i>L</i> monocytogenes antibiotic resistance genes under cont	rol of tetR
repressors	24
3.2.1. Bacterial strains and growth conditions	
3.2.2. Construction of mutant libraries	25
3.2.3. Mutant library screening procedures	26
3.2.4. Southern blots and determination of transposon insertion sites	
3.3. Co-selection of cadmium and benzalkonium chloride resistance in conju	gative
transfers from non-pathogenic <i>Listeria</i> spp. to other listeriae	27
3.3.1. Bacterial strains and growth conditions	
3.3.2.Cadmium and BC susceptibility and determinations of MIC	
3.3.3. Conjugation	29
3.3.4. Polimerase chain reaction (PCR)	
3.4. Resistance gene distribution among non-pathogenenic Listeriae from dif	ferent
poultry processing plants	34
3.4.1. Bacterial strains and growth conditions	
3.4.2. Determination of susceptibility to cadmium, sodium arsenite and BC	40
3.4.3. DNA extraction	41
3.4.4. PCR	41
3.4.5. Pulsed-field gel electrophoresis (PFGE)	43
3.4.6. Statistical analysis	43
3.5. Survival and growth of outbreak and other strains of Listeria monocytog	enes on
cantaloupe	43
3.5.1. Bacterial strains and growing conditions	43
3.5.2. Cantaloupe preparation and inoculations	44
3.5.3. Cantaloupe treatment with water	45
3.5.4. Statistical analysis	45
3.6. Change in phenotype and genotype as an asset for <i>L. monocytogenes</i> grow	th on
cantaloupe	45
3.6.1. Bacterial strains and growing conditions	45
3.6.2. Isolation of mutants adapted on ciprofloxacin	47

3.6.3. Mutant library constructions and genetic characterizations	47
3.6.4. Identification of phage-susceptible mutant	.47
3.6.5. Construction of deletion mutant of <i>wap</i> in F2365	.47
3.6.6. Preparation of cantaloupe and inoculation of surface	47
3.6.7. Cantaloupe treatment with water	.47
3.7. Assessment of <i>L. monocytogenes</i> growth in raw and pasteurized milk	48
3.7.1. Bacterial strains and growing conditions	48
3.7.2. Milk	50
3.7.3. Survival and growth determinations	50
3.7.4. Statistical analysis	50
4.0. RESULTS	
4.1. Adaptation of Listeria monocytogenes to Ciprofloxacin or to the Disinfectant	
Benzalkonium Chloride Results in Reduced Susceptibility to Ciprofloxacin, Gentamic	cin
Benzalkonium Chlorideand Other Toxic Compounds	.51
4.1.1.Presence of pLM80 does not impact MICs to antibiotics.	. 51
4.1.2. L. monocytogenes mutants selected on ciprofloxacin also exhibit reduced susceptibil	ity
to gentamici	51
4.1.3. L. monocytogenes mutants selected for increased resistance to ciprofloxacin also exh	nibit
markedly reduced susceptibility to BC, EthBr and TPP	53
4.1.4. L. monocytogenes mutants selected for increased resistance to BC also exhibit market	edly
reduced susceptibility to ciprofloxacin, gentamicin, EthBr and TPP	54
4.1.5. Antimicrobial agent MICs of ciprofloxacin-selected and BC-selected mutants of <i>L</i> .	
monocytogenes are reduced in the presence of the efflux pump inhibitor reserpine	.56
4.1.6. Expression of MDR transporter <i>lde</i> was enhanced in mutant obtained following	
exposure to BC	62
4.2. Identification of <i>L</i> monocytogenes antibiotic resistance genes under control of tetR	2
repressors	63
4.3. Co-selection of cadmium and benzalkonium chloride resistance in conjugative	
transfers from non-pathogenic <i>Listeria</i> spp. to other listeriae	.66
4.3.1. Bacterial strains used in this study	.66

4.3.2. L. welshimeri and L. innocua harboring cadA2 can readily transfer cadmium resistant	nce
to other non-pathogenic listeriae	69
4.3.3. BC resistance determinant <i>bcrABC</i> is co-transferred with the cadmium resistance	
determinant <i>cadA2</i>	70
4.3.4. Non-pathogenic Listeria spp. strains can effectively mediate conjugative co-transfer	of
BC and cadmium resistance to <i>L. monocytogenes</i>	72
4.3.5. Temperature affects transfer of BC and cadmium resistance to non-pathogenic lister	iae
while transfer to <i>L. monocytogenes</i> is equally efficient at 25 and 37°C	73
4.3.6. Evidence of pLM80-like plasmids in BC and cadmium-resistant non-pathogenic	
donors	75
4.4. Resistance gene distribution among non-pathogenenic Listeriae from different	
poultry processing plants	77
4.4.1. Heavy metal and BC resistance in non-pathogenic Listeria spp	77
4.4.2. cadA distribution in non-pathogenic Listeria spp	78
4.4.3. <i>cadA</i> distribution in <i>L. welshimeri</i> and <i>L. innocua</i>	78
4.4.4. Plant-specific prevalence of <i>cadA</i> genes in <i>L. welshimeri</i>	79
4.4.5. Plant-specific prevalence of <i>cadA</i> genes in <i>L. innocua</i>	80
4.4.6. Plant-specific comparisons between species	81
4.4.7. BC resistance	82
4.4.8. PFGE	84
4.5. Survival and growth of outbreak and other strains of Listeria monocytogenes on	
cantaloupe	87
4.5.1. Growth and survival of <i>L. monocytogenes</i> on cantaloupe	87
4.5.2. Assessment of other <i>L</i> monocytogenes strains on cantaloupe	92
4.5.3. Growth and survival of <i>L. monocytogenes</i> on cantaloupe rind after water treatment.	93
4.6. Change in phenotype and genotype as an asset for <i>L.monocytogenes</i> growth on	
cantaloupe	96
4.6.1. Growth and survival of L monocytogenes J0161 and ciprofloxacin adapted mutant o	n
the surface of cantaloupe	96

4.6.2. A comparison of behavior on the cantaloupe surface between <i>L monocytogenes</i> F2365
along with transposon mutant F2365purA and H7550Cds with mutant H7550-Cds purB98
4.6.3. Comparison of <i>L monocytogenes</i> F2365 and cold sensitive mutant F2365
LMOf2365_1746
4.6.4. Deletion of the genomic region 18 in L monocytogenes strains F2365 and H7550 and
performance on the cantaloupe surface101
4.7. Assessment of <i>L. monocytogenes</i> growth in raw and pasteurised milk104
4.7.1. Survival and growth of <i>L. monocytogenes</i> in raw and pasteurized milk104
4.7.2. Serotype comparison in raw and pasteurized milk106
4.7.3. Wild type and ciprofloxacin adapted mutants in raw and pasteurized milk108
4.7.4. Difference between clonal groups

5.0. DISCUSSION

5.1 Adaptation of Listeria monocytogenes to Ciprofloxacin or to the Disinfectant
Benzalkonium Chloride Results in Reduced Susceptibility to Ciprofloxacin, Gentamicin
Benzalkonium Chloride and Other Toxic Compounds112
5.2 Identification of <i>L.monocytogenes</i> antibiotic resistance genes under control of <i>tet</i> R
repressors
5.3 Co-selection of cadmium and benzalkonium chloride resistance in conjugative transfers
from non-pathogenic Listeria spp. to other listeriae117
5.4 Resistance gene distribution among non-pathogenenic Listeriae from different poultry
processing plants
5.5 Survival and growth of outbreak and other strains of Listeria monocytogenes on
cantaloupe121
5.6 Change in phenotype and genotype as an asset for L. monocytogenes growth on
cantaloupe
5.7 Assessment of <i>L. monocytogenes</i> growth in raw and pasteurized milk
6.0. CONCLUSIONS
7.0. REFERENCES

LIST OF TABLES

3.1. Adaptation of Listeria monocytogenes to Ciprofloxacin or to the Disinfectant
Benzalkonium Chloride Results in Reduced Susceptibility to Ciprofloxacin, Gentamicin
Benzalkonium Chloride and Other Toxic compounds
Table3.1.1. L. monocytogenes strains employed in this study
Table3.1.2. Antibiotics employed in this study
Table3.1. 3.Primers used in this study
3.2. Identification of <i>L</i> monocytogenes antibiotic resistance genes under control of tetR
repressors
Table3.2.1. L. monocytogenes strains employed in this study
Table3.2. 2.Primers used in this study
3.3. Co-selection of cadmium and benzalkonium chloride resistance in conjugative
transfers from non-pathogenic Listeria spp. to other listeriae
Table 3.3.1. Bacterial strains employed in this study
Table 3.3.2. Primers used in this study
3.4. Resistance gene distribution among non-pathogenenic Listeriae from different
poultry processing plants
Table3.4.1a. L. innocua isolates used in this study
Table 3.4.1.b L. welshimeri isolates used in this study
Table 3.4.2.Plant-specific distribution of the strains used in this study40
Table 3.4.3.Primers used in this study42
3.5. Survival and growth of outbreak and other strains of Listeria monocytogenes on
cantaloupe
Table3.5.1. Listeria monocytogenes strains used in this study
3.6. Change in phenotype and genotype as an asset for <i>Lmonocytogenes</i> growth on
cantaloupe

Table 3.6.1: Listeria monocytogenes strains used in this study46
3.7. Assessment of <i>L</i> monocytogenes growth in raw and pasteurized milk
Table 3.7.1. L monocytogenes strains employed in this study
4.1. Adaptation of Listeria monocytogenes to Ciprofloxacin or to the Disinfectant
Benzalkonium Chloride Results in Reduced Susceptibility to Ciprofloxacin, Gentamicin
Benzalkonium Chloride and Other Toxic compounds
Table3.1.4.Moxifloxacin susceptibility of ciprofloxacin and BC-selected mutants of
L. monocytogenes
4.3. Co-selection of cadmium and benzalkonium chloride resistance in conjugative
transfers from non-pathogenic Listeria spp. to other listeriae
Table 4.3.2. Primers used in this study
Table 4.3.3. Transfer frequency in cadmium resistance in conjugations between indicated
donor and recipient strains

LIST OF FIGURES

4.1. Adaptation of <i>Listeria monocytogenes</i> to Ciprofloxacin or to the Disinfectant
Benzalkonium Chloride Results in Reduced Susceptibility to Ciprofloxacin, Gentamicin
Benzalkonium Chloride and Other Toxic compounds
Figure 4.1.1.Mutants selected on ciprofloxacin also exhibit reduced susceptibility to
gentamicin and BC
Figure 4.1.2. Mutants selected on BC also exhibit reduced susceptibility to ciprofloxacin and
gentamicin
Figure 4.1.3. Ciprofloxacin-selected mutants of <i>L. monocytogenes</i> exhibit reduced MICs to
ciprofloxacin, gentamicin, benzalkonium chloride and ethidium bromide in the presence of
the efflux inhibitor reserpine
Figure 4.1.4.Benzalkonium chloride-selected mutants exhibit reduced MICs to ciprofloxacin
and gentamicin in the presence of the efflux inhibitor reserpine
Figure 4.1.5.Benzalkonium chloride-selected mutant exhibits enhanced transcription of <i>lde</i> in
comparison to parental strain
4.2. Identification of <i>L monocytogenes</i> antibiotic resistance genes under control of <i>tetR</i>
repressors
Figure 4.2.1. Resistance of <i>L monocytogenes</i> 10403S and selected mutants to TPP63
Figure 4.2.2: Map of the <i>mariner</i> -based transposon delivery vector pMC38/3964
Figure 4.2.3.MIC of TPP for LmDP-L5396 <i>tetR::Tn917</i> and mariner mutant65
Figure 4.2.4. Sucrose phosporilase65
4.3.Co-selection of cadmium and benzalkonium chloride resistance in conjugative
transfers from non-pathogenic Listeria spp. to other listeriae
Figure 4.3.1 Presence of <i>cadA1</i> , <i>cadA2</i> and <i>bcrABC</i> in nonpathogenic donor strains68
Figure 4.3.2 Identification of <i>L. welshimeri</i> transconjugants from conjugations between <i>L</i> .
welshimeri as recipient and L. innocua as donor
Figure 4.3.3 Presence of <i>cadA2</i> and <i>bcrABC</i> in <i>L.welshimeri</i> and <i>L.monocytogenes</i>
transconjugants71

Figure 4.3. 4 Impact of conjugation temperature (25°C vs. 37°C) on frequency of transfer of
cadmium resistance in conjugations among non-pathogenic Listeria spp72
Figure 4.3.5 Detection of pLM80 genes in non-pathogenic Listeria spp. used as donors76

4.4. Resistance gene distribution among non-pathogenenic *Listeriae* from different poultry processing plants

Figure 4.4.1.Heavy metal and BC resistance in non-pathogenic Listeriae spp	.77
Figure 4.4. 2. <i>cadA</i> distribution in non-pathogenic <i>Listeriae</i> spp	.78
Figure 4.4.3. <i>cadA</i> distribution in <i>L. welshimeri and L. innocua</i>	.79
Figure 4.4.4. Plant – specific prevalence of <i>cadA</i> genes in <i>L. welshimeri</i> :	.80
Figure 4.4.5. Plant – specific prevalence of <i>cadA</i> genes in <i>L. innocua</i>	81
Figure 4.4.6.Plant-specific BC resistance	.83
Figure4.4.7.PFGE	86

4.5. Survival and growth of outbreak and other strains of *Listeria monocytogenes* on cantaloupe

4.6.Change in phenotype and genotype as an asset for *Lmonocytogenes* growth on cantaloupe

Figure 4.6.1. Growth and survival of <i>L monocytogenes</i> J0161 and ciprofloxacin adapted
mutant on the surface of cantaloupe
Figure 4.6.2. A comparison of behavior on the cantaloupe surface between <i>L</i> monocytogenes
F2365 along with transposon mutant F2365 <i>purA</i> and H7550Cds with mutant H7550-Cds
<i>purB</i> 99
Figure 4.6.3. Comparison of <i>L. monocytogenes</i> F2365 and cold sensitive mutant F2365
LMOf2365_1746101
Figure 4.6.4.Deletion of the genomic region 18 in <i>L monocytogenes</i> strains F2365 and H7550
and performance on the cantaloupe surface103
4.7. Assessment of <i>L monocytogenes</i> growth in raw and pasteurized milk
Figure 4.7.1. Survival and growth of <i>L monocytogenes</i> in raw and pasteurized milk105
Figure 4.7.2. Comparison of growth in raw and pasteurized milk between <i>L</i> monocytogenes
parental strains and ciprofloxacin adapted mutants107
Figure 4.7.3. Comparison of growth between L monocytogenes strains associated with
different clonal groups109
Figure 4.7. 4. Comparison of growth between L monocytogenes strains associated with
different clonal groups110
Figure 4.7.5. Difference in <i>L</i> monocytogenes population increase in milk and on the cantaloupe
surfaces111

2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1. Antimicrobial resistance of *Listeria* spp.

Among the ten known species of the Listeria bacterial genus, Listeria monocytogenes remains the primary cause of food born infection in humans. As ubiquitous organisms, Listeria species are widely distributed in the environment. From the food safety viewpoint, most troubling is their persistence in food processing operations and facilities, given that some of the strains have been involved in major outbreaks of listeriosis (115). Recent epidemiologic data indicate declined incidence of listeriosis in the US, hence, L. monocytogenes still produce the highest mortality (16-19%) and hospitalization rate (94%) among food-borne pathogens (193). In Europe, and Canada increasing number of outbreaks and sporadic cases have been reported until 2010 (2, 55), but latest reports are encouraging and indicate a decline (3.1 % decrease in 2010 compared with 2009) (euro surveillance 2012). However, several major outbreaks that occurred recently worldwide require further prevention and food safety awareness. One of these outbreaks, a multinational 2009/2010 listeriosis outbreak caused by two different L. monocytogenes serotype 1/2a strains isolated from Quargel (a sour milk curd cheese) in Austria, Germany, Czech Republic, Poland and Slovakia accounted for 34 clinical cases and eight deaths (79). A 2011 major outbreak of Listeriosis associated with Jensen Farms cantaloupe-United States (32) revealed quite a few unusual and unique characteristics. Mortality rate was extremely high with 33 deaths and 147 illnesses (32). Along with being the first outbreak of Listeriosis reported to be caused by cantaloupe, Lmonocytogenes strains involved were of multiple serotypes and genotypes (122). Serotype 1/2a and 1/2 b strains from this outbreak were significantly distinct from strains of same serotype involved in previous outbreaks or sporadic cases of Listeriosis (122). Even though outbreaks attract more attention it is worthy to note that most of L monocytogenes infections occurred as sporadic cases and not-associated to major outbreaks (222).

In the entire *L. monocytogenes* research community, all strains are not of equal public health concern. Strains of the serotypes 1/2a, 1/2b, and 4b are especially problematic since they are most frequently associated with human illness. Of high importance are also strains that have the potential to colonize in the food processing facility environment, and to persist there as well as strains resistant to different antimicrobials.

Bacterial pathogens are often exposed to sub-lethal levels of different antimicrobial agents (i.e. disinfectants in food processing plants, antibiotics in the health environment). Such exposure is considered the main reason for the increase in *L. monocytogenes* antimicrobial resistance. **Resistance to antibiotics.** Although the occurrence of antibiotic resistance in *L. monocytogenesis* is still low, its presence in food, environment, and clinical settings are well documented (38, 39, 48, 97, 153, 176, 177, 225). This pathogen is still highly susceptible to a wide range of antibiotics, including β -lactams (e.g. ampicillin) and aminoglycosides (e.g. gentamicin), which are drugs of choice for listeriosis. Emerging, however is identification of clinical isolates with enhanced resistance to fluoroquinolone ciprofloxacin which were found to also have increased resistance to EthBr and acridine orange (86). Strains selected on ciprofloxacin can have enhanced resistance not only to the antibiotic itself, but to a range of other antimicrobial compounds, including antibiotic gentamicin and the disinfectant quaternary ammonium compound benzalkonium chloride (BC) (182). Even though multi-resistant strains are not frequently isolated, evidence of their presence is available (204). Given the current wide use of antibiotics in food production and clinics, isolation of *L. monocytogenes* with reduced antibiotic susceptibility is expected to grow.

Ever since the first antibiotic-resistant strain was described in France in1988 (176), the antibioticresistant *L monocytogenes* have been found in foods with increasing frequency (225, 228, 230). Such resistance is frequently acquired from the commensal organisms in food or food processing environments. Another possible source are non-pathogenic *Listeria* species, primarily *L welshimeri* and *L innocua*, often more abundant in processing plants them *L monocytogenes*. A comparison of antimicrobial susceptibility between species revealed that *L. welshimeri* was resistant to more of the tested antimicrobials than the other two *Listeria*, and *L. monocytogenes* was the least resistant among the tested species (48). In response to this increase in antibiotic resistance in food borne pathogens, the European Union has banned the use of antibiotics as animal feed additives (with the exception of coccidiostats) as of January 2006 (27).

Antibiotic resistance in *L. monocytogenes* is mostly due three mobile genetic elements: self-transferable plasmids, mobilizable plasmids, and conjugative transposons (37, 40, 97, 176, 177). Efflux pumps have also been reported to be present in *Listeria* (86).

Resistance mediated by conjugation First evidence of conjugative transfer of antibiotic resistance to *L monocytogenes* involved a broad host range plasmid pIP501 in Streptococcus agalactiae (67). Few more broad-host-range plasmids with ability of conjugative transfer of resistance to *L monocytogenes* such as pAMb1 of Enterococcus faecalis and pIP823 have been reported (37, 75).

A broad host range conjugative transposon Tn916 with tetM tetracycline resistance gene, and Tn916-related transposon, Tn1545 both found in *E. faecalis* (35, 77, 177) demonstrated the transfer by conjugation to *L monocytogenes*.

Resistance mediated by efflux pumps Efflux pumps, characterized as proteins responsible for the removal of different substrates, including antibiotics from bacterial cells (both Gram positive and Gram negative) (218), may be specific to a substrate or may acquire multiple drug resistance (227). Various studies provided substantial evidence for the importance of efflux pumps in disinfectant resistance (156). Thus far, 26 Major Facilitator Super family (MFS) transporter proteins are recognized in the genome of *L. monocytogenes* EGD-e (http://www.membranetransport.org/). First efflux mechanism described in *Listeria* spp has been implicated for tetracycline resistance (36, 70). Two more efflux pumps have been characterized in *L. monocytogenes*, *MdrL* and *Lde. MdrL* regulating transfer of macrolide antibiotics, heavy metals and ethidium bromide and fluoroquinolones, DNA intercalating dyes acridine orange and ethidium bromide (86, 144).

Quaternary ammonium compound bezalkonium chloride (BC). The ability of *L monocytogenes* to persist in the food processing environment is highly associated with resistance to commonly used disinfectants (64, 118, 120). Different studies are suggesting variable incidence of resistance to the quaternary ammonium compound bezalkonium chloride (BC) among *L monocytogenes* isolates from foods and food processing plants. While Mullapudi et al. (154) and Soumet et al. (203) reported incidence of over 40% in turkey and fish-processing plants, respectively, Aase et al (1) suggested an incidence of 10% BC resistant *L monocytogenes* strains from fish processing plants and poultry slaughter houses.

Selective pressure has been hypothesized to contribute to the increase in *L monocytogenes* resistance as BC has been extensively used in food processing and health care environments in the US (124, 146, 151, 190). Furthermore, a number of studies have suggested cross-resistance between BC and antibiotics (182, 187, 216).

Mechanisms of resistance are various and include change in cell membrane permeability, efflux and ability to or degrade the biocide and induction of the cellular stress response.

Change in cell membrane permeability Alterations in surface teichoic acid and fatty acid are associated with increase in BC resistance of originally resistant strains upon the exposure to the sublethal concentrations of this disinfectant (216). Such alterations cause morphological and physicochemical changes in the cell surface and change the minimal inhibitory concentrations of BC MIC in *L monocytogenes* (138, 216). The precise nature of changes in cell surface still remains unclear.

Plasmid based BC resistance mechanisms are reported by the various studies (131, 186, 187). A plasmid-associated gene cassette encoding an efflux system (*bcrABC*) is found to be crucial for the resistance of *L monocytogenes* to BC (64). It was of importance finding the presence of the *bcrABC* cassette in strains associated to multistate outbreaks of listeriosis, in the 1998-99 hot dog outbreaks (29) and the 2000 turkey deli meat outbreak (31). Interestingly, the strain involved in 1998-99 hot dog outbreaks was the first reported strain resistant to both cadmium and BC (186). The efflux gene is harbored on a large (ca. 80 kb), pLM80 plasmid and transferred to *L monocytogenes* by conjugation. The same plasmid (pLM80) along with a three-gene cassette responsible for BC resistance harbors a cadmium resistance cassette *cadA2cadC2* (53; <u>www.broad.mit.edu</u>). A study by Katharios-Lanwermeyer et al (117) suggests nonpathogenic *Listeriae* spp. as potential reservoirs for disinfectant and heavy metal resistance genes for other *Listeriae*, including the pathogenic species *L. monocytogenes* since both *bcrABC*, and the cadmium resistance determinant *cadA2*, were transferred to other nonpathogenic *Listeriae* as well as to *L monocytogenes*.

Chromosomal gene(s) appear to be another source of the resistance of *L monocytogenes* to BC (150, 186). Upon the adaptation of the *L monocytogenes* BC-sensitive strains to sub-lethal levels of BC increase in the transcript levels of chromosomal MFS transporters (MdrL, Lde) on MFS transporters (MdrL, Lde) (187). Their regulation and mechanisms of work, however, remain to be elucidated.

Cross resistance between disinfectant and antibiotics is important from the food safety viewpoint given that such adaptation may contribute to the persistence of the pathogen in the food processing environment. Thus, far numerous studies provided evidence for cross resistance between antibiotics, disinfectants and other compounds. Strains of *L monocytogenes* resistant to fluoroquinolones (e.g.ciprofloxacin), also expressed resistance to aminoglycoside gentamicin, dyes such as ethidium bromide, and disinfectants such as QACs (1,86, 138182, 187). Godreuil et al (86) presented evidence of MFS transporter Lde involvement in cross resistance between fluoroquinolone, ethidium bromide and acridine orange in *L monocytogenes*. Cross resistance between different disinfectants upon adaptation to QAC has been reported by Lunden et al. (138)

Resistance to heavy metals

Cadmium: Abundant presence of heavy metals, specifically cadmium and arsenic in the environment resulted in adaptation and resistance of *Listeria spp*, including *L monocytogenes*, to these toxic compounds. This lead to the high prevalence of a especially cadmium resistant *Listeria* spp in food processing environments (154, Rakic Martinez et al. unpublished data). From the food safety viewpoint it is noteworthy that several major outbreaks of listeriosis have involved cadmium-resistant strains (64, 116, 121, 156). The prevalence of the resistance to these heavy metals varies among different serotypes of *L. monocytogenes* (127, 128, 129, 147, 155).

Efflux system responsible for the, cadmium resistance in gram-positive bacteria consists of two adjacent genes (*cadA* and *cadC*) (200). The Cadmium resistance mechanism in *L monocytogenes* is diverse with four distinct cadAC energy-dependent efflux systems identified to date. The first, *cadA1* cassette is harbored on plasmids associated with a transposon (Tn5422) (121, 127, 129). Second, *cadA2* was identified in the strain H7858, implicated in the 1998–1999 hot dog outbreaks. This cassette is also harbored on plasmid (pLM80), part of a putative composite transposon. *CadA2* determinant shares this plasmid with BC – resistance genes (18, 36, 156).

The third determinant identified on the chromosome of L monocytogenes EGDe as a component of integrative conjugative element (ICE) (22, 83). Briers et al (19) indentified in L. monocytogenes Scott A novel putative cadmium resistance determinant cadA4. Presence of the determinants cadA1 and cadA2 alone or together seem to be most prevalent among L monocytogenes resistant to cadmium (155). Similar results are obtained after testing non-pathogenic L welshimeri and L innocua isolates from poultry processing plants across the US (Rakic Martinez, unpublished data).

Several studies confirmed correlation between resistance to cadmium and BC in strains harboring *cadA2* alone or with *cadA1* (155, Rakic Martinez unpublished data). Such strains also harbored BC resistant determinant *bcrABC*. All tested BC resistant strains were also cadmium resistant, however, the opposite was not true (155, Rakic Martinez unpublished data). Mullapudi et al also reported serotype specific distribution of cadA determinants (155). Resistance to cadmium in *L monocytogenes* might be acquired from non pathogenic *Listeriae* such as *L. welshimeri* and *L. innocua* harboring *bcrABC*, along with the cadmium resistant determinant *cadA2*, were able to transfer resistance to other *L.monocytogenes* of diverse serotypes (117).

Arsenic: Since none of the *Listeria* strains sequenced to date apparently harbor arsenic resistance, the responsible genes are not yet indentified. A putative arsenic resistance cassette was identified on pLI100, and harbored by *L innocua* CLIP 11262 (83, 121). Lee et al (130) recently indentified an extended arsenic resistance cassette, which includes arsR1D2R2A2B1B2 and two additional upstream genes (arsD1A1), were recently identified on the Scott A chromosome, where it is part of a 35-kb genomic Island. Generally, however, arsenic resistance determinants are highly homologous among different bacteria (162, 202).

The use of antimicrobials in both animals and humans can select for resistant bacterial populations. In food animals, antimicrobials are used for the control and treatment of bacteria associated with infectious diseases as well as for growth promotion purposes (169). Apart from the European Union (EU) ban of certain antibiotics that are used, or related to those used, in human medicine (66). An undesired consequence of antimicrobial use is the potential development of antimicrobial-resistant food borne bacterial pathogens and subsequent transmission to humans as food contaminants (62). In addition, spontaneous mutation in food borne bacteria or the spread of resistant bacteria in the absence of selective pressure may also contribute to the antimicrobial resistance burden in food (63). In fact, emerging antimicrobial resistance phenotypes have been recognized among multiple pathogens including *Listeria monocytogenes* (228).

Taken together the adaptability potential and persistence of *L monocytogenes*, along with other *Listeria* spp in the food processing environment calls for targeted interventions in order to maintain food safety at the highest possible level. Ability to propose and create such interventions require a better understanding of the mechanisms involved in *L monocytogenes* ability to colonize

food or food-processing, health care facilities, and persist and acquire resistance to antimicrobials commonly used in such environments.

2.2. Adaptation of *Listeria monocytogenes* to Ciprofloxacin or to the Disinfectant Benzalkonium Chloride Results in Reduced Susceptibility to Ciprofloxacin, Gentamicin Benzalkonium Chloride and Other Toxic Compounds

Listeria monocytogenes is a Gram-positive bacterium responsible for listeriosis, an illness that remains a leading cause of mortality and morbidity associated with foodborne infections in the United States and other industrialized nations (119, 149, 193). At risk are primarily pregnant women and their fetuses, the elderly, and those in immunocompromised states, including patients undergoing kidney dialysis or chemotherapy. Symptoms can be severe (septicemia, meningitis, stillbirths) and fatality rate is estimated at 16% (60, 163, 193).

L. monocytogenes is usually susceptible to a wide range of antibiotics, except cephalosporins and fosfomycin (102, 103, 153), and multidrug-resistant clinical isolates appear to be rare (97, 176, 180, 208). The treatment of choice for listeriosis consists of a β -lactam antibiotic (e.g. Ampicillin), alone or in combination with an aminoglycoside (e.g. gentamicin), and clinical isolates of *L. monocytogenes* generally remain susceptible to these antibiotics (102, 153). However, trends towards reduced susceptibility to tetracyclines and fluoroquinolones have been noted (153). Even though these antibiotics are not typically used for treatment of listeriosis, their extensive use in empirical therapy and treatment of other infections could create selective pressure for *L. monocytogenes* from clinical cases were found to have enhanced transcription of *lde*, encoding a drug efflux transporter of the major facilitator superfamily (MFS) (86, 153). However, limited information is available on mutants obtained upon exposure of *L. monocytogenes* to fluoroquinolones.

In addition to antibiotic-related exposures, *L. monocytogenes* is expected to be frequently subjected to selection pressures associated with the extensive use of disinfectants such as quaternary ammonium compounds in food processing plants and healthcare settings. Limited information is currently available on possible cross-resistance following exposure to antibiotics such as ciprofloxacin and disinfectants such as the quaternary ammonium compound benzalkonium chloride (BC), extensively used in the food processing industry

(146, 151). Similarly, exposure to BC may result in variants with reduced susceptibility to BC but also reduced susceptibility to antibiotics. Indeed, exposure of *L monocytogenes to* progressively increasing concentrations of this disinfectant resulted in BC-resistant mutants that also exhibited reduced susceptibility to gentamicin and kanamycin (187, 207). However, cross-resistance to fluoroquinolones (e.g. ciprofloxacin) was not reported. The potential for co-selection of antibiotic and disinfectant resistance upon exposure of *L.monocytogenes to* antimicrobial agents has important food safety and public health implications and needs to be further investigated.

In this study we determined the extent to which adaptation of *L. monocytogenes* to ciprofloxacin and to BC altered susceptibility to a panel of antimicrobial agents, including several antibiotics, BC and other toxic compounds. Outbreak-derived strains harboring a large plasmid (pLM80) and their cured derivatives were included, to assess possible impact of the plasmid on the susceptibility profiles of the adapted strains.

2.3. Identification of *L.monocytogenes* antibiotic resistance genes under control of *tetR* repressors

In their natural settings bacteria are constantly exposed to various environmental fluxes, including severe nutrient limitation, fluctuations in temperature, and changes in oxidative and osmotic tensions. In order to survive adverse environmental conditions, bacteria developed a wide range of rapid and adaptive responses. These responses are generally mediated by regulatory proteins, which modulate transcription, translation, or other events in gene expression so that the physiological responses are appropriate to the environmental changes.

Exposure to toxic compounds (e.g. quaternary ammonium disinfectants and the antibiotic ciprofloxacin) selects for mutants with multidrug resistance (MDR) (86, 182, 187). Frequent occurrence of such MDRs in food processing plants potentially leads to food contamination followed by human infection with strains that have reduced susceptibility to antibiotics; such resistant mutants in healthcare settings where disinfectants are frequently in use (hospitals, nursing homes), would result in infections with impaired response to antibiotic treatment. In our previous report, exposure of Listeria to quaternary ammonium disinfectants benzalkonium chloride (BC) or to the antibiotic ciprofloxacin (cipro) selects for mutants with multidrug

resistance (MDR) to a range of drugs, including not only BC and cipro but also toxic dyes (e.g. ethidium bromide), other antibiotics (e.g. gentamicin), and the anticancer drug tetraphenylphosphonium (TPP) (86, 182, 186). Determined reduced resistance of such mutants in the presence of the efflux inhibitor reserpine (182) suggests that increased efflux is involved in the resistance, e.g. through inactivation of repressors for MDR transporters. Recent genetic and biochemical studies have identified two *L. monocytogenes* major facilitator superfamily multidrug resistance (MDR) efflux pumps as necessary for the induction of host IFN- β involving the second messenger c-di-AMP (46, 227).

The tetracycline repressor (TetR) family transcriptional regulators constitute the third most frequently occurring transcriptional regulator family found in bacteria (164). The TetR family is named after the transcriptional regulators that control the expression of the tetR genes, whose product confers resistance to tetracycline (186). However, TetR family proteins are also involved in various other important biological processes, such as biofilm formation, biosynthesis of antibiotics, catabolic pathways, multidrug resistance, nitrogen fixation, stress responses, and the pathogenicity of Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria (32) Inactivation of the tetR repressor (next to the MDR transporter mdrT) in Listeria strain 10403S caused a dramatic increase in IFN- production by infected macrophages (46) suggesting involvement of more currently unidentified MDR transporters (besides mdrT) under control by the tetR repressor. TetR is a negative regulator of mdrT (lmo2588), a gene encoding an MDR transporter that participates in the secretion of cyclic di-AMP, which is a potent IFN-β-inducing agent. In strain 10403S inactivation of tetR resulted in the largest noted increase in IFN- and in levels of c-di-AMP in infected macrophages, but deletion of the adjacent MDR transporter mdrT had no effect (46, 227). Furthermore, transcription of mdrT was not induced following treatment with TPP (46). On the other hand, we found that the tetR::Tn917 mutant had pronounced (8-fold) increase in TPP resistance. Such data suggest that the observed TPP resistance of the tetR::Tn917 mutant involve increased expression of MDR transporter(s) other than mdrT, but also repressed by tetR.

We speculate that the unidentified gene (repressed by tetR) is responsible for the observed TPP resistance of the tetR::Tn917 mutant. By screening a mariner-based mutant
library of selected L monocytogenes strains for new mutants with impaired or enhanced resistance to TPP we aim to identify this gene.

2.4. Co-selection of cadmium and benzalkonium chloride resistance in conjugative transfers from non-pathogenic *Listeria* spp. to other listeriae

Listeria spp. are Gram-positive bacteria commonly found in the environment. The single human pathogen in this genus, Listeria monocytogenes, continues to be associated with significant disease burden due to its high morbidity and mortality towards vulnerable populations such as the elderly, pregnant women and their fetuses, neonates and immunocompromised patients (54, 115, 163, 193). *L. monocytogenes* remains largely susceptible to antibiotics, with a common course for treatment being a combination of ampicillin and gentamicin. However, reported cases of listeriosis involving strains with multi-drug resistance (39, 97, 176, 180, 208) suggest the potential for enhanced resistance through horizontal gene transfer with accompanying increases in public health concerns associated with this pathogen.

Colonization of the processing plant environment by *Listeria* spp. is a major contributor to contamination of processed, ready to eat foods (120, 220). Exposure to disinfectants commonly used in food processing plants, such as the quaternary ammonium compound benzalkonium chloride (BC), may provide selective pressures for disinfectant resistance with an accompanying increase in fitness within the processing plant environment. Several studies have investigated prevalence and mechanisms of BC resistance in *L. monocytogenes* (64, 154, 186, 202); however, less is known about the behavior and response of non-pathogenic *Listeria* spp. to selection pressures in food processing plants and other environments.

The processing plant environment may present many opportunities for non-pathogenic *Listeria* spp. to interact with *L. monocytogenes*. Non-pathogenic species such as *L. innocua* and *L. welshimeri* have been found to be more common than L. monocytogenes in food processing environments and in foods, and to grow faster than L. monocytogenes in foods and other media (8, 47, 104, 140, 168, 197, 201, 221). They are also more likely than *L. monocytogenes* to exhibit antibiotic resistance and to harbor plasmids (4, 39, 48, 69, 70, 167, 184, 189). Taken together, such findings suggest the potential for horizontal gene transfer

among listeriae, with non-pathogenic strains serving as reservoirs for resistance determinants, potentially altering the fitness of the pathogenic species, *L. monocytogenes*.

In *L. monocytogenes* the efflux system encoded by *bcrABC* has been shown to confer high-level resistance to BC and other quaternary ammonium compounds (64). The *bcrABC* cassette was first identified on a large plasmid (pLM80) harbored by strains implicated in the 1998-1999 hotdog outbreak of listeriosis, and was subsequently also identified on a similar plasmid from a different strain, responsible for another multistate outbreak. The cassette on these plasmids appears to be part of a composite transposon that also includes genes conferring resistance to cadmium (64, 121,156).

Further evidence for the association between BC resistance and resistance to cadmium was obtained from characterization of *L. monocytogenes* from turkey processing plants. All BC- resistant strains were found to be also resistant to cadmium (though the reverse was not the case; ca. 30% of the cadmium-resistant isolates lacked resistance to BC) (154). This led to the speculation that BC resistance determinants (e.g. bcrABC) were acquired by plasmids that already harbored cadmium resistance determinants (154, 155).

Such findings suggest the need to characterize horizontal transfer of bcrABC in *Listeria* spp., including transfer from non-pathogenic species that may act as reservoirs. However, efforts to assess conjugative transfer of BC resistance in *Listeria* spp. can be thwarted by the frequent occurrence of spontaneous mutants exhibiting high-level resistance to BC; such mutants can be readily obtained from several strains of *L. monocytogenes* and other *Listeria* spp. (182, 207, M. Rakic-Martinez and S. Kathariou, unpublished findings). On the other hand, spontaneous mutants with high levels of resistance to cadmium are extremely rare and in fact have never been identified in our laboratory (S. Katharios-Lanwermeyer and M. Rakic-Martinez, unpublished findings). Therefore, in this study we hypothesized that BC-resistant, cadmium-resistant strains of L. innocua and L. welshimeri harbored the corresponding resistance determinants on plasmids (similarly to L. monocytogenes strains with pLM80 and related plasmids, described above), and we used cadmium resistance transfer as a surrogate for assessments of conjugative transfer of BC resistance. We examined transfer of such resistance among L. innocua and L. welshimeri as well as from these non-pathogenic species to L. monocytogenes.

2.5. Resistance gene distribution among non-pathogenenic *Listeriae* from different poultry processing plants

Listeria monocytogenes has unparalleled potential to readily demonstrate combinations of environmental and host-related adaptive attributes. From the food safety point of view, populations of Listeria within specific food processing plants are of special interest: the individual processing plant ("plant") ecosystem creates selective pressures for adaptive features relevant to environmental persistence and subsequent contamination of product. Well recognized adaptations include biofilm forming potential and tolerance to cold, disinfectants and Listeriaphage. Less clearly understood in terms of its fitness contributions, but nonetheless consistently exhibited, is Listeria's heavy metal resistance (cadmium, arsenic) (115, 118, 154, 155).

Non-pathogenic *Listeria* spp. such as *L. innocua* and *L. welshimeri* are often more abundant than L. monocytogenes in the plant ecosystem while sharing the same niche, and may thus represent excellent models for plant-specific environmental selective pressures impacting *Listeria* (104, 105, 168, 197). We recently provided evidence suggesting that non-pathogenic *Listeriae* may constitute reservoirs for resistance to the quaternary ammonium disinfectant benzalkonium chloride (BC), being able to conjugatively disseminate resistance to BC to other Listeriae, including L. monocytogenes (117). Cadmium resistance that was also exhibited by the BC-resistant non-pathogenic strains was found to be a useful marker for assessing transfer potential, and cadmium-resistant transconjugants harbored the corresponding resistance determinant (cadA1 or cadA2) (117).

Only sparse information is currently available on population structure and resistance gene distribution among non-pathogenic *Listeriae* from the processing plant environment. Such information is needed to assess gene transfer potential and to further elucidate the molecular ecology of Listeria in the context of the ecosystem of specific plants. In this study, we analyzed resistance prevalence and determinants a panel of non-pathogenic *Listeria* from different processing plants.

2.6. Survival and growth of outbreak and other strains of *Listeria monocytogenes* on cantaloupe. The facultative intracellular bacterium L. monocytogenes remains a leading

cause of severe illness and death due to foodborne disease in the United States (193). Its ubiquitous nature and persistence in the environment and equipment in food processing plants, often for years, create important food safety and public health challenges (115, 120). The disease primarily affects the elderly, pregnant women, newborns, patients undergoing chemotherapy and other immunosuppressed individuals (60, 163).

Even though several high-profile outbreaks of listeriosis have involved deli meats and soft cheeses (28, 29,82, 149), epidemiological trends suggest that L. monocytogenes - contaminated produce is associated with higher disease outcome than previously recognized. The first produce-related listeriosis outbreak involved contaminated coleslaw (cabbage); it took place in 1981 in the Maritime Provinces (Canada) and was also noteworthy in providing the first demonstration of foodborne transmission of L. monocytogenes (194). Subsequent produce-associated outbreak occurred among hospitalized patients in Boston and was epidemiologically attributed to contaminated celery, lettuce and tomato. This outbreak was followed by multistate outbreak associated with soybean sprouts (2008-09), and 2010 Texas outbreak connected to chopped celery with surprisingly high mortality (10 cases, five deaths)(123, http://www.cspinet.org/foodsafety/outbreak_report.html)].

L. monocytogenes has been isolated from numerous types of untreated produce, imported as well as domestic, including several that would be considered ready-to-eat such as cucumbers, lettuce, cabbage, salad greens, prepared salads, radishes, tomatoes, and others (10, 101). Produce can become contaminated pre-harvest as well as during the processing. In addition to their potential to be directly implicated in disease, Lm-contaminated produce can be a source of the organism for produce processing facilities and equipment. Cantaloupe has been implicated in numerous outbreaks of food-borne illnesses, primarily involving *Salmonella*. An estimated 13 out of 82 foodborne illness outbreaks associated with produce between 1996 and 2008 involved contaminated melon, resulting in 507 illnesses and 2 deaths. In recent years, numerous cases of *Salmonella* infections linked to cantaloupe had been reported including latest 2012 Multistate Outbreak of *Salmonella Typhimurium* and *Salmonella Newport* (CDC Salmonella Web Page). However, the 2011 multi state outbreak provided first evidence for cantaloupe as a vehicle for listeriosis. This outbreak had additional unusual characteristics. It had the highest mortality rate of any foodborne outbreak in the U.S. since a

listeriosis outbreak in 1998 (33). It was also one of the few common-source listeriosis outbreaks involving strains of multiple serotypes and genotypes (122). Further analysis revealed significant distinction between 1/2a and 1/2b strains involved in this outbreak and same serotypes strains associated with previously reported outbreaks and sporadic cases.

Colonization of the outer rind of melon by pathogenic microorganisms, potential for biofilm formation and efficacy of washing treatments and other interventions in pathogen reduction have been investigated (209, 210, 214, 215). Few studies provided evidence for transfer of bacteria by cutting from the outer fruit surfaces to the edible parts (211) and potential of contamination of cut melon due to improper handling and cross-contamination (214). Thus far, however, data on L. monocytogenes potential to grow on cantaloupe are limited. Ukuku at al (2002) reported survival, but no growth on fresh-cut peaces of cantaloupe at 4°C. However, increasing temperature to 8 and 20°C, respectively, led to the L. monocytogenes population increase of 1 log unit (211). A significant increase (6 log units) in L monocytogenes population in melon pulps stored at 10 and 20°C, respectively, had been noted by Penteado and Leita^o (166). Using limited strain panels, previous studies lacked reports on strain specific behavior of L monocytogenes on the surface of cantaloupe. Further more tested strains did not include isolates from 2011 cantaloupe associated listeriosis outbreak. By employing individual strains involved in food related cases and outbreaks of Listeriosis, (including strains from the 2011 cantaloupe outbreak a), the goal of the current study was to determine strain-specific differences in survival and growth of L monocytogenes on cantaloupe. Focus was also on the location-specific differences in L monocytogenes survival and growth on the outer surface, inner surface and extract of cantaloupe at various incubation temperatures as well as efficiency of water treatment in prevention of pathogen growth.

2.7. Change in phenotype and genotype as an asset for *L. monocytogenes* growth on cantaloupe. *Listeria monocytogenes* remains, globally, one of the leading food-born pathogens responsible for severe illness and death associated with infection, in spite of effective antibiotic treatments. High hospitalization rate (94%) with a mean of approx. 16% of listeriosis cases fatal cause L. monocytogenes to be a third major contributor to deaths due to food-borne deseases in the United States (163, 193).

According to the recent epidemiological data contribution of produce to human listeriosis is much higher than previously recognized (34). Various produce are accounted as a cause of multistate outbreaks including contaminated soybean sprouts in 2008-2009, chopped celery in 2010 as well as cantaloupes involved in 2011 listeriosis outbreak. Both 2010 and 2011 outbreaks had unusually high fatality rate (82). *L monocytogenes* has also been isolated from numerous types of untreated produce, including several that would be considered ready-to-eat such as cucumbers, lettuce, cabbage, salad greens, prepared salads, radishes, tomatoes, and others (10, 11, 101).

A number of special attributes (e.g. biofilm-forming potential, ability to grow in the cold, resistance to phage and disinfectants) make L monocytogenes a persistent, highly problematic contaminant of the environment and equipment in food processing plants (14, 118, 120, 154, 158). Persistent colonization of the processing plant environment is considered to be a major factor for contamination of processed, ready-to-eat foods with this pathogen, and thus contributes to the burden of human listeriosis (118, 120). A substantial amount of the information on mechanisms mediating adherence and fitness of *Listeria* on different produce has been provided (88, 89, 90, 91). However, our understanding of the basic mechanisms of adherence and fitness of *L. monocytogenes* on the surface of cantaloupe is currently minimal.

Significant number of outbreaks caused by *L. monocytogenes* had been associated with one clonal group, Epidemic clone one (115, 118). Sequencing one of the strains belonging to this group (F2365) revealed several unique genes and gene cassettes. Strain F2365 was implicated in the California outbreak of 1985 (156, 231). Interestingly, characterization of the strain involved in 1998-99, multistate outbreak of listeriosis connected to contaminated hot dogs, associated this strain with a novel epidemic clone ECII and revealed an unusual diversification in a serotype 4b specific genomic region known as "region 18" (28, 149). Interestingly, this region is flanked on one side by a large gene encoding a putative cell-wall associated protein (*wap*) and on the other side by a well-known virulence gene, inIA, encoding Internalin. In further analysis, deletion of region-18 had no effect on hemolytic ability, phage susceptibility, cell shape, or colony size, in either ECI strain F2365 or ECII strain H7550. However, it led to a defect in the utilization of certain carbon sources in ECI strain as well as enhanced death rate during post-stationary phase at 42 °C in ECII.

In effort to better understand ability of *L. monocytogenes* to colonize and grow on cantaloupe we have employed the mariner-based transposon to construct mutant libraries of strains F2365 and H7550. Through screenings of these libraries we have isolated various mutants including non-hemolytic mutant, a mutant with altered phage susceptibility profile, and mutants in a putative biosynthesis locus that exhibited impaired growth on blood agar. Additionally, we employed deletion mutants of *wap* and genomic region 18, along with corresponding parental strains. Lastly, mutants of L. monocytogenes adapted to antibiotic ciprofloxacin described in the previous study (182) were also tested.

2.8. Assessment of *L. monocytogenes* growth in raw and pasteurised milk. Presence of *Listeria monocytogenes* in variety of foods, particularly milk and dairy products, animal products, ready-to-eat foods, fruit and vegetables has been well documented (26, 32, 52, 57, 98, 137, 152, 192, 196, 206). In USA and Canada, widespread presence and high prevalence of L monocytogenes in bulk tank raw milk samples with incidence variations from 4 - 12.6% has been reported in a number of studies (74, 108, 217)

Such a presence has raised concerns about *L. monocytogenes* survival and persistence in food processing facilities as a result of poor sanitation practices or ability of Lm to grow under abusive conditions. Persistent presence of this microorganism could lead to biofilm formation and possible cross contamination at the farm, plant or during the transport and storage whether the milk is pasteurized or not (5, 145, 159).

Ubiquitous and highly adaptable nature of *L. monocytogenes* including ability to grow in a wide range of temperatures and pH enables growth in refrigerated raw milk and animal feed at pH as low as 4.5 (45). Even dough milk and milk products depend on refrigeration for ensuring post-pasteurization microbial safety, refrigerated storage is not adequate for inhibiting the growth of *L. monocytogenes* in fluid milk as it can multiply at temperatures as low as 4C (109, 142, 159, 175). Extended periods of refrigerated storage (up to 12 days for pasteurized milk) and improper compliance of temperature regulations during transportation and storage at retail stores (59) can allow even a few L. monocytogenes cells, weather they survived pasteurization or were introduced as post pasteurization contamination, to attain populations high enough to pose serious health risks (10^2 CFU/ml or above) (115).

L. monocytogenes can cause neurological disease, abortion, or asymptomatic infections in cattle. Healthy, but infected animals, shed Listeria in feces and fecal contamination of pastures or vegetables has been implicated as a source of contamination for humans and ruminants. Mastitis in cows caused by L. monocytogenes could result with a transfer of the pathogen in milk (16, 109, 226). Further more, if bacterial concentration is high enough, Listeria can survive minimum HTST pasteurization, as reported by Bunning et al.(21). Consumption of such contaminated raw milk or raw milk products or ingestion of processed food cross-contaminated with pathogens present in the food processing plant environment (93) leads to human infection. Susceptible are especially certain groups of population including immunocompromised patients, pregnant woman, children and elderly. In recent years few serious outbreaks of listeriosis connected to the consumption of milk and milk products occurred worldwide. In 2005 case of contamination of cheese made from raw goat's milk occurred in Belgia (52). In Spain, two cases of pregnancy-related listeriosis associated with the Latin-style fresh cheese made from pasteurized milk in Portugal were reported by V de Castro et al. (50). Multinational 2009/2010 listeriosis outbreak caused by two different L. monocytogenes serotype 1/2a strains isolated from 'Quargel', a sour milk curd cheese, in Austria, Germany, the Czech Republic, Poland and Slovakia accounted for 34 clinical cases and eight deaths (79). An outbreak in California in 1985 was shown to be due to the consumption of Mexican-style fresh cheese (136). Following investigation of the outbreak suggested either mixed raw and pasteurized milk or post pasteurization contamination (199). In the entire L. monocytogenes population, 13 different serotypes, only strains belonging to serotypes 4b, 1/2a and 1/2b are connected to the majority of sporadic cases and outbreaks of listeriosis. Even dough reported outbreaks were geographically and temporally distinct,

involved strains were closely related (51). Based on comparative study of above mentioned outbreaks, Kathariou and al. (115, 134) defined four different epidemic clones (ECI, ECIa, ECII and ECIII). Clonal groups ECI and ECIa composed mostly of serotype 4b strains were involved in worldwide distributed major outbreaks connected to food sources (134). These two clonal groups are overrepresented among sporadic cases of listeriosis in humans and animals occurred in early 30s 40s and 50 of the last century. ECII clonal group is relatively new, observed in the connection with 1998-1999 hot-dog outbreak by Kathariou et al (134).

Employing diversity of food and clinical isolate of *L. monocytogenes* involved in older sporadic cases as well as recent major outbreaks of listeriosis we aimed to assess optimum growth rate of *L. monocytogenes* in raw and pasteurized milk over 10 days of storage at the refrigeration temperature. The objective was also to determine possible serotype and clonal associated difference in *L. monocytogenes* survival and growth in raw versus pasteurized milk stored at 8C.

3.0. TASKS AND REASEARCH

3.1. Adaptation of *Listeria monocytogenes* to Ciprofloxacin or to the Disinfectant Benzalkonium Chloride Results in Reduced Susceptibility to Ciprofloxacin, Gentamicin Benzalkonium Chloride and Other Toxic Compounds

3.1.1. Bacterial strains and growth conditions. *L. monocytogenes* strains employed in this study are listed in Table 3.1.1.

Strain	Resis	tance ¹	Characteristics	Source
	Cd	BC		(reference)
H7550 Cd ^R	+	+	Serotype 4b strain from 1998-1999 hot dog outbreak	(64)
H7550 $Cd^R C_1$	+	+	Ciprofloxacin-selected mutant of H7550 Cd ^R	This study
H7550 $\operatorname{Cd}^{R}\operatorname{C}_2$	+	+	Ciprofloxacin-selected mutant of H7550 Cd ^R	This study
H7550 Cd ^s	-	-	Plasmid-cured derivative of H7550 Cd ^R	(64)
H7550 Cd ^s C ₁	-	+	Ciprofloxacin-selected mutant of H7550 Cd ^S	This study
H7550 Cd ⁸ C ₂	-	+	Ciprofloxacin-selected mutant of H7550 Cd ^S	This study
H7550Cd ^S BC ₁	-	+	BC-selected mutant of H7550 Cd ⁸	This study
H7550Cd ^S BC ₂	-	+	BC-selected mutant of H7550 Cd ^S	This study
SK 2802	+	-	Serotype4bstrain, sporadic case of isteriosis, USA, 2005.	CDC
SK 2802 C ₁	+	+	Ciprofloxacin-selected mutant of SK 2802	This study
SK 2802 C ₂	+	+	Ciprofloxacin-selected mutant of SK 2802	This study
SK 2802 BC ₁	+	+	BC-selected mutant of SK 2802	This study
SK 2802 BC ₂	+	+	BC-selected mutant SK 2802	This study
J0161 Cd ^R	+	+	Serotype 1/2a strain from turkey deli meats outbreak, 2001	(161)
J0161 $Cd^R C_1$	+	+	Ciprofloxacin-selected mutant of J0161 Cd ^R	This study
J0161 $Cd^R C_2$	+	+	Ciprofloxacin-selected mutant of J0161 Cd ^R	This study
J0161 Cd ^s	+	+	Plasmid-cured derivative of J0161 Cd ^R	This study
$J0161 \text{ Cd}^{S} \text{ C}_{1}$	-	+	Ciprofloxacin-selected mutant of J0161 Cd ⁸	This study
J0161 Cd ⁸ C ₂	-	+	Ciprofloxacin-selected mutant of J0161 Cd ^S	This study
J0161Cd ^S BC ₁	-	+	BC-selected mutant of J0161 Cd ^S	This study
J0161Cd ^S BC ₂	-	+	BC-selected mutant of J0161 Cd ^S	This study

Table 3.1.1. L. monocytogenes strains employed in this study

 1 For Cd, + indicates confluent growth on isosensitest agar containing 70 µg/ml cadmium chloride anhydrous; for BC, + indicates confluent growth on media containing 10 µg/ml BC, prepared as described in Materials and Methods; - indicates absence of growth.

The serotype 4b strain H7550 was resistant to cadmium (Cd^R) and BC and was associated with the 1998-1999 hot dog-related multistate outbreak (64); it harbored pLM80 (ca. 80 kb), with genes for resistance to cadmium (*cadAC*) and to BC (*bcrABC*) (64, 156). *L. monocytogenes* J0161 was a serotype 1/2a strain associated with a listeriosis outbreak in 2001, linked to consumption of turkey deli meats (161). It is also resistant to cadmium and BC and harbors a large plasmid highly similar to pLM80 (15). *L. monocytogenes* SK2802 was from a sporadic case of listeriosis in 2005; this strain was resistant to cadmium and sodium arsenite but was susceptible to BC and lacked *bcrABC*. H7550 cadmium sensitive (Cd^S) and J0161 Cd^S were plasmid-cured derivatives of strain H7550 Cd^R and J0161 Cd^R, respectively; these derivatives were obtained following repeated passages of the bacteria at 42°C and were susceptible both to cadmium and to BC (64). Unless otherwise indicated, bacteria were grown at 37°C for 36 h on blood agar plates containing 5% sheep blood (Remel, Lenexa, KS), and long-term storage was done at - 80°C in brain heart infusion broth (BHI, Becton Dickinson and Co., Sparks, MD) with 20% glycerol (Fisher Scientific, Fairlawn, NJ).

3.1.2. Isolation of mutants selected on ciprofloxacin or BC. Bacteria were grown overnight in BHI (Becton Dickinson and Co.) at 37°C and spotted (3µl) on Mueller-Hinton agar (MHA) (Mueller Hinton broth [Becton Dickinson and Co.] with 1.2% Bacto agar [Becton Dickinson and Co.]) containing 2 µg/ml ciprofloxacin (Sigma Chemical Co., St Louis, MO). Colonies growing following 48h of incubation at 37°C were purified on the same medium. Overnight cultures of the BC-susceptible strains H7550 Cd^S, J0161 Cd^S and SK2802 were also spotted (3µl) on plates containing 10µg/ml BC (Acros, NJ) and 2% defibrinated sheep blood (Becton Dickinson and Co.) (154). Single colonies obtained following incubation at 37°C for 48h were subcultured on the same medium for purification.

3.1.3. Antimicrobial agents, susceptibility testing and MIC determinations. Antibiotics used in this study are listed in Table 3.1.2.

		Concentration	MIC
Antibiotic	Drug class	range (µg/ml)	(µg/ml)
Ampicillin	ß-Lactam	0.125-2.0	≤ 1.0
Ciprofloxacin	Fluoroquinolone	0.5-16.0	2.0-8.01
Moxifloxacin	Fluoroquinolone	5.0	ND ²
Erythromycin	Macrolide	0.25-8.0	0.5
Gentamicin	Aminoglycoside	0.5-4.0	≤ 4.0
Kanamycin	Aminoglycoside	1.0-20.0	2.5
Streptomycin	Aminoglycoside	6.25-400.0	25.0
Rifampin	Rifamycin	0.5-4.0	0.5
Tetracycline	Tetracycline	1.0-10.0	2.5
Trimethoprim	Dihydrofolate reductase	0.5-4.0	0.5
Fosfomycin	Phosphonic acid derivative	64.0-2048.0	≥ 2048.0

Table3.1.2. Antibiotics employed in this study

¹MIC for ciprofloxacin was 2µg/ml for all wildtype strains, except for SK 2808 (MIC, 8µg/ml).

²ND, not determined; Moxifloxacin susceptibility was assessed by the disk diffusion method as described in Materials and Methods.

They represented major antibiotic classes and included those used for treatment of listeriosis as well as others commonly used in human and veterinary medicine. Ampicillin, ciprofloxacin, rifampin, tetracycline, fosfomycin and trimethoprim were purchased from Sigma; gentamicin, moxifloxacin and kanamycin from Fisher Scientific; erythromycin and streptomycin from MP Biomedicals, Inc. (Solon, NJ). The isolates were tested for antibiotic susceptibility by agar dilution on MHA. The range of concentrations used for antibiotic MIC determinations are indicated in Table 2. Susceptibility to moxifloxacin was determined by the disk diffusion method using disks with 5 μ g moxifloxacin (Fisher Scientific) on MHA. The diameter of the zone of inhibition was measured to the nearest whole millimeter.

Ethidium bromide (EthBr) (Fisher Scientific) resistance was determined using agar dilutions on MHA as previously described (86). Concentrations for EthBr MIC determinations were 20, 25, 50, 100, and 200 μ g/ml. Resistance to BC, cadmium chloride (Cd) (Sigma) and sodium arsenite (As) (Fluka, Buchs, Steinheim, Germany) was determined as described (154). The plates were incubated at 37°C for 48 h, and growth on the test plates was compared with that on the control Isosensitest agar (Oxoid, Basingstoke, England). Concentrations used for determinations of MIC values were 5, 10, 20, 35, 70 and 140 μ g/ml for Cd, and 5, 10, 20, 30 and 40 μ g/ml for BC. Tetraphenylphosphonium chloride (TPP) (Sigma) was used at 50, 100, 200, 400 and 800 μ M for MIC determinations. Agar dilution on MHA was used for TPP MIC determination.

The efflux inhibitor reserpine (Sigma) was used at 10μ g/ml as described (86). When MICs were determined in the presence of the efflux inhibitor reserpine, MICs in the absence of reserpine were always determined as control.

3.1.4. Determination of tolerance to bile salts, triclosan and sodium dodecyl sulfate. Tolerance to bile salts was assessed by screening for growth on BHI agar plates (BHI [Becton Dickinson and Co.] with 1.2% Bacto agar [Becton Dickinson and Co.]) supplemented with 0.01-1% bile salts (mixture of sodium cholate and sodium deoxycholate; Sigma). The plates were incubated at 37°C for 48h under anaerobic conditions using BBL anaerobic jars (Becton Dickinson and Co.) and the Merck Anaerocult A Gas Pak system (Becton Dickinson and Co.) Susceptibility to triclosan (Sigma) and to sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS, Fisher) was determined by spotting 3μ l (0.125-64 μ g/ml for triclosan, and 100, 150, 200 and 250 μ g/ml for SDS) on MHA plates supplemented with 5% sheep blood (Becton Dickinson and Co.) and assessing growth following incubation at 37°C for 24h.

3.1.5. RNA extraction and reverse-transcription PCR (RT-PCR). Expression of selected MDR genes (*mdrL, mdrM, mdrT, lde*) was assessed by using RT-PCR analysis. H7550 Cd^S and J0161 Cd^R, and their BC-selected derivatives H7550 Cd^S BC₁ and J0161 Cd^R C₁, respectively, were grown to logarithmic phase in BHI at 30°C, RNA was extracted and RT-PCR was performed as described (64). Primers employed are listed in Table 4.1.3.

Primer	Sequence (5' to 3')	Reference
s1	ATTACAGATGTGAGATTACGACG	(64)
s2	ACGTTTACTTGGCATAGCTAC	(64)
mdrL_F	CTCC ACT CGT TAC ACT TCT	This study
mdrL_R	CAG ACAAGGAAAT GAACAC	This study
mdrM _F	GTACATCAGTGAAGCGTAACG	This study
mdrM_R	CTAGAACACAAGCGACTACAG	This study
mdrT_F	CGGCCCGTTGATGTTAACG	This study
mdrT_R	CATTCCGTCCAAACTAGCATC	This study
ldeF	GAA GAA GAA TTT GTA TGT TGTC	This study
ldeR	TCTCTCCATG CATTTTTCGG	This study

Table 3.1.3.Primers used in this study

PCR was carried out using the Takara Ex Taq kit (Takara, Madison, WI) and a T1 thermal cycler (Biometra, Goettingen, Germany) as described (64). The housekeeping gene *spoVG* was used as internal control in the RT-PCR reactions, as described (64). RT-PCR for each gene was done in at least two independent trials.

3.2. Identification of *L* monocytogenes antibiotic resistance genes under control of *tetR* repressors

3.2.1. Bacterial strains and growth conditions

L. monocytogenes strains employed in this study are lister in Table 3.2.1.

Strain	Characteristics	Reference
10403S	serotype 1/2a strain streptomycin resistant derivative of a	(61)
	human skin lesion isolate	
F2365	Serotype 4b strain cheese isolate of the California outbreak	(156)
LmDP-L5396 tetR::Tn917	10403S mutant with an insertion in the <i>tetR</i> repressor	(46)
MRMT1	Mutant in 10403S mariner-based mutant library with	This study
	enhanced resistance to TPP	
MRMT2	Mutant in 10403S mariner-based mutant library with	This study
	enhanced resistance to TPP	
MRMT3	Mutant in 10403S mariner-based mutant library with	This study
	enhanced resistance to TPP	
MRMT4	Mutant in 10403S mariner-based mutant library with	This study
	enhanced resistance to TPP	
MRMT5	Mutant in 10403S mariner-based mutant library with	This study
	enhanced resistance to TPP	

Table3.2.1. L. monocytogenes strains employed in this study

Mutant libraries were constructed in the serotype 4b strain F2365 (cheese isolate of the California outbreak) (156) and in the serotype 1/2a strain 10403S (streptomycin resistant derivative of a human skin lesion isolate) (61). Bacteria were grown in brain heart infusion broth (BHI, Difco, Sparks, MD), at 37oC for 36 hours, and stored at -80oC in the presence of 20% glycerol.Following the construction of mutant libraries (see below) mutants that grew on brain heart infusion agar with 5 µg/ml erythromycin (BHI-Em) but not on BHI with10µg/ml (BHI-Km) were inoculated individually with sterile toothpicks in fresh BHI and grown at 37oC for 36 hours. Mutant libraries were stored in 96-well microtiter plates at -80oC.

3.2.2. Construction of mutant libraries

In the construction of mutant library of F2365 and 10403S, plasmid pMC38 carrying a mariner-based transposon system (TC1/mariner) (24) was used. The pMC38 plasmid DNA

was kindly provided by Dr. Marquis (Cornell University). Construction of mutant library was done as previously described (24).

3.2.3. Mutant library screening procedures

Mutant libraries were screened as described below for the impaired or enhanced resistance to tetraphenylphosphonium chloride (TPP) (Sigma). For the change resistance, 960 mutants of F2365 and 960 mutants of 10403S were screened. The mutants grown in BHI on 96-well microtiter plates were spotted on BHI supplemented with10, 20, 40, 60,100,150, 200, 400μ M/ml, respectively, using a sterile 48-pin replicator. The plates were air-dried and incubated at 37oC for 2 days.

3.2.4. Southern blots and determination of transposon insertion sites

The number of transposon insertion for selected mutants were determined by Southern blots as previously described (6). Primers used to obtaine a mariner-based transposon probe are listed in Table 2. The PCR products were labeled with digoxigenin (Genius kit; Roche, Indianapolis, IN). The labeled DNA was stored at –20oC. The genomic DNA of selected mutants was isolated by using DNeasy kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA). The genomic DNAs were digested by restriction enzyme, Hind III (New England Biolabs, Waverly, MA). X-ray film (Fuji) was exposed to the chemiluminescent light resulting from hybridization of DNA fragments labeled with the probe. Transposon insertion site was determined by sequencing DNA fragments amplified by arbitrary PCR as previously described by Cao et al. (24). The arbitrary primers are listed in Table 3.2.2.

Primer	Sequence (5' to 3')	Reference
Maq205	GGT ATA GCA TAT GAATCG CAT CCG ATT GCA G	(6)
Maq254	TGT CAG ACA TAT GGG CAC ACG AAA AAC AAG T	(6)
Marq207	GGC CAC GCG TCG ACT AGT ACG TAA T	(24)
Marq208	GGC CAC GCG TCG ACT AGTAC	(24)
Marq255	CAG TAC AAT CTGCTC TGA TGC CGC ATA GTT	(24)
Marq269	CTAGAACACAAGCGACTACAG	(24)
Marq256	TAG TTA AGC CAG CCC CGA CAC CCG CCA ACA	(24)
Marq270	TGT GAA ATA CCG CAC AGA TGC GAA GGG CGA	(24)

Table 3.2.2.Primers used in this study

After purification of the PCR products by QIAquick® PCR Purification Kit (Qiagen, MA), they were sequenced using Marq257 and Marq271 for the left and right end of the transposon, respectively. The sequencing of the PCR products was performed at Genomic Science Laboratory at North Carolina StateUniversity (Raleigh, NC) and at Genewiz, Inc. (South Plainfield, NJ).

3.3. Co-selection of cadmium and benzalkonium chloride resistance in conjugative transfers from non-pathogenic *Listeria* spp. to other listeriae

3.3.1. Bacterial strains and growth conditions. *Listeria* spp. strains employed in this study are listed in Table 3.3.1.

Strain	Resistance		Genotyp	e²	Source or reference
Donor strains		cadA1	cadA2	bcrABC	
L. innocua					
L0910	Cd ^R	-	-	-	This study
L1214B	Cd ^R	+	-	-	This study
L1306A	Cd ^R	+	-	-	This study
CLIP 11262	Cd ^R	-	+	-	(16)
L1221	Cd ^R BC ^R	-	+	+	This study
L1333a	Cd ^R	-	+	-	This study
L0921	Cd ^R	+	-	-	This study
L. welshimeri					
L0725	Cd ^R BC ^R	-	+	+	This study
L1325	Cd ^R BC ^R	-	+	+	This study
L0918	Cd ^R BC ^R	-	+	+	This study
L0926	Cd ^R BC ^R	-	+	+	This study
Recipient strains					
L. innocua					
L1206S	Str ^R	-	-	-	This study
L. welshimeri					
L1316S	Str ^R	-	-	-	This study
L0927S	Str ^R	-	-	-	This study
L. monocytogenes (serotype)					
1/2a3 (1/2a)	Str ^R	-	-	-	(22)
10403S (1/2a)	Str ^R	-	-	-	(37)
2381L (4b)	Str ^R	-	-	-	(39)
2857S (1/2a)	Str ^R	-	-	-	This study
2858S (1/2b)	Str ^R	-	-	-	This study

Table 3.3.1.Bacterial strains employed in this study

¹ Cd^R BC^R and Str^R indicate resistance to cadmium, BC, and streptomycin, respectively, determined as described in Materials and Methods.

² Determined by PCR with the respective primers as described in Materials and Methods.

With the exception of the reference strain *L. innocua* CLIP 11262 (83), the non-pathogenic *Listeria* spp. strains (*L. innocua* and *L. welshimeri*) were isolated from the environment of turkey processing plants in the United States between 2003 and 2005. Isolation and characterization of *Listeria* spp. from these processing plants will be described elsewhere. Non-pathogenic *Listeria* spp. used as recipients was streptomycin-resistant derivatives of *L. welshimeri* and *L. innocua* (Table 4.3.1). Spontaneous mutants with resistance to streptomycin (MIC> 600 µg/ml) were isolated on brain heart infusion agar plates (BHIA) (BHI broth [BHI; Becton, Dickinson and Co. Sparks, MD] and 1.2% Bacto agar [Becton, Dickinson and Co.] with streptomycin sulfate (600 µg/ml; Sigma, St Louis, MO). In addition,

five *L. monocytogenes* strains were used as potential recipients. These included the streptomycin-resistant serotype 1/2a strains 1/2a3 and 10403S which have been extensively used in laboratory investigations (114, 126, 175) and the serotype 4b strain 2381L, a streptomycin-resistant derivative of a strain from the 1985 California outbreak (178). In addition, we employed strains 2857S and 2858S, streptomycin-resistant derivatives of the serotype 1/2a strain 2011L-2857 and the serotype 1/2b strain 2011L-2858, implicated in the 2011 cantaloupe outbreak (32). These streptomycin-resistant derivatives (streptomycin MIC> 600 µg/ml) were obtained as described above. Bacteria were grown in BHI or on BHIA and preserved at -80°C as described (64).

3.3.2. Cadmium and BC susceptibility and determinations of MIC. BC and cadmium susceptibility assessments were done as described (154). Strains were considered resistant to cadmium when they yielded confluent growth in the presence of 35 µg/ml cadmium chloride anhydrous (Sigma) following incubation at 37°C for 48 h. For cadmium MIC determinations, 10 µl of an overnight culture was spotted on BHIA plates with variable concentrations of cadmium chloride (2.5, 5, 10, 20, 35, 70, 140 and 200µg/ml), the plates were incubated at 25°C and observed daily for 5 days. The MIC was defined as the lowest concentration of cadmium which prevented visible growth. MIC of benzalkonium chloride (BC; Acros, New Jersey) was determined as described (31) using variable concentrations of BC (0.1, 0.5, 2.5, 5, 10, 20, 35 and 40 µg/ml) and following incubation of the plates at 37°C for 48 h.

3.3.3. Conjugations. Cultures of recipient and donor strains were grown overnight (18 h) at 37°C and mixed in a 1:10 donor to recipient ratio for conjugations. Filter matings were done as described (114). Briefly, the mixture (100 μ l donor and 900 μ l recipient) was centrifuged (6000 rpm, 3 min) and resuspended in 100 μ l BHI which was then spotted onto sterile membrane filters (0.45 μ m; Millipore Corp., Bedford, MA) and incubated at the indicated temperature for 24 h. Agar matings employed the same 1:10 donor to recipient ratio; following centrifugation and resuspension in BHI (100 μ l) the mixture was spotted (50 μ l) on BHIA and incubated at the indicated temperature for 24 h. To isolate transconjugants, mating mixtures were rinsed off the membrane filter or, for agar matings, removed off the surface of the agar plates with a sterile glass rod and plated on double selective medium (BHIA with 600 μ g/ml streptomycin and 35 μ g/ml cadmium chloride), incubated at 25°C, and observed

for up to 96 h. Controls included each of the parental strains plated on the double-selective medium and incubated similarly. Conjugation frequency was determined as the ratio of the number of transconjugants over CFUs of the recipient strain at the end of the conjugation period; CFUs were determined by plating dilutions on BHIA with streptomycin (600µg/ml) and incubation at 37°C for 36 h. Experiments were done in duplicate and in at least three independent trials.

3.3.4. Polymerase chain reaction (PCR). Primers used for PCR are listed in Table 3.3.2.

Gene	PCR primer sequence (5'-3')	Target gene and protein function	GenBank accession no.
cadA-Tn5422F	CAGAGCACTTTACTGACCATCAATCGTT	Tn5422-associated cadA (cadA1)	L28104
cadA-Tn5422R	CTTCTTCATTTAACGTTCCAGCAAAAA		
cadA-pLM80F	ACAAGTTAGATCAAAAGAGTCTTTTATT	cadA on pLM80 (cadA2)	AADR01000058
cadA-pLM80R	ATCTTCTTCATTTAGTGTTCCTGCAAAT		
cadA-EGDeF	TGGTAATTTCTTTAAGTCATCTCCCATT	cadA of strain EGD-e (cadA3)	AL591824
cadA-EGDeR	GCGATGATTGATAATGTCGATTACAAAT		
BcF	GAATGGATCCTTCAATTAGATCGAGGCACG	bcrABC	AADR01000058
BcR	GTATGAATTCGTATAATCCGGATGCTGCCC		
hlyF	CGGAGGTTCCGCAAAAGATG	hly	
hlyR	CCTCCAGAGTGATCGATGTT		
Lw_0908_F	CTTCTCTTTCAGTAGACAGTGAAGC	L. welshimeri-specific sequence	NC_008555
Lw_0908_R	CCATCCTTGTTTCGCCCTTCTTC		
Li_0558_F	GGTGTCTACTTTGTAACGGCCAC	L. innocua-specific sequence	NC_003212.
Li_0558_R	CGGTAGCTTTTGTTAGCATCCCTG		
pLM80-0004F	CATAGCGATCATACGCATTG	LMOh7858_pLM80_0004 (hypothetical	AADR01000010
pLM80-0007R	AGCAGCATGTAGAAGCAGC	protein)	
pLM80-0007F	CTCAACACTAAGTCGGTACC	LMOh7858_pLM80_0007 (hypothetical	AADR01000010
pLM80-0007R	CCATTCAAGCTGCGAAAG	proteinJ	

This study

study

This

(16)

(18)

This study

AADR01000010

LMOh7858_pLM80_0008 (conserved hypothetical protein)

AGGATACACAAGCTCGGAAG

CCCAAGTTTTCCAGTAGCTG

pLM80-0008F

pLM80-0008R

Reference

(32)

(32)

(32)

(12)

(15)

pLM80-0010F	CTTCACTCCCACGTGTCTCA	LMOh7858_pLM80_00010 (secretion system	AADR01000010	This
pLM80-0010R	CGAGAACTGATTGCTGCTGA	proteinj		study
pLM80-0012F	CATCGCAATGGTATAGCC	LMOh7858_pLM80_0012 (conserved	AADR01000010	This
pLM80-0012R	CTGGGTAAGAATTGCTG	nypotnetical protein)		study
pLM80-0017F	GCTGTATATCACTGGTATCC	LMOh7858_pLM80_00017 (hypothetical	AADR01000010	This
pLM80-0017R	GCAAAGTTGGACCACTTGG	protein)		study
pLM80-0022F	GCAACAGGTCTATCCCCCAAA	LMOh7858_pLM80_00022 (TraG/TraD family	AADR01000010	This
pLM80-0022R	CCAATCGCAAGGTTTTCCCTA	proteinj		study
pLM80-0026F	GATATGGAACATTCCACGCC	LMOh7858_pLM80_0026 (conserved	AADR01000010	This
pLM80-0026R	GCTGGTAAGTCTACTACG	hypothetical protein)		study
pLM80-0031F	CAATGGCTCTACCATGATTG	LMOh7858_pLM80_0031 (conserved	AADR01000010	This
pLM80-0031R	CCACGATAACTTGAGTGATGAG	hypothetical protein)		study
pLM80-0035F	GGAGAATGACTTGGCTGC	LMOh7858_pLM80_0035 (hypothetical	AADR01000010	This
pLM80-0035R	GGGCTATCAATCAGCTAC	protein)		study
pLM80-0038F	GCTCCTCTAAGATCATACTGC	LMOh7858_pLM80_0038 (conserved	AADR01000010	This
pLM80-0038R	GGATTATCTCATGCGACAC	hypothetical protein)		study
pLM80-0040F	GCTTCCTGATCCACCAAAAA	LMOh7858_pLM80_0040 (adenine	AADR01000010	This
pLM80-0040R	ATCCAATGGTCAGGAGATCG	methyltransierase, putativej		study
pLM80-0049F	GCTTCCTGGTTAAATCCATC	LMOh7858_pLM80_0049 (pli0073)	AADR01000010	This
pLM80-0049R	GACAACTTGCGAGATATGTC			study
pLM80-0053F	CCTTACTTACCAAATGGCC	LMOh7858_pLM80_0053 (plasmid	AADR01000010	This
pLM80-0053R	GTCATGGATAGTTCTCCC	replication protein, putative)		study

M80-0054F	GCAGGTCAAGTTGAAACTCG	LMOh7858_pLM80_0054 (DNA-dependent	AADR01000010	This
M80-0054R	GCAATCAGCTGATGATTACG	AI Fase, SNF2 family proteinJ		study
M80-0056F	AATCTCCTTTAGGGTTACGC	LMOh7858_pLM80_0056 (type III restriction	AADR01000010	This
M80-0056R	TGATGTTCACTCACGTCAAG	system metnyiase)		study
M80-0058F	TCCAGCATCACTCGCAAAG	LMOh7858_pLM80_0058 (type III restriction	AADR01000010	This
M80-0058R	TCAACTAGATGCCGTAGAGG	system endonuclease)		study
M80-0083F	GAAGTGTTTGCAGGAACAC	LMOh7858_pLM80_0083	AADR01000010	This
M80-0083R	GAAGCTAATGGGTGTTGAG	(cadA, cadAZ cation-transporting AT Pase, E1- E2 family)		study
M80-0090F	GTGAATGAGCTCATCCAG	LMOh7858_pLM80_0090 (ImpB/MucB/SamB	AADR01000058	This
M80-0090R	GTATCGACGTGATGATTACG	tamily protein)		study
M80-0092F	CCGTTGACATCAAACC	LMOh7858_pLM80_0092 (replication-	AADR01000058	This
M80-0092R	GTTGGCAAAGAAAGGC	associated protein)		study
M80-0093F	GGACACCGAATACATACCGA	LMOh7858_pLM80_0093 (plasmid	AADR01000058	This
M80-0093R	TTTCCCATTCGCTAAAATGC	replication protein)		study

Identification of the three different *cadA* determinants used primers *cadA*-Tn5422F and *cadA*-Tn5422R for *cadA1*, associated with Tn5422; *cadA*-pLM80F and *cadA*-pLM80R for *cadA2*, harbored on pLM80; *cadA*-EGDeF and *cadA*-EGDeR for *cadA3*, harbored by EGDe (155). Primers BcF and BcR were used to produce a PCR fragment containing the entire *bcrABC* cassette along with the ca. 800-nucleotide upstream intergenic region (64). PCR for *hly*, encoding the *L. monocytogenes* virulence determinant Listeriolysin O employed primers *hlyA*F and *hlyA*R (15) (Table 2). *L. welshimeri* was differentiated from *L. innocua* using primers Lw_0908_F and Lw_0908_R (*L. welshimeri*-specific) as well as primers Li_0558_F and Li_0558_R (*L. innocua*-specific) (Table 4.3.2), derived from genome sequences specific to the corresponding species (83, 99). Besides *cadA2* and *bcrABC* (harbored on pLM80), we employed a panel of several additional primer pairs to screen for other pLM80 ORFs representing diverse locations on both fragments of the plasmid (Table 4.3.2) (33). PCR was done as previously described (64, 154) using the Takara Ex Taq kit (Takara, Madison, WI).

3.4. Resistance gene distribution among non-pathogenenic *Listeriae* from different poultry processing plants

3.4.1. Bacterial strains and growth conditions. The nonpathogenic *Listeria* spp strains used in this study are listed in Tables 3.4.1a and 3.4.1b.

				Plant					
L.innocua	Resistance	State	Date	code	Source	cadA	bcrABC	APAI	ASCI
250a-1	Cd, BC	ND	10/12/2004	F	Enviroment	1	+		
	Cd, BC,								
#4MI21	As	MI	12/16/2004	С	Enviroment	1	+		
244a-1	Cd, BC	ND	10/12/2004	F	Enviroment	1	+		+
282b-1	Cd, BC	NC	6/15/2004	Α	Enviroment	1	+		+
	Cd, BC,								
#8MI21	As	MI	11/29/2005	С	Enviroment	1	+		
#1MI1	Cd	MI	4/27/2004	С	Enviroment	1	+		+
297b-1	Cd, BC	ND	11/2/2004	F	Enviroment	1	+		
306a-1	Cd, BC	ND	11/2/2004	F	Enviroment	1	+		+
45-1b	Cd, BC	ND	11/10/2003	F	Enviroment	1	+		
45-1a	Cd, BC	ND	11/10/2003	F	Enviroment	1	+		+
#1MI2	Cd	MI	4/27/2004	С	Enviroment	1	-		
2#MI32	Cd, BC	MI	4/27/2004	С	Enviroment	1	+		
#4MI40	Cd, As	MI	12/16/2004	С	Food	1	-		
	Cd, BC,								
L1219	As	VA	1/18/2005	В	Enviroment	1	+	+	+
L1306a	Cd	VA	2/28/2005	В	Enviroment	1	-	+	+
L1507	Cd, BC	VA	3/9/2005	Е	Enviroment	1	+	+	+
L1814b	Cd, BC	VA	6/7/2005	Е	Enviroment	1	+		
#5MI10	Cd, BC	MI	4/12/2005	С	Enviroment	1	+		
	Cd, BC,								
#6MI12	As	MI	6/15/2005	С	Enviroment	1	+		
#7MI18	Cd, BC	MI	9/13/2005	С	Enviroment	1	+		+
#1MI11	Cd, BC	MI	4/27/2004	С	Enviroment	1	+		
LO921	Cd, BC	VA	8/19/2004	В	Enviroment	1	+	+	+
L1310	Cd, BC	VA	4/5/2005	В	Enviroment	1	+	+	+
L1312	Cd, BC	VA	4/5/2005	В	Enviroment	1	+	+	+
L1306b	Cd	VA	4/5/2005	В	Enviroment	1	-	+	+
L1201a	Cd, BC	VA	4/5/2005	В	Enviroment	1	+	+	+
L1214b	Cd, BC	VA	4/5/2005	В	Enviroment	1	+	+	+
L1206	Cd	VA	4/5/2005	В	Enviroment	1	-	+	+
L1501	Cd	VA	4/5/2005	Е	Enviroment	1	-	+	+
L1307a	Cd	VA	4/5/2005	В	Enviroment	1	-	+	+
L1307b	Cd, BC	VA	4/5/2005	В	Enviroment	1	+	+	+

Table 3.4.1a. L. innocua isolates used in this study

L1223	Cd	VA	4/5/2005	В	Enviroment	1	-	+	+
L1310	Cd, BC	VA	4/5/2005	В	Enviroment	1	+	+	+
L1333b	Cd	VA	4/5/2005	В	Enviroment	1	-	+	+
230a-1	Cd, BC	NC	8/23/2004	Α	Enviroment	1, 2	+		
LO901	Cd, BC	VA	8/19/2004	В	Enviroment	1, 2	+	+	+
210b-2	Cd, BC	NC	6/15/2004	Α	Enviroment	1, 2	+		
141a-1	Cd, BC	NC	2/10/2004	Α	Enviroment	1, 2	+	+	
#4MI12	Cd, BC	MI	12/16/2004	С	Enviroment	1, 2	+		
L1816a	Cd	VA	6/7/2005	Е	Enviroment	1, 2	-		+
10-1a	Cd, BC	NC	9/24/2003	Α	Enviroment	2	+		
10-1b	Cd, BC	NC	9/24/2003	Α	Enviroment	2	+		
104b-1	Cd, BC	NC	12/3/2003	Α	Enviroment	2	+		
128a-1	Cd, BC	NC	2/10/2004	Α	Enviroment	2	+		
138a-1	Cd, BC	NC	2/10/2004	Α	Enviroment	2	+		
158a-1	Cd, BC	NC	4/13/2004	Α	Enviroment	2	+		
176a-3	Cd, BC	NC	4/13/2004	Α	Enviroment	2	+		
231b-3	Cd, BC	NC	8/23/2004	Α	Enviroment	2	+		
240a-1	Cd, BC	NC	8/23/2004	Α	Enviroment	2	+		
275a-1	Cd, BC	NC	10/21/2004	Α	Enviroment	2	+		
283a-5	Cd, BC	NC	10/21/2004	Α	Enviroment	2	+		
34-1a	Cd, BC	NC	9/24/2003	Α	Enviroment	2	+	+	+
367a-2	Cd, BC	NC	4/5/2005	Α	Enviroment	2	+		
82a-1	Cd	NC	12/3/2003	Α	Enviroment	2	-		
L1624a-1	Cd, BC	VA	5/18/2005	В	Food	2	+		
L1628a-1	Cd, BC	VA	5/18/2005	В	Enviroment	2	+		
L1916a-1	Cd, BC	VA	9/8/2005	В	Enviroment	2	+		
L1930b-1	Cd, BC	VA	9/8/2005	В	Enviroment	2	+		
L1935a-1	Cd, BC	VA	9/8/2005	В	Enviroment	2	+		
L1939b-1	Cd, BC	VA	9/8/2005	В	Enviroment	2	+		
453a-1	Cd, BC	ND	10/26/2005	F	Enviroment	2	+		
L1606a-1	Cd, BC	VA	5/18/2005	В	Enviroment	2	+		
#2MI17	Cd, BC	MI	7/27/2004	С	Enviroment	2	+		<u> </u>
L1333a	Cd	VA	2/28/2005	В	Enviroment	2	-	+	+
L1712b	Cd	VA	6/6/2005	D	Enviroment	2	-	+	+
#7MI11	Cd, BC	MI	9/13/2005	С	Enviroment	2	+		<u> </u>
L	1	1	1	1	1			1	<u> </u>

290b-1	Cd, BC	ND	11/2/2004	F	Enviroment	2	+		
204 b-1	BC, As	NC	6/15/2004	Α	Enviroment	2	+		
L1921a-1	Cd, BC	VA	9/8/2005	В	Enviroment	2	+		
452a-1	Cd, BC	ND	10/26/2005	F	Enviroment	2	+		
240b-1	Cd, BC	NC	8/23/2004	Α	Enviroment	2	+	+	+
	Cd, BC,								
L1221	As	VA	1/18/2005	В	Enviroment	2	+	+	+
Table 4.4.1	a. continuing								
L1724a	Cd, BC	NC	6/6/2005	Α	Enviroment	2	+		
L0909	Cd	VA	12/9/2004	В	Enviroment	2		+	+
L0910	Cd	VA	12/9/2004	В	Enviroment	2	-	+	+
L0923	Cd	VA	12/9/2004	В	Enviroment	2	-	+	+
L0924	Cd	VA	12/9/2004	В	Enviroment	2	-	+	+
L0919	Cd	VA	12/9/2004	В	Food	2	-	+	+
232a-1	Cd, BC	NC	8/23/2004	Α	Enviroment	4	+		
223a-5	Cd, BC	NC	8/23/2004	Α	Enviroment	ND	+		
22-1a	Cd	NC	9/24/2003	Α	Enviroment	ND	-		
206b-1	Cd, BC	NC	6/15/2004	Α	Enviroment	ND	+		
174a-1	Cd, BC	NC	4/13/2004	Α	Enviroment	ND	+		
248a-1		ND	10/12/2004	F	Enviroment	ND	-		
43-1a	BC	ND	11/10/2003	F	Enviroment	ND	+		
206 a-1	Cd, BC	NC	6/15/2004	Α	Enviroment	ND	+		
172a-1	BC	NC	4/13/2004	Α	Enviroment	ND	+		
285a-1	BC	ND	11/2/2004	F	Enviroment	ND	+		
L1604b-1	-	VA	5/18/2005	В	Enviroment	ND	-		
L1318b	BC	VA	4/5/2005	В	Enviroment	ND	+	+	+
L0713	Cd	VA	5/18/2004	В	Enviroment	ND	-		
LO907	Cd	VA	8/19/2004	В	Enviroment	ND	-	+	+
L1601b	Cd, BC	VA	5/18/2005	В	Enviroment	ND	+		
L1210a	Cd, BC	VA	4/5/2005	В	Enviroment	ND	+	+	+
L0913	-	VA	12/9/2004	B	Enviroment	ND	-	+	+
L1328a	BC	VA	4/5/2005	B	Enviroment	ND	+	+	+

L.	Resistance	State	Date	Plant	Source	cadA	bcrABC	APAI	ASCI
welshimeri				code					
110b-1	Cd, As	NC	2/10/2004	Α	Enviroment	1	-		
117pa-1	Cd	NC	2/10/2004	Α	Enviroment	1	-		
192a-2	Cd	NC	6/15/2004	Α	Enviroment	1	-		
254a-1	Cd, BC	ND	10/12/2004	F	Enviroment	1	+		
290a-1	Cd, BC	ND	11/2/2004	F	Enviroment	1	+		
297a-1	Cd, BC	ND	11/2/2004	F	Enviroment	1	+		
312a-1	Cd, BC	ND	11/2/2004	F	Enviroment	1	+		
50-1a	Cd, BC	ND	11/10/2003	F	Enviroment	1	+		+
L1905a-1	Cd	VA	9/8/2005	В	Enviroment	1	-		
414a-2	Cd, BC	ND	10/13/2005	F	Enviroment	1	+		
425b-1	Cd, BC	ND	10/13/2005	F	Enviroment	1	+		
428a-1	Cd, BC	ND	10/13/2005	F	Enviroment	1	+		
475a-1	Cd, BC	ND	11/9/2005	F	Enviroment	1	+		
LO903	Cd, BC	VA	8/19/2004	В	Enviroment	1	+	+	+
139a-1	Cd, BC	NC	2/10/2004	Α	Enviroment	1, 2	+	+	
143a-1	Cd	NC	2/10/2004	Α	Enviroment	1, 2	-	+	
230b-2	Cd, BC	NC	8/23/2004	Α	Enviroment	1, 2	+	+	
#1MI19	Cd, BC	MI	4/27/2004	С	Enviroment	1, 2	+	+	
313b-1	Cd, As	ND	11/2/2004	F	Enviroment	1, 2	-		
231a-4	Cd, BC	NC	8/23/2004	Α	Enviroment	2	+		
268a-1	Cd, BC	NC	10/21/2004	Α	Enviroment	2	+		
209b-1	Cd, BC	NC	6/15/2004	Α	Enviroment	2	+		
102a-1	Cd, BC	NC	12/3/2003	Α	Enviroment	2	+	+	+
105a-1	Cd, BC	NC	12/3/2003	Α	Enviroment	2	+		
61-1b	Cd, BC	ND	11/10/2003	F	Enviroment	2	+	+	+
L1601a-1	Cd, As	VA	5/18/2005	В	Enviroment	2	-		+
L1606b-1	Cd70, BC	VA	5/18/2005	В	Enviroment	2	+		
L1625b-1	Cd, BC	VA	5/18/2005	В	Food	2	+		+
L1908a-1	Cd, BC	VA	9/8/2005	В	Enviroment	2	+		

Table 3.4.1.b L. welshimeri isolates used in this study

L1916a-1	Cd, BC	VA	9/8/2005	В	Enviroment	2	+		
L1921b-1	Cd, BC	VA	9/8/2005	В	Enviroment	2	+		+
L1936a-1	Cd, BC	VA	9/8/2005	В	Enviroment	2	+		
Table 4.4.1b	. continuing			-				-	
439a-1	Cd, BC	ND	10/26/2005	F	Enviroment	2	+	+	+
487a-2	Cd, As,	NC	3/29/2006	Α	Enviroment	2	+		+
	BC								
#104	Cd, BC	NC	12/3/2003	Α	Enviroment	2	+		
#34	Cd, BC	NC	9/24/2003	Α	Enviroment	2	+		
L0725	Cd, BC	VA	5/18/2004	В	Food	2	+	+	+
LO926	Cd, BC	VA	12/9/2004	В	Food	2	+	+	+
L1228a	Cd, BC	VA	1/18/2005	В	Food	2	+	+	+
L1625a	Cd, BC	VA	5/18/2005	В	Food	2	+		
L1730	Cd, BC	VA	6/6/2005	D	Enviroment	2	+		
#6MI19	Cd, BC	MI	2/28/2005	С	Enviroment	2	+		+
#6MI26	Cd, BC,	MI	6/15/2005	С	Enviroment	2	+		+
	As								
L1208	Cd, BC	VA	4/5/2005	В	Enviroment	2	+	+	+
L1225	Cd, BC	VA	4/5/2005	В	Enviroment	2	+	+	+
L1228b	Cd, BC	VA	4/5/2005	В	Food	2	+	+	+
L1325	Cd, BC	VA	4/5/2005	В	Enviroment	2	+	+	+
L0914	Cd, BC	VA	12/9/2004	В	Enviroment	2	+	+	+
L0918	Cd, BC	VA	12/9/2004	В	Food	2	+	+	+
L0926	Cd, BC	VA	12/9/2004	В	Food	2	+	+	+
L0922	Cd, BC	VA	12/9/2004	В	Enviroment	2	+	+	+
202a-1	Cd, BC	NC	6/15/2004	Α	Enviroment	ND	+	+	+
342a	Cd, BC	NC	12/14/2004	Α	Enviroment	ND	+	+	+
361a-1	Cd, BC	NC	4/5/2005	Α	Enviroment	ND	+		
405a-1	Cd	ND	10/13/2005	F	Enviroment	ND	-		
430a-1	Cd	ND	10/26/2005	F	Enviroment	ND	-		
232b-2	BC	NC	8/23/2004	А	Enviroment	ND	+		
L1203	Cd, BC	VA	1/18/2005	В	Enviroment	ND	+	+	+
L1316	-	VA	2/28/2005	В	Enviroment	ND	-	+	+

L1604a-1	Cd,BC, As	VA	5/18/2005	B	Enviroment	ND	+		
L1315	BC	VA	2/28/2005	В	Enviroment	ND	+	+	+
#138	Cd, BC	NC	2/10/2004	Α	Enviroment	ND	+	+	+
210a-1	Cd, BC	NC	6/15/2004	Α	Enviroment	ND	+	+	
223b-5	Cd, BC	NC	8/23/2004	Α	Enviroment	ND	+	+	+
239a-3	Cd, BC	NC	8/23/2004	Α	Enviroment	ND	+	+	+
L0927	-	VA	12/9/2004	В	Enviroment	ND	-	+	+

The nonpathogenic strains (n=162) were primarily contributed by four plants (A, B, C, and F): most strains were *L. innocua* and *L. welshimeri* (Table 4.4.2).

Plant ¹	Species			
	L.welshimeri	L. innocua		
A (n=50)	22	28		
B (n=64)	26	38		
C (n= 16)	3	13		
D (n= 5)	1	4		
E (n=4)	0	4		
F (n=25)	14	11		
Total (n=162)	66	96		

Table 3.4.2.Plant-specific distribution of the strains used in this study

¹In addition to the 162 isolates, 8 isolates (4 from plant A and 1 each from B, C, D, and F) were unidentified *Listeria* spp.

Listeriae were routinely grown in brain heart infusion broth (BHI; Difco, Sparks, MD), BHI supplemented with 1.2% agar (Difco), or Trypticase soy broth with 0.6% yeast extract (TSBYE; Becton, Dickinson and Co., Sparks, MD) at 37°C.

3.4.2. Determination of susceptibility to cadmium, sodium arsenite and BC. Resistance to cadmium, arsenic, and BC was assessed as described previously (154). Isolates were considered resistant to cadmium and arsenic if they yielded confluent growth on Iso-Sensitest

agar (ISA) (Oxoid, Hampshire, England) supplemented with 70µg/ml cadmium chloride anhydrous (Sigma, St. Louis, MO) or 500ug/ml sodium arsenite (Fluka, Steinheim, Germany), respectively, following incubation at 37°C for 48 h. BC resistance was assessed on Mueller-Hinton agar (MHA) (Mueller-Hinton broth with 1.2% Bacto agar [Becton, Dickinson and Co.]) supplemented with 10 ug/ml of benzalkonium chloride (Acros, Morris Plains, NJ) and 2% sheep blood (BBL, Sparks, MD). The plates were incubated at 37°C for 48 h. Confluent growth at 10ug/ml BC determined strains as resistant to this compound.

3.4.3. DNA extrection. DNA was extracted as described previously (64), and PCRs were performed using the ExTaq kit (Takara, Madison, WI) and a T1 thermal cycler (Biometra, Goettingen, Germany). Primers used in present study (3, 12) were purchased from Eurofin MWG Operon (Huntsville, AL)

3.4.4. PCR. Species designations for *L. welshimeri* and *L. innocua* were confirmed using primers listed in Table 3.4.3.

Come		Target gene and protein	GeneBank	Def
Gene	PCR primer sequence $(5^{\circ} - 5^{\circ})$	function	accession no.	Kei
CadA –	CAGAGCACTTTACTGACCATCAA	Tn5422-associated	T 28104	155
Tn5422F	TCGTT	cadA(cadA1)	L20104	155
CadA –	CTTCTTCATTTAACGTTCCAGCA	Tn5422-associated		155
Tn5422R	AAAA	cadA(cadA1)		155
CadA –	ACAAGTTAGATCAAAAGAGTCTT	cadA(LMOh7858_pLM80_00		155
pLM80F	TTATT	83) on pLM80 (cadA2)		155
CadA –	ATCTTCTTCATTTAGTGTTCCTG	cadA(LMOh7858_pLM80_00	A A DD01000058	155
pLM80R	CAAAT	83) on pLM80 (cadA2)	AADKUIUUUU58	155
CadA -	TGGTAATTTCTTTAAGTCATCTC	cadA(lmo1100) in EGD-e		155
EGDeF	CCATT	(cadA3)		155
CadA -	GCGATGATTGATAATGTCGATTA cadA(lmo1100) in		AT 501077	155
EGDeR	САААТ	(cadA3)	AL371711	100
LMOSA_23 30F		cadA(LMOSA_2330) on the		
	GCATACGTACGAACCAGAAG	chromosome of Scott A		130
		(<i>cadA</i> 4)		
I MOSA 22		cadA(LMOSA_2330) on the		
20D	CAGTGTTTCTGCTTTTGCTCC	chromosome of Scott A	AFGI01000005.1	130
JUK		(<i>cad</i> A4)		
DoE	GAATGGATCCTTCAATTAGATCG	honABC	A A DD01000059	120
DCF	AGGCACG	DCTADU	AADK01000058	130
BoD	GTATGAATTCGTATAATCCGGAT	borABC		130
Den	GCTGCCC	DEFADE		150
I 0000 E	CTTCTCTTTCAGTAGACAGTGAA	L. welshimeri-	NC 009555	117
Lw_0900_F	GC	specific sequence	NC_000355	11/
L 0000 D		L. welshimeri-	NC 009555	117
Lw_0900_K		specific sequence	NC_000355	11/
I; 0558 F	GGTGTCTACTTTGTAACGGCCA	I innocua sposific sequence	NC 002212	117
L1_0330_1	С	L. mnocuu-specific sequence	110_003212.	11/
Li 0558 P	CGGTAGCTTTTGTTAGCATCCCT	<i>L innocua</i> -specific sequence	NC 003212	117
L1_0000_K	G	L. mnot au-specific sequence	110_003212.	11/

Table 3.4.3.Primers used in this study

Detection of the four different *cadA* determinants used primers *cadA*-Tn5422F and *cadA*-Tn5422F for *cadA1*; *cadA*-pLM80F and *cadA*-pLM80R for *cadA2*; *cadA*-EGDeF and *cadA*-EGDeR for *cadA3* and primers LMOSA_2330F and LMOSA_2230R for *cadA4* (130, 155). To obtain PCR fragment with the entire bcrABC cassette along with the 800-nt upstream intergenic region we used primers BcF and BcR (64) (Table 4.4.3.).

3.4.5. Pulsed-field gel electrophoresis (PFGE). Pulsed-field gel electrophoresis (PFGE) was performed following PulseNet protocol with AscI (New England BioLabs, Ipswich, MA) and ApaI (Roche, Indianapolis, IN) (47) For normalization, analysis and matching of PFGE profiles BioNumerics (Applied Maths, Austin, TX) was employed. A dendrogram was generated from AscI and ApaI of 32 *L. innocua and* 24 *L. welshimeri* isolates with 1.5% tolerance window.

3.4.6. Statistical Analysis. Fisher's exact test was carried out to determine if distribution of Cd and BC resistance genes is constant across the processing plants. In case when there was evidence of plant to plant variability, pairwise comparisons among plants were made by fitting logistic regression models for each frequency variable. Significant difference (p < 0.04) was determined using the SAS program Version 9.1 (Cary, NC).

3.5. Survival and growth of outbreak and other strains of *Listeria monocytogenes* on cantaloupe

3.5.5. Bacterial strains and growing conditions Strains used in the study are listed in Table 3.5.1.

Strains	Genotype and features	Serotype	Source/ reference
2011L-2857	Food, cantaloupe outbreak, 2011	1/2a	CDC
2011L-2858	Food, cantaloupe 2011 outbreak	1/2b	CDC
2011L-2875	Food, cantaloupe 2011 outbreak	1/2a	CDC
2010L-1723	Celery outbreak (TX) 2010	1/2a	Gaul, L.K,
H7550	Hot dog outbreak , 1998-1999	4b	CDC
J0161	Turkey deli meats outbreak, 2001	1/2a	CDC
F8027	Food, celery	4b	Lang, M

Table 3.5.1. Listeria monocytogenes strains used in this study

Each bacterial culture was grown overnight at 37°C in brain heart infusion broth (BHI; Becton Dickinson and Co., Sparks, MD) and centrifuged at $7000 \times g$ (Rotor JA-14, Beckman, Palo Alto, CA, USA) for 10 min. Cells were washed twice in sterile dH₂0 and re-suspended in 10ml of sterile de-ionized water.

3.5.2. Cantaloupe preparation and inoculations. For each experiment, conventionally grown cantaloupes (grown in the USA), were purchased at retail and stored at 4° C until used. Cantaloupes were tested for *Listeria* prior to inoculation. Briefly, 12.5gr of fragments containing rind (obtained as described below) were pre-enriched by re-suspending in 112.5 ml Half Frazer Broth (Oxoid LTD, Basingstoke, Hampshire, England)) and incubated at 37°C for 48 h followed by plating 100ul on the MOX and incubation of 48h at 37°C. Cantaloupes were cut by a flame-sterilized knife in pieces (2x2x1.0cm each), with the outer surface intact, inner surface (1cm under the rind), respectively, and the rest of flesh was extracted in to a juice using a Juice Extractor (Hamilton Beach Health Smart Juice Extractor, Southern Pines, NC, USA). Fragments were placed on sterile aluminum foil in a biosafety cabinet, pre-wetted with sterile water by spraying, left for 30 minutes to dry, followed by inoculation with different *L monocytogenes* strains, respectively.

Inoculum was prepared by diluting the washed cells in sterile water. A spot-inoculation method was used to inoculate bacteria (approx.10⁵ cfu/fragment) on the rind and on the flesh of cantaloupe fragments, as previously described (147). The inoculum (100µl) was deposited as of a series of drops on the surface (rind or flesh). After air drying for 1 hour in the biosafety cabinet at room temperature the inoculated fragments were placed in polystyrene petri dishes sealed with parafilm, followed by incubation at 4, 8 and 25°C. 10ml aliquots of freshly extracted cantaloupe juice was inoculated for a final concentration of 10⁵ cfu/ml. Survival and growth were assessed at 4, 24, 168, 336 and 504 hours at 4 and 8°C; and 4, 8, 24, 72, 168 hours at 25°C. Longer incubations at 25°C were not pursued due to the visible spoilage of the product. At each time point, cantaloupe fragments (two each with inoculums on the rind and on the flesh respectively), were submerged in 10ml of sterile de-ionized water in the sterile 50ml it polypropylene conical tubes (Becton Dickinson and Company, Franklin Lakes, NJ, US) followed by vortexing at high speed for 2 minutes. Serial dilutions were plated on brain heart infusion agar (BHIA; Becton Dickinson and Co., Sparks, MD) for the

enumeration of total aerobes and on Modified Oxford Agar (MOX), (EMD Chemicals Inc., Gibbstown, NJ 08027, USA) supplemented with Modified Oxford Antimicrobic Supplement (Becton,Dickinson and Company, Sparks, MD 21152, USA) for enumeration of *L. monocytogenes*. Serial dilutions from cantaloupe juice were plated for enumeration as described above. Plates were incubated for 48 hours at 37° C and results presented as log CFU / fragment. Experiments were done in duplicate and in at least three independent trials.

3.5.3. Cantaloupe treatment with water: Fragments of cantaloupe were prepared and inoculated with *L. monocytogenes* strains F8027 and 2011L-2858, respectively, as previously described. After 1 hour two fragment of each inoculated strain were washed by submerging sterile dH_2O for 2 minutes with agitation. Fragments were then placed in polystyrene 50ml tubes with 10ml of sterile dH2O followed by 2 minutes of vortexing at high speed. Enumerations were made as described above immediately after washing and following 72 hours at 4, 8 and 25°C. Fragments inoculated with the same strain but not washed were included as a control.

3.5.4. Statistical analysis Data were analyzed by The Statistical Analysis System (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, N.C.) using linear mixed effects model. Fixed effects of four factors were included, along with all possible interactions among them: strain (3 levels), location (3 levels) time and temperature, which had 16 combinations of levels, visible in the tables below. The experimental design was a randomized complete block with three complete replications of all 144 treatment combinations of the four factors. For each treatment and block (\trial") combination, duplicate measurements were taken, and these are considered subsamples for the purposes of the statistical analysis. Accordingly, random effects were included in the model for block and block-by-treatment interaction.

3.6. Change in phenotype and genotype as an asset for *L. monocytogenes* growth on cantaloupe

3.6.1. Bacterial strains and growing conditions. *L. monocytogenes* strains employed in this study are listed in Table 3.6.1.
Strains	Genotype and features	Source/
		reference
F2365	Cheese isolate from California outbreak	6, 7
H7550	Clinical isolate from hot dog outbreak (1998-1999)	68
J0161	Serotype 1/2a strain from turkey deli meats outbreak, 2001	182
J0161C ₁	Ciprofloxacin-selected mutant of J0161 Cd ^R	31
ROA4	Transposon mutant of F2365 LMO f2365_1746 (helicase	6, 7
	domain protein) cold sensitive	
ROA14	Transposon mutant of F2365purA::transposon (pMC38), EmR	6, 7
	KmS, blood agar sensitive	
J22F	Transposon mutant of H7550-Cds, purB::transposon (pMC39),	6, 7
	EmR KmS, blood agar sensitive	
J29H	Transposon mutant of H7550-Cds, hly::transposon (pMC39),	118
	EmR KmS, nonhemolytic	
J46C	Transposon mutant of H7550-Cds,ORF2753::transposon	118
	(pMC39), EmR KmS, phage-susceptible at low temperature	
F2365∆wap	F2365 with deletion of wap	42, 43
F2365∆18R	F2365 with deletion of the gene cassette flanking by wap and	42, 43
	inlA	
ECIIA18R	H7550 with deletion of the gene cassette flanking by wap and	42, 43
	inlA	

Table 3.6.1: Listeria monocytogenes strains used in this study

Each bacterial culture was grown overnight at 37° C in brain heart infusion broth (BHI; Becton Dickinson and Co., Sparks, MD) and centrifuged at $7000 \times g$ (Rotor JA-14, Beckman, Palo Alto, CA, USA) for 10 min. The supernatant was discarded and the cell pellets were washed twice and resuspended in 10ml of sterile de-ionized water, followed by serial dilutions in sterile de-ionized water to the final inoculum concentration of 10^5 cfu/fragment on the cantaloupe rind.

3.6.2. Isolation of mutants adapted on ciprofloxacin: Ciprofloxacin-adapted mutants of parental strain J0161 (serotype1/2 a strain involved in turkey deli meats outbreak, 2001) were obtained as previously described (182).

3.6.3. Mutant library constructions and genetic characterizations. The *mariner*-based transposon (24) have been employed to construct mutant libraries of strains F2365 (epidemic clone I, serotype 4b) and H7550 (epidemic clone II, serotype 4b) (1, 2, 23). All analyzed mutants harbored single transposon insertions. Through screenings of the *mariner*-based mutant libraries various mutants have been isolated. A cold-sensitive mutant, with an insertion in a gene encoding a DEAD family RNA helicase (6), and ROA14 with transposon integrated in LMOf2365_0065 (*purA*, adenylosuccinate synthetase), both mutants of strain F2365, and mutants of strain H7550- non-hemolytic mutant (J29H) harboring the transposon localized into ORF 0222 (*hly*, listeriolysin O) and blood sensitive mutant J22F with the transposon localized into ORF 1898 (*purB*, adenylosuccinate lyase). Non-hemolytic mutant was not able to lyse blood cells on blood agar plates (Tryptic Soy Broth supplemented with 5% of sheep blood, Remel Inc.) and blood-sensitive mutant barely grew on the tryptic soy agar with sheep blood (Remel) but grew well on other agar media, including Tryptic Soy Agar.

3.6.4. Identification of phage-susceptible mutant. One colony of strain H7550, designated J46C, was detected to be a phage susceptible on the spot assay following growth at 25°C. The phage susceptibility was confirmed individually by standard plaque assays.

3.6.5. Construction of deletion mutant of *wap* in F2365 Deletion mutants of *wap* and genomic region 18 were previously constructed in our laboratory as described (42, 43, unpublished).

3.6.6. Preparation of cantaloupe and inoculation of surface. Cantaloupe preparation and inoculation of *L. monocytogenes* on the surface were done using a spot-inoculation method described in the previous chapter.

3.6.7. Cantaloupe treatment with water: Upon the inoculation with selected mutants and parental strains, respectively, fragments of cantaloupe were treated with sterile d-H20 as described in the previous chapter. Fragments inoculated with cold-sensitive mutant (ROA4) were incubated for 504 hours at 4C. At each time point (0, 72, 168 for all strains and 336 and

504 for ROA4 at 4C) two fragments were pull out for plate count on BHI and MOX, in duplicates. Results presented are average between two trials each conducted in duplicate.

3.7. Assessment of *L. monocytogenes* growth in raw and pasteurised milk

3.7.1. Bacterial strains and growing conditions. *L. monocytogenes* strains used in this study are presented in Table 3.7.1.

Strain	Country/State	Source	Serotype	Class	Reference
H7550 CdR	USA	Food Hotdog Outbreak (1998-99)	4b	ECII	CDC
H7550CdRC	USA	Ciprofloxacin adapted mutant of strain H7550CdR	4b	ECII	MRM2011
J0161	USA	Food Hotdog Outbreak 2001	1/2a	ND*	CDC
J0161C	USA	Ciprofloxacin adapted mutant of strain J0161	1/2a	ND	MRM2011
2011-2857	NM	Food cantaloupe, 2011 outbreak	1/2a	ND	CDC
2011-2858	NM	Food cantaloupe, 2011 outbreak	1/2b	ND	CDC
2011-2875	NM	Food cantaloupe, 2011 outbreak	1/2a	ND	CDC
2010-1723	TX	Food Chicken salad celery	1/2a	ND	CDC
4b1	Germany	Clinical; Spinal fluid of child with mening itis	4b	ECIa	CDC
SCOTT A	Massachusetts, USA	1983 Outbreak / reference strain for dairy product studies	4b	ECIa	CDC
OLM 121	Ontario, Canada	Clinical; 1957/human	4b	ECIa	OLM
OLM 144	Brazil	Clinical; 1961/human	4b	ECIa	OLM
OLM 10	Massachusetts, USA	Clinical; 1933/child	4b	ECI	OLM
OLM 125	Ontario, Canada	Clinical; 1959/infant	4b	ECI	OLM
OLM 97	Nova Scotia, Canada	Clinical: 1954/human	4b	ECI	OLM
OLM 147	BC, Canada	Clinical; 1961/human	4b	ECI	OLM
OLM 43	Ontario, Canada	1949/cow	4b	ECI	OLM
OLM 143	Ontario, Canada	Clinical; 1961/human	4b	ECI	OLM

Table 3.7.1.L monocytogenes strains employed in this study

*ND – not determined

Set of 18 strains were chosen by the serotype and source. Six of strains were involved in food related outbreaks. 12 were clinical isolates connected to sporadic cases occurred in early 20th century. Each bacterial culture was grown overnight at 37°C in brain heart infusion broth (BHI; Becton Dickinson and Co., Sparks, MD) and centrifuged at 7000×g (Rotor JA-14, Beckman, Palo Alto, CA, USA) for 10 min. The supernatant was discarded and the cell pellets

were washed twice and resuspended in 10ml of sterile de-ionized water, followed by serial dilutions in sterile de-ionized water to the final concentration of 10⁵cfu/ml, in raw and pasteurized milk, respectively.

3.7.2. Milk: Fresh whole raw and pasteurized milk was obtained from North Carolina State University'sDairy Plant. For each experiment, the raw and pasteurized milk were from the same batch, consisting of bulk tank milk collected from various herds in North Carolina and transported to the dairy plant. Prior to each test milk was screened and confirmed to be free of *L. monocytogenes* by enriching 25ml in 25ml of Fraser broth (Oxoid) at 37°C for 48 hrs.

3.7.3. Survival and growth determinations: Aliquots (10ml) of raw and pasteurized milk were inoculated with 100µl of each *L. monocytogenes* strain, respectively, for the final concentration of 10^5 cfu/ml. Milk was stored at 8C and samples tested each 24 hours over the 10 days of experiment. Serial dilutions were prepared in sterile deionized water and aliquots (0.1ml) plated on BHIA for the enumeration of total aerobes and MOX for *L. monocytogenes* enumeration. Plates were incubated for 48 hours at 37°C and results presented as log CFU/ml. An uninoculated control, in duplicate, at each time point, was used to determine presence of background microflora. Results present average between two independent trials each done in duplicate.

3.7.4. Statistical Analysis. Both trials were performed in duplicate, and the data presented as the standard deviations obtained for the replications. Statistical analysis was performed for multiple comparisons of the means and standard deviations for different variables. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was carried out to determine the significant difference (p < 0.04) using the SAS program Version 9.1 (Cary, NC).

4.0. RESULTS

4.1. Adaptation of *Listeria monocytogenes* to Ciprofloxacin or to the Disinfectant Benzalkonium Chloride Results in Reduced Susceptibility to Ciprofloxacin, Gentamicin Benzalkonium Chloride and Other Toxic Compounds

4.1.1. Presence of pLM80 does not impact MICs to antibiotics. *L. monocytogenes* H7550 Cd^{R} harbors the 80 kb plasmid (pLM80), which contains a cadmium resistance cassette as well as a cassette (*bcrABC*) mediating resistance to BC (4, 24). As expected, MICs to Cd and BC were markedly reduced in the cured derivatives, from 140 to 10µg/ml and from 40 to 10µg/ml, respectively. However, the cured derivatives exhibited the same MICs to the panel of antibiotics, EthBr and to TPP as the parental strains (data not shown). Similar data were obtained with the plasmid-cured derivative of the serotype 1/2a strain J0161, which harbors a pLM80-like plasmid that confers resistance to Cd and BC (15). The findings indicated that these plasmids conferred resistance to Cd and BC, but did not influence MICs to the other antimicrobial agents that were tested.

4.1.2. *L. monocytogenes* mutants selected on ciprofloxacin also exhibit reduced susceptibility to gentamicin. Colonies growing at inhibitory concentrations of ciprofloxacin were selected for further characterization, using two independent ciprofloxacin-selected mutants (C_1 and C_2) for strains H7550, J0161 and SK2802, respectively. Mutants selected on ciprofloxacin exhibited reduced susceptibility to this antibiotic, with four to 32 fold (8 to 64µg/ml) increases in MICs, depending on the strain (Fig.4.1.1A and B); independent mutants of the same strain exhibited similar increases in MIC values (data not shown).



Fig.4.1.1.Mutants selected on ciprofloxacin also exhibit reduced susceptibility to gentamicin and BC. MICs for ciprofloxacin (cipro), gentamicin (G) and benzalkonium chloride (BC) were determined for: A, plasmid-harboring strain J0161 Cd^R (white columns) and its ciprofloxacin-selected mutant J0161 $Cd^R C_1$ (gray), as well as for the plasmid-cured strain J0161 Cd^S (black) and its ciprofloxacin-selected mutant J0161 $Cd^S C_1$ (stippled); B, plasmid-harboring strain H7550 Cd^R (white) and its ciprofloxacin-selected mutant H7550 $Cd^R C_1$ (gray), as well as for the plasmid-cured strain H7550 $Cd^R C_1$ (gray), as well as for the plasmid-cured strain H7550 $Cd^S C_1$ (stippled); C. strain SK 2802 (white) and its ciprofloxacin-selected mutant SK 2802 C_1 (gray). MICs were determined as described in Materials and Methods.

Interestingly, even though as described above the presence of the plasmid in H7550 Cd^R and J0161 Cd^R did not impact MICs to any of the tested antibiotics, ciprofloxacin-selected mutants of the plasmid-harboring strains consistently exhibited higher MICs to ciprofloxacin than ciprofloxacin-selected mutants of the corresponding plasmid-cured strains (Fig. 4.1.1A and B). This was especially pronounced with ciprofloxacin-selected mutants of strain J0161 Cd^R, which exhibited a 32 fold increase in MIC, in contrast to the 8 fold increase in MIC observed with ciprofloxacin-selected mutants of J0161 Cd^S (Fig.4.1.1A).

Mutants selected on ciprofloxacin exhibited no change in their susceptibility to ampicillin, rifampin, streptomycin, trimethoprim, erythromycin, tetracycline, fosfomycin or kanamycin (data not shown). However, susceptibility to gentamicin was consistently reduced in all tested ciprofloxacin-selected mutants. As observed with ciprofloxacin MICs, ciprofloxacin-selected mutants of plasmid-harboring strains exhibited higher MICs to gentamicin than mutants of their plasmid-cured counterparts (Fig.4.1.1A and B). This difference was again especially noticeable with J0161 Cd^R C₁, which exhibited a 32 fold increase in MIC to gentamicin in comparison to J0161 Cd^R, whereas J0161 Cd^S C₁ exhibited 8 fold increase in MIC in comparison to J0161 Cd^S (Fig. 4.1.1A). The same trend was observed with independently isolated mutants of the same strain (data not shown). Increases in both ciprofloxacin and gentamicin MICs were also observed with ciprofloxacin-selected mutants of strain SK2802 (Fig. 4.1.1C).

4.1.3. *L. monocytogenes* mutants selected for increased resistance to ciprofloxacin also exhibit markedly reduced susceptibility to BC, EthBr and TPP. As discussed above, the plasmid-cured derivatives H7550 Cd^S and J0161 Cd^S exhibited reduced tolerance to BC (MIC, 10μ g/ml). However, BC susceptibility determinations of ciprofloxacin-selected mutants H7550 Cd^S C₁ and J0161 Cd^S C₁ revealed that the mutants had markedly increased MIC (30μ g/ml) for BC (Fig.4.1.1A and B); identical results were obtained with H7550 Cd^S C₂ and J0161 Cd^S C₂ (data not shown). MICs were not altered in ciprofloxacin-selected mutants of the plasmid-harboring strains (Fig. 1A and B). Ciprofloxacin-selected mutants of SK 2802, which lacks resistance to BC, also exhibited increases in MIC to BC (Fig. 4.1.1C).

Resistance to ciprofloxacin was also accompanied by reduced susceptibility to EthBr and the toxic compound TPP, both of which are MDR efflux substrates. EthBr MICs increased from $20\mu g/ml$ in the parental strains to $200\mu g/ml$ in the ciprofloxacin-selected mutants, regardless of whether the strains harbored plasmids or not (data not shown). A 4 fold increase in MIC was also observed with TPP (from $100\mu M$ in the parental strains to $400\mu M$ in the ciprofloxacin-selected mutants (data not shown). However, no impact was detected on MICs of Cd or sodium arsenite (data not shown).

4.1.4. *L. monocytogenes* mutants selected for increased resistance to BC also exhibit markedly reduced susceptibility to ciprofloxacin, gentamicin, EthBr and TPP.

The plasmid-cured derivatives H7550 Cd^S and J0161 Cd^S as well as strain SK 2802 lack the BC resistance cassette *bcrABC* and exhibited relatively low tolerance to BC (MIC 10 μ g/ml). At least two independent mutants from each strain were isolated on media with BC and designated BC₁ and BC₂. BC-selected mutants of all strains exhibited increases in their MIC for BC (from 10 to 30 μ g/ml) (Fig. 4.1.2, and data not shown).



Fig. 4.1.2.Mutants selected on BC also exhibit reduced susceptibility to ciprofloxacin and gentamicin. Antimicrobial susceptibility to ciprofloxacin (cipro), gentamicin (G) and benzalkonium chloride (BC) were determined for plasmid-cured strain H7550 Cd^S (white) and its BC-selected mutant H7550 Cd^S BC₁ (gray); plasmid-cured strain J0161 Cd^S (black) and its BC-selected mutant J0161 Cd^S BC₁ (stippled); strain SK 2802 (dashed horizontal) and its BC-selected mutant SK 2802 BC₁ (diagonal). MICs were determined as described in Materials and Methods.

However, these mutants also exhibited 4 to 8 fold increase in resistance to ciprofloxacin and 2 fold to 8 fold increase in resistance to gentamicin (Fig.4.1.2). In addition, these BC-selected mutants exhibited higher tolerance to EthBr and TPP, with the increases in MICs being identical to those described above with ciprofloxacin-selected mutants (MICs increasing from 20 to 200μ g/ml for EthBr and from 100 to 400μ M for TPP) (data not shown). There was no impact on MICs to the other antibiotics in the panel, or to Cd and sodium arsenite (data not shown).

4.1.5. Antimicrobial agent MICs of ciprofloxacin-selected and BC-selected mutants of *L*. monocytogenes are reduced in the presence of the efflux pump inhibitor reserpine.

Ciprofloxacin MICs for all ciprofloxacin-selected mutants were reduced at least 4 fold in the presence of the efflux inhibitor reserpine; the extent of reduction was more pronounced in mutants with high MICs ($32\mu g/ml$ or $64\mu g/ml$), for which 8 fold MIC reductions were observed in the presence of reserpine (Fig. 4.1.3A and data not shown).



B.



A.



Fig. 4.1.3.Ciprofloxacin-selected mutants of *L. monocytogenes* **exhibit reduced MICs to ciprofloxacin, gentamicin, benzalkonium chloride and ethidium bromide in the presence of the efflux inhibitor reserpine.** A. Susceptibility to ciprofloxacin (cipro) and gentamicin (G) was determined in the presence and absence of reserpine (R). Strains are as indicated in Table 1 and in legends to Fig. 1 and Fig. 2. MICs for ciprofloxacin were determined in the absence (white) and presence (gray) of reserpine. MICs for gentamicin were also determined in the absence (black) and presence (stippled) of reserpine. B. MICs for benzalkonium chloride (BC) in the absence (white) and presence (white) and presence (black) of reserpine (R). C. MICs for ethidium bromide (EthBr) in the absence (white) and presence (black) of reserpine (R). MICs were determined as described in Materials and Methods.

MICs to gentamicin also declined in the presence of reserpine (e.g. from 16 to $2\mu g/ml$ in the case of SK 2802 C₁) (Fig. 4.1.3A). Ciprofloxacin and gentamicin MICs of the wildtype parental strains were also reduced (one to two-fold) in the presence of reserpine (data not shown).

In the presence of reserpine, the ciprofloxacin-selected mutants had increased susceptibility to BC (Fig. 4.1.3B), EthBr (Fig. 4.1.3C) and TPP (data not shown). MIC reductions for BC and EthBr were also noticed for the parental strains that were free of the plasmid, whereas no impact was noted in the plasmid-harboring strains H7550 Cd^R and J0161 Cd^R (Fig.4.1.3B and 3C). Mutants obtained following exposure to BC showed similar trends of reduction of MICs for ciprofloxacin, gentamicin, BC, EthBr and TPP in the presence of reserpine (Fig.4.1. 4A, B and data not shown).



B.





A.

The disk diffusion method was employed to assess susceptibility of the ciprofloxacin- or BCselected mutants to moxifloxacin, a fluoroquinolone that is not a substrate for drug efflux systems (6). None of the mutants exhibited significant changes in their susceptibility to moxifloxacin, and MICs were also not significantly affected by reserpine (Table 4.1.4 and data not shown).

Table 4.1.4. Moxifloxacin susceptibility of ciprofloxacin and BC-selected mutants of L
monocytogenes

Strain	Inhibition zone diameter (mm) ¹				
	Reserpine present	Reserpine absent			
J0161Cd ^R	25	26			
$J0161Cd^{R}C_{1}$	25	26			
J0161Cd ^S	26	27			
$J0161Cd^{S}C_{1}$	27	29			
J0161Cd ^S BC ₁	26	26			
H7550Cd ^R	26	27			
H7550Cd ^R C ₁	25	26			
H7550Cd ^s	25	27			
H7550Cd ^S C ₁	27	28			
H7550Cd ^S BC ₁	26	26			

Ciprofloxacin- and BC-selected mutants of L. monocytogenes exhibited no change in their susceptibility to bile salts, triclosan, or SDS. MICs for bile salts, triclosan, and SDS were 0.1%, 64µg/ml, and 250µg/ml, respectively, both for the parental strains and for the mutants selected on ciprofloxacin or BC.

4.1.6. Expression of MDR transporter *lde* was enhanced in mutant obtained following exposure to BC. Expression of *lde* was enhanced in BC-selected mutant H7550 $Cd^S BC_1$ in comparison to the parental strain H7550 Cd^S (Fig. 4.1.5B). We failed to obtain evidence for expression of other chromosomal MFS transporters including *mdrL*, *mdrM* or *mdrT* in either the wildtype parental strains or their BC-selected and ciprofloxacin-selected derivatives (Fig. 4.1.5C and data not shown).



Fig.4.1.5.Benzalkonium chloride-selected mutant exhibits enhanced transcription of *lde* in comparison to parental strain. RT-PCR was employed to assess expression of the housekeeping gene *spoVG*, used as control (A), *lde* (B) and *mdrL* (C). Lanes: 1, H7550 Cd^{S} ; 2, H7550 $Cd^{S} BC_{1}$; 3, H7550 Cd^{S} genomic DNA; 4, H7550 Cd^{S} RNA (to confirm absence of genomic DNA in the RNA used for RT-PCR); M, 100 - 2,686 bp DNA molecular marker XIV (Roche). Arrows indicate the size of the expected PCR product. RT-PCR was done as described in Materials and Methods.

4.2. Identification of *L monocytogenes* antibiotic resistance genes under control of tetR repressors

4.2.1. *Listeria* MDR that may emerge in healthcare settings and food processing plants is of clear public health relevance, but its molecular basis remains uncharacterized. Previous studies focused on two genes, *mdrL* (and its repressor *ladR*) (106, 107, 144, 186, 187) and *lde* (86, 187). The transporters identified in the searches by Crimmins et al (2008) belonged to the Major Facilitator Superfamily. However, resistance of the mutants to toxic compounds known to be substrates for MDR transporters was not reported. Our analysis of these mutants (kindly provided by D. Portnoy) revealed that the *tetR*::Tn917 mutant had pronounced increase in resistance to TPP (an anticancer drug commonly used as MDR substrate [95, 96]), and resistance was reduced in the presence of the efflux inhibitor reserpine (Fig. 1; reserpine treated cells indicated as "*tetR*: Tn917+R"). However, deletion of *mdrT* did not affect tolerance levels to TPP (Fig. 4.2.1).



Fig.4.2.1. Resistance of *L* monocytogenes 10403S and selected mutants to TPP. *TetR::Tn917* mutant had pronounced increase in resistance to TPP (an anticancer drug commonly used as MDR substrate), and resistance was reduced in the presence of the efflux inhibitor reserpine. Mutant MRMT1 isolated from mariner-based mutant library of the strain 10403S also exhibited high resistance level

This finding was in agreement with the earlier observed failure of TPP exposure to induce expression of mdrT (46). Resistance of the *tetR*::Tn917 mutant could be mediated by

increased expression of MDR transporter(s) other than *mdrT*, but also repressed by *tetR*. Screening mutant libraries of two *L. monocytogenes* strains, F2365 (serotype 4b), and 10403S (serotype 1/2a), with the *mariner*-based transposon plasmid pMC38 (Figure 4.2.2)



Fig. 4.2.2. Map of the mariner-based delivery vector pMc38/39 (modified from Cao et al. 2007).

(6, 24) in attempt to indentify such transporter(s) failed to isolate mutants with inpared resistance to TPP. However, five mutants of strain 10403S with significant increase in TPP resistance were indentified. Minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) of TPP for isolated mutants was 400uM/ml, whereas parental strain 10403S had MIC of 70uM/ml and tetR::Tn917 200uM/ml (Fig. 4.2.3).



Fig. 4.2.3.MIC of TPP for LmDP-L5396 *tetR::Tn917* and mariner mutant.At the concentration of 150uM TPP both *tetR::Tn917* and mariner-based mutant grew equally, but at the concentration of 200uM/ml tetR *tetR::Tn917* failed to grow.

Further genetic characterization of mutants revealed that one of these *tetR*-like mutants had insertion in tetR gene. All mutants harbored single transposon insertion and one characterized had transposon integrated in LMRG_01858 (sucrose phosphorylase) (Fig. 5.2.4).



Fig. 4.2.4. LMRG_01858 (sucrose phosphorylase)

In this study we provided evidence of mutant libraries as a significant genetic tool in screening for changes in phenotype and genotype. Even though we failed to isolate mutants with inpaired resistance to TPP, tetR::Tn917 mutants with pronounced (8-fold) increase in TPP resistance have been isolated. One of these mutants had insertion in tetR gene.

Characterization of such mutant revealed transposon integrated in LMRG_01858 (sucrose phosphorylase). Such data suggest that the observed TPP resistance of the *tetR*::Tn917 mutant involve increased expression of MDR transporter(s) other than *mdrT*, but also repressed by *tetR*.

4.3. Co-selection of cadmium and benzalkonium chloride resistance in conjugative transfers from non-pathogenic *Listeria* spp. to other listeriae

4.3.1. Bacterial strains used in this study. Five BC-resistant strains of non-pathogenic *Listeria* spp. (four strains of *L. welshimeri* and *L. innocua* L1221) were used as potential donors of BC resistance to other non-pathogenic listeriae (*L. welshimeri* L1316S, *L. welshimeri* L0927S and *L. innocua* L1206S). All BC-resistant donor strains were also resistant to cadmium (Table 4.3.1). To further assess conjugative transfer of resistance we used as potential donors of cadmium resistance six *L. innocua* strains resistant to cadmium but susceptible to BC (Table 4.3.1).

Strain	Resistance	Genotype ²		e²	Source or reference
Donor strains		cadA1	cadA2	bcrABC	
L. innocua					
L0910	Cd ^R	-	-	-	This study
L1214B	Cd ^R	+	-	-	This study
L1306A	Cd ^R	+	-	-	This study
CLIP 11262	Cd ^R	-	+	-	(16)
L1221	Cd ^R BC ^R	-	+	+	This study
L1333a	Cd ^R	-	+	-	This study
L0921	Cd ^R	+	-	-	This study
L. welshimeri					-
L0725	Cd ^R BC ^R	-	+	+	This study
L1325	Cd ^R BC ^R	-	+	+	This study
L0918	Cd ^R BC ^R	-	+	+	This study
L0926	Cd ^R BC ^R	-	+	+	This study
Recipient strains					
L. innocua					
L1206S	Str ^R	-	-	-	This study
L. welshimeri					
L1316S	Str ^R	-	-	-	This study
L0927S	Str ^R	-	-	-	This study
L. monocytogenes (serotype)					
1/2a3 (1/2a)	Str ^R	-	-	-	(22)
10403S (1/2a)	Str ^R	-	-	-	(37)
2381L (4b)	Str ^R	-	-	-	(39)
2857S (1/2a)	Str ^R	-	-	-	This study
2858S (1/2b)	Str ^R	-	-	-	This study

Table 4.3.1. Bacterial strains employed in this study

¹ Cd^R, BC^R and Str^R indicate resistance to cadmium, BC, and streptomycin, respectively, determined as described in M

² Determined by PCR with the respective primers as described in Materials and Methods.

PCR analysis of the strains employed as donors revealed that all BC-resistant strains, regardless of species (*L. welshimeri* or *L. innocua*) harbored *bcrABC* as well as the plasmid-associated cadmium resistance determinant *cadA2*; *cadA2* was also harbored by *L. innocua* 1333a and *L. innocua* CLIP 11262, which were resistant to cadmium but susceptible to BC and lacking *bcrABC*. Three strains of *L. innocua* harbored an alternative plasmid-associated cadmium resistance determinant, *cadA1*, and one cadmium-resistant strain (*L. innocua* L0910) was found to be negative for both *cadA1* and *cadA2* (Fig.4.3.1 and Table 4.3.1).





(A) PCR-based detection of *cadA1* using primers cadA-Tn5422F and cadA-Tn5422R. Lanes 1, 2, 3 and 4, *L. innocua* strains L0910, L0921, L1214B and L1306A, respectively. M, DNA molecular marker XIV (Roche, Indianapolis, IN). Arrow points to the expected *cadA1* PCR product. (B) PCR-based detection of *cadA2* using primers cadA-pLM90F and cadA-pLM90R. Lanes 1, 2, 3 and 4, *L. innocua* strains L0910, L0921, L1214B and L1306A, respectively; lanes 5, 10 and 11, *L. innocua* strains CLIP 11262, L1221 and L1333a, respectively; lanes 6, 7, 8 and 9, *L. welshimeri* strains L0725, L1325, L0918 and L0926, respectively. Lane 12, *L. monocytogenes* H7550, used as positive control (12). M, as in panel A. Arrow points to the expected *cadA2* PCR product. (C) PCR of *bcr*ABC using primers BcF and BcR. Lanes are as in panel B. With the exception of *L. innocua* strains CLIP 11262 also contained *bcr*ABC. M, as in panel A. Arrow points to the expectively, all donors harboring *cadA2* also contained *bcr*ABC. M, as in panel A. Arrow points to the expectively.

None of the strains harbored the chromosomal cadmium resistance determinant *cadA3* (data not shown). Strains used as recipients in the conjugations (*L. welshimeri* L1316S, *L. welshimeri* L0927S and *L. innocua* L1206S) were susceptible to BC and cadmium and lacked *bcrABC*, *cadA1*, *cadA2* or *cadA3* (Table 4.3.1).

4.3.2. *L. welshimeri* and *L. innocua* harboring *cadA2* can readily transfer cadmium resistance to other non-pathogenic listeriae. Results from matings performed at 25°C on filter membranes and on agar were comparable but frequency of transfer was generally higher and more consistent for the latter (data not shown). When transconjugants were obtained, transfer frequency averaged at 10^{-7} to 10^{-8} (Table 4.3.3) confirming that they were derivatives of the recipient strain and not spontaneous streptomycin-resistant mutants of the donor. Plating of the strains employed as recipients on medium with both cadmium and streptomycin failed to identify any spontaneous cadmium-resistant mutants (data not shown).

Recipient								
	L. web	L. welshimeri L. innocua L. monocytogenes			nes			
Donor	L0927S	L1316S	L1206	1/2a3	2381L	10403S	2857S	2858S
L. welshimeri								
L0725	5.8× 107	1.4× 107	<1.0× 10 °	1.8×107	2.8× 10 ⁻³	1.8× 10*	6.7×107	1.6× 107
L1325	3.7× 10 ⁻⁶	5.6× 107	<1.0× 10 °	1.5×107	2.0× 10 ⁻⁸	1.1× 10 ⁻⁸	6.7×107	2.1×107
L0918	2.6× 10 ⁻⁶	1.5×107	<1.0× 10-9	1.5×107	1.4× 10 ⁻⁸	7.4× 10°	5.5×10*	6.1×10°
L0926	3.3×107	1.6× 107	<1.0× 10 ⁻⁹	1.3×107	5.5×10 ⁻³	1.9× 10 ⁻³	4.0× 107	1.5×107
L. innocua								
L0910	<1.0× 10 °	<1.0× 10 ⁻⁹	<1.0× 10 °	<2.8× 10 °	<3.5×10°	<2.4× 10 °	<2.3× 10 ⁻⁹	<2.4× 10 °
L1214B	<1.0× 10 °	<1.0× 10 ⁻⁹	<1.0× 10 °	<3.3×10 °	<4.6× 10 °	<2.0×10 °	<1.8× 10.9	<2.3× 10.9
L0921	<1.0× 10 °	<1.0× 10 ⁻⁹	<1.0× 10 °	<3.0×10 °	<3.7×10°	<2.8×10°	<1.8× 10.9	<16× 10 °
L1306A	<1.0× 10 °	<1.0× 10 ⁻	<1.0× 10-9	<4.6× 10 °	<5.4× 10*	<3.1×10 °	<2.6× 10 °	<3.5× 10.9
CLIP 11262	<4.9× 10 ⁻¹⁰	<2.3× 10 ⁻¹⁰	<4.9× 10 ⁻¹⁰	5.1×10°	7.9×10°	5.6× 10°	9.7×10°	4.1×10 ³
L1221	6.1×10 ⁻⁸	2.7× 107	<4.3× 10 °	1.5×10	8.2× 10 ⁻³	1.1× 10 ⁻³	3.4× 10 ⁻³	6.6×10°
L1333a	1.3×10 ⁻³	2.8× 10 ⁻³	<4.1× 10 ⁻⁹	6.7× 10 ⁻³	1.3× 10 ⁻³	1.6× 107	3.8×107	3.6× 107

Table 4.3.3. Transfer frequency resistance in conjugations between indicated donor and recipient strains¹

¹ Results are from one representative experiment and all experiments were done in at least three independent trials.

Selected putative *L. welshimeri* transconjugants obtained using *L. innocua* as donors were evaluated with PCR using species-specific primers. The putative transconjugants were positive with the *L. welshimeri*-specific primers but negative for those specific for *L. innocua* (Fig. 4.3.2 and data not shown),



Fig.4.3.2 Identification of *L. welshimeri* **transconjugants from conjugations between** *L. welshimeri* **as recipient and** *L. innocua* **as donor.** PCR employed *L. welshimeri*-specific primers Lw_0908_F and Lw_0908_R. Lanes 1 and 2, *L. welshimeri* strains L0725 and L1316S , respectively; lanes 3 and 4, *L. innocua* strains L1221 and L1333a, respectively; lanes 5, 6, 7 and 8, transconjugants from conjugations of *L. welshimeri* L1316S as recipient with donors *L. innocua* 1221 (lanes 5 and 6) and *L. innocua* 1333a (lanes 7 and 8). Arrow points to the expected PCR product.

Efficiency of conjugative transfer depended markedly on the strains employed as donors as well as recipients. Few or no transconjugants were obtained from certain *L. innocua* donors (*L. innocua* strains L0910, L1214B, L1306A and L0921), regardless of the strain that was employed as potential recipient. Furthermore, one of the strains employed as recipient, *L. innocua* L1206S, failed to yield transconjugants with any of the donors (Table 4.3.3).

Based on PCR analysis of the resistance determinants, all donor strains that could efficiently transfer resistance harbored *cadA2*. With the exception of *L. innocua* strains 1333a and CLIP 11262, these strains were also resistant to BC and harbored *bcrABC* (Tables 4.3.1 and 4.3.3). In contrast, of the four other potential donors that failed to yield transconjugants three harbored *cadA1*, and one (*L. innocua* L0910) lacked *cadA1* or *cadA2* (Tables 4.3.1 and 4.3.3). **4.3.3. BC resistance determinant** *bcrABC* **is co-transferred with the cadmium resistance determinant** *cadA2*. As mentioned above, most (five of seven) of the *cadA2*-harboring cadmium-resistant strains employed as donors also harbored the BC resistance cassette

bcrABC. PCR analysis of selected transconjugants obtained using these strains as donors revealed that, in addition to *cadA2*, they also harbored *bcrABC* (Fig. 4.3.3A and 4.3.3C).





monocytogenes 2381L (recipient) and L. welshimeri L1325 (donor). M, as in panel A. Arrow points to the expected *cadA2* PCR product. (C) PCR-based detection of *bcrABC* using BcF and BcR primers. Lanes 1, 3, 6 and 8 strains used as recipients (L. welshimeri strains L0927S and L1316S [lanes 1 and 3, respectively, with unspecific PCR product in lane 3] and L. monocytogenes strains 1/2a3 and L. innocua L1206 [lanes 6 and 8, respectively]); Lanes 2, 4 and 5, transconjugants from conjugations between L. welshimeri L1316S (recipient) and L. welshimeri L1325 (donor); lane 7, transconjugant from conjugation between L. monocytogenes 1/2a3 (recipient) and L. welshimeri L1325 (donor); lane 9, L. monocytogenes H7550, used as positive control (12); M as in panel A. Arrow points to the expected *bcrABC* PCR product. Weak band in lane 3 is unspecific PCR product. (D) PCR-based detection of hly in L. monocytogenes transconjugants using primers hlyAF and hlyAR. Lanes 1 and 2, transconjugants from conjugations between L. monocytogenes 1/2a with L. innocua L1221 (lane 1) and L. innocua L1333a (lane 2); lanes 3-7, transconjugants from conjugations between L. monocytogenes 2381L with L. welshimeri strains L0725 (lane 3), L1325 (lane 4) and L0926 (lane 5) and with L. innocua strains L1221 (lane 6), and L1333a (lane 7); lane 8 is L. monocytogenes 2381L. M, as in panel A. Arrow points to the expected hly PCR product.

The transconjugants exhibited elevated MICs not only for cadmium (200 μ g/ml) but also for BC (35-40 μ g /ml), similar to cadmium and BC MICs for the donor strains; in contrast, the strains used as recipients had MIC values of 10 μ g/ml both for cadmium and for BC.

4.3.4. Non-pathogenic *Listeria* spp. strains can effectively mediate conjugative cotransfer of BC and cadmium resistance to *L. monocytogenes*. To assess the ability of nonpathogenic *Listeria* spp. to serve as donors of BC resistance to *L. monocytogenes*, we employed as potential recipients five *L. monocytogenes* strains of the three serotypes predominant in human listeriosis (1/2a, 1/2b and 4b). The strains included laboratory reference strains (10403S and 1/2a3), a streptomycin-resistant derivative of a strain from the 1985 California outbreak (2381L) as well as streptomycin-resistant derivatives of two strains from the 2011 cantaloupe outbreak (*L. monocytogenes* 2857S and 2858S of serotype 1/2a and 1/2b, respectively) (Table 4.3.1). All *L. monocytogenes* strains employed as potential recipients were susceptible to cadmium and BC (MICs 10 μ g /ml for both compounds) (Table 4.3.1). Regardless of the serotype of the *L. monocytogenes* strains used as recipients, conjugative transfer of resistance from non-pathogenic listeriae to *L. monocytogenes* generally exhibited the same dependence on donor strains that was observed with conjugations among non-pathogenic listeriae. With the exception of CLIP 11262, those *L. innocua* strains that failed to donate cadmium resistance to other non-pathogenic listeriae also failed to transfer such resistance to *L. monocytogenes* (Table 4.3.3). On the other hand, those non-pathogenic *Listeria* spp. donor strains that efficiently transferred BC and cadmium resistance in matings with other non-pathogenic listeriae were found to also transfer the resistance determinants to *L. monocytogenes*. When these strains were used as donors transconjugants were readily obtained from all *L. monocytogenes* strains in the panel, including the two strains associated with the recent cantaloupe outbreak (Table 4.3.3).

Acquisition of *cadA2* by *L. monocytogenes* was confirmed by PCR (Fig. 4.3.3A, B and data not shown). Furthermore, when the donors also harbored *bcrABC*, this cassette was detected in the cadmium-resistant transconjugants as well (Fig.4.3.3C and data not shown). Transconjugants were also tested for hemolytic activity on blood agar plates and by PCR with primers specific for *hly*, encoding the *L. monocytogenes* virulence determinant Listeriolysin O and absent from *L. innocua* or *L. welshimeri*. All tested transconjugants were hemolytic and produced the *hly* amplicon (Fig. 4.3.3D and data not shown), confirming that they were derived from the *L. monocytogenes* recipients and were not spontaneous streptomycin-resistant derivatives of the donors. As noted above with transconjugants from conjugations between non-pathogenic *Listeria* spp., the *L. monocytogenes* transconjugants exhibited elevated MICs for cadmium and BC (200 and 35-40 µg/ml, respectively), similar to those of the donor strains.

4.3.5. Temperature affects transfer of BC and cadmium resistance to non-pathogenic listeriae while transfer to *L. monocytogenes* is equally efficient at 25 and 37°C. Non-pathogenic *Listeria* spp. donor-recipient combinations that failed to yield transconjugants at 25°C were similarly negative at 37°C (data not shown). However, for the other combinations the frequency of transfer of BC and cadmium resistance among non-pathogenic listeriae was higher when conjugations were done at 25 than at 37°C. The impact of temperature was

dependent on the recipient strain, being noticeably stronger for *L. welshimeri* L0927S than for *L. welshimeri* L1316S (Fig.4.3. 4 A, B).



Conjugation

Fig. 4.3.4 Impact of conjugation temperature (25°C vs. 37°C) on frequency of transfer of cadmium resistance in conjugations among non-pathogenic *Listeria* spp. (A) A, B, C and D, transfer frequency from conjugations between *L. welshimeri* L0927S as recipient and *L. welshimeri* strains L0725, L1325, L0918 and L0926, respectively, as donors. (B) A, B, C and D, transfer frequency from conjugations between *L. welshimeri* L1316S as recipient and *L. welshimeri* strains L0725, L1325, L0918 and L0926, respectively, as donors. Conjugations were done on agar plates at 25°C (gray bars) or 37°C (white bars) and transfer frequency was determined as described in Materials and Methods. Results are from one representative experiment and experiments were done in at least three independent trials.

Interestingly, efficiency of transfer of resistance from these same donors to *L. monocytogenes* was not affected by temperature. Transfer was equally efficient at 25 and 37°C for all *L. monocytogenes* strains in the panel, regardless of serotype (data not shown).

4.3.6. Evidence of pLM80-like plasmids in BC and cadmium-resistant non-pathogenic donors. To determine whether the *L. innocua* and *L. welshimeri* strains employed as donors harbored plasmids similar to pLM80, these strains were tested by PCR with primers derived from a panel of ORFS at different sites of pLM80 (Table 4.3.2).

Gene	PCR primer sequence (5'-3')	Target gene and protein function	GenBank accession no.	Reference
cadA-Tn5422F	CAGAGCACTTTACTGACCATCAATCGTT	Tn5422-associated cadA (cadA1)	L28104	(32)
cadA-Tn5422R	CTTCTTCATTTAACGTTCCAGCAAAAA			
cadA-pLM80F	ACAAGTTAGATCAAAAGAGTCTTTTATT	cadA on pLM80 (cadA2)	AADR01000058	(32)
cadA-pLM80R	ATCTTCTTCATTTAGTGTTCCTGCAAAT			
cadA-EGDeF	TGGTAATTTCTTTAAGTCATCTCCCATT	cadA of strain EGD-e (cadA3)	AL591824	(32)
cadA-EGDeR	GCGATGATTGATAATGTCGATTACAAAT			
BcF	GAATGGATCCTTCAATTAGATCGAGGCACG	bcrABC	AADR01000058	(12)
BcR	GTATGAATTCGTATAATCCGGATGCTGCCC			
hlyF	CGGAGGTTCCGCAAAAGATG	hly		(15)
hlyR	CCTCCAGAGTGATCGATGTT			
Lw_0908_F	CTTCTCTTTCAGTAGACAGTGAAGC	L. welshimeri-specific sequence	NC_008555	(18)
Lw_0908_R	CCATCCTTGTTTCGCCCTTCTTC			
Li_0558_F	GGTGTCTACTTTGTAACGGCCAC	L. innocua-specific sequence	NC_003212.	(16)
Li_0558_R	CGGTAGCTTTTGTTAGCATCCCTG			
pLM80-0004F	CATAGCGATCATACGCATTG	LMOh7858_pLM80_0004 (hypothetical	AADR01000010	This
pLM80-0007R	AGCAGCATGTAGAAGCAGC	protein)		study
pLM80-0007F	CTCAACACTAAGTCGGTACC	LMOh7858_pLM80_0007 (hypothetical	AADR01000010	This
pLM80-0007R	CCATTCAAGCTGCGAAAG	protein)		study
pLM80-0008F	CCCAAGTTTTCCAGTAGCTG	LMOh7858_pLM80_0008 (conserved	AADR01000010	This
pLM80-0008R	AGGATACACAAGCTCGGAAG	nypotnetical proteinj		study

Table 4.3.2. Primers used in this study

The findings suggested that strains positive for *bcrABC* as well as *cadA2* (*L. innocua* 1221 and all four *L. welshimeri* donors) harbored plasmids highly similar to pLM80, with all primer pairs in the panel yielding the expected amplicons. In contrast, strains harboring *cadA2* but

lacking *bcrABC* (*L. innocua* strains 1333a and CLIP 11262) failed to produce several of the expected amplicons (Fig. 4.3.5).



Strain (species)

Fig. 4.3.5 Detection of pLM80 genes in non-pathogenic *Listeria* **spp. used as donors**. Black and white boxes indicate presence or absence, respectively, of the expected PCR product. LW, LI and LM in strain (species) designations refer to *L. welshimeri*, *L. innocua* and *L. monocytogenes*, respectively. *L. monocytogenes* H7858 harbors pLM80 (33) and is included as positive control. PCR-based detection of the indicated genes was done employing the pLM80-derived primes listed in Table 2, as described in Materials and Methods.

Strains harboring *cadA1* yielded amplicons with only three primer pairs in the panel, two of which were derived from plasmid replication-associated genes, while no amplicons were obtained using *L. innocua* L0910 (cadmium-resistant but lacking *cadA1* or *cadA2*) (Fig. 4.3.5). It is noteworthy that all donors consistently involved in high efficiency transfer (*L. welshimeri* L0725, L1225, L0918 and L0926; *L. innocua* L1333a and L1221) harbored LMOh7858_pLM80_0022, encoding a putative TraG/TraD family protein that may be involved in facilitating plasmid transfer (Fig. 4.3.5).

4.4. Resistance gene distribution among non-pathogenenic *Listeriae* from different poultry processing plants

4.4.1. Heavy metal and BC resistance in non-pathogenic *Listeria* **spp.** Resistance to cadmium was highly prevalent, exceeding 90% for both *L. welshimeri* and *L. innocua*. Resistance to BC, while also highly prevalent in both species, was more common in *L. welshimeri* (83%) than *L. innocua* (73%) but difference was not statistically significant. In contrast, arsenic resistance was relatively uncommon (<10%) in either species (Fig. 4.4.1).



Fig. 4.4.1. Heavy metal and BC resistance in non-pathogenic *Listeriae* **spp.** Resistance to cadmium was highly prevalent, exceeding 90% for both *L. welshimeri* and *L. innocua*. Resistance to BC, while also highly prevalent in both species, was more common in *L. welshimeri* (83%) than *L. innocua* (73%). In contrast, arsenic resistance was relatively uncommon (<10%) in either specie

4.4.2. *cadA* distribution in non-pathogenic *Listeria spp*. The majority of the isolates harbored *cadA2* (43%), followed by *cadA1* (30%). Isolates with both *cadA1* and *cadA2* were relatively uncommon (7%); only a single isolate harbored *cadA4* and *cadA3* was not detected. A subset (12%) of cadmium-resistant isolates lacked any of the known *cadA* genes. Cadmium-susceptible isolates also lacked the known *cadA* genes (Fig. 4.4.2).



Fig. 4.4. 2. *cadA* **distribution in non-pathogenic** *Listeriae* **spp.** The majority of the isolates harbored *cadA2* (43%), followed by *cadA1* (30%). Isolates with both *cadA1* and *cadA2* were relatively uncommon (7%) and only single isolate harbored *cadA4*. A fraction (12%) of cadmium resistant isolates lacked any of the known *cadA* genes. Cadmium susceptible isolates also lacked the known *cadA* genes

4.4.3. *cadA* **distribution in** *L. welshimeri* **and** *L. innocua: cadA1* and *cadA2* were similarly common in *L. welshimeri* (A) and *L. innocua* (B). Isolates harboring both *cadA1* and *cadA2* also were similarly prevalent in the two species (6-8%). Cadmium-resistant isolates lacking known *cadA* genes were more common among *L. welshimeri* (16%) than *L. innocua* (9%) (Fig. 4.4.3)



Fig. 4.4.3. *cadA* **distribution in** *L. welshimeri and L. innocua*. Both *cadA1* and *cadA2* were similarly common in *L. welshimeri* (A) and *L. innocua* (B). Distribution of isolates harboring both *cadA1* and *cadA2* genes seem to be slightly higher in *L. welshimeri* (8%) then *L. innocua* (6%). Cadmium-resistant isolates lacking known *cadA* genes were more common among *L. welshimeri* (16%) then *L.innocua* (9%)

4.4.4. Plant-specific prevalence of *cadA* **genes in** *L. welshimeri*: For *L. welshimeri*, plantspecific differences were noted in *cadA2* prevalence, which was higher in isolates from plant B (73%) than A (36%) or F (14%). Comparisons among this three plants revealed significant difference in *cadA2* prevalence between B and F (p=0.0035). In contrast, *cadA1* was more prevalent in isolates from F (64%) than A (14%) or B (8%) with difference statistically significant between plants A and F (p=0.0036) and between B and F (p=0.0003). Cadmiumresistant isolates lacking the known *cadA* genes were identified in all plants with >10 isolates and were more common in plant A (32%) than B (8%) or F (14%) with no significant difference among plants (Fig. 4.4.4).



Fig. 4.4.4 Plant – specific prevalence of *cadA* **genes in** *L. welshimeri*: Plant-specific differences were noted in *cadA2* prevalence, which was higher in isolates from plant B (36%) or F (14%). In contrast, *cadA1* was more prevalent in isolates from plant F (64%) than A (14%) or B (8%). Cadmium- resistant isolates lacking the known *cadA* genes were identified in all plants with >10% isolates and were more common in plant A (32%) than B (8%) or F (14%)

4.4.5. Plant-specific prevalence of *cadA* **genes in** *L. innocua*: *cadA1* was markedly more prevalent in three plants, C (77%), F (55%) and B (37%) than in A (6%). Comparisons of *cadA1* prevalence in plant A with plants B, C and F revealed that difference was statistically significant (p=0.0102, 0.0002, 0.0049, respectively).On the other hand, *cadA2* was more prevalent in A (61%) and B (40%) than C (15%) or F (18%), with statistically significant difference between plants A and C (p=0.0129). Cadmium-resistant isolates

lacking any of the known *cadA* genes were detected in A (14%) and B (11%) with no significant difference among the plants, but not in C or F (Fig. 4.4.5).



Fig. 4.4.5. Plant – specific prevalence of *cadA* genes in *L. innocua*: *cadA1* was markedly more prevalent in three plants C (77%), F (55%) and B (37%) than in A (6%). On the other hand, *cadA2* was more prevalent in A (61%) and B (40%) than C (15%) or F (18%). Cadmium-resistant isolates lacking any of the known *cadA* genes were detected in A (14%) and B (11%) but not in C or F.

4.4.6. Plant-specific comparisons between species:

Plant A: *cadA1* was relatively uncommon, regardless of species (14 and 6% of *L. welshimeri* and *L. innocua*, respectively), while *cadA2* was frequent, regardless of species (36 and 61% of *L. welshimeri* and *L. innocua*, respectively).

Plant F: *cadA1* was predominant, regardless of species (64 and 55% for *L. welshimeri* and *L. innocua*, respectively).

Plant B: *cadA1* was noticeably more common for *L. innocua* (37%) than *L. welshimeri* (8%), while the reverse was found for *cadA2* (73% of *L. welshimeri* vs. 40% of *L. innocua*).
Isolates lacking known *cadA* genes appear to be generally more common in *L. welshimeri* than *L. innocua*, primarily due to data from plants A and F, whereas distribution of Cd susceptible isolates was equal among the species.

4.4.7. BC resistance: Resistance to BC was highly prevalent (79-82%) among *L. welshimeri* isolates from all plants with >10 isolates (A, B, F). BC resistance prevalence was 58% in *L. innocua* from plant B, but markedly higher (85-93%) in *L. innocua* from plants A, C and F. Difference was significant between plants A and B (p=0.0052). Lower prevalence in plant B isolates was the reason for the overall lower prevalence of BC resistance in *L. innocua* (73%) than *L. welshimeri* (83%). All BC-resistant isolates harbored the *bcrABC* resistance cassette earlier found to be transferrable from non-pathogenic *Listeriae* to other *Listeria* (4). (Fig. 4.4.6)





Fig. 4.4.6. Plant-specific BC resistance: Resistance to BC was highly prevalent (79-82%) among *L. welshimeri* isolates from all plants with >10 isolates (A, B, F). BC resistance prevalence was 58% in *L. innocua* from plant B, but markedly higher (85-93%) in *L. innocua* from plants A, C and F. Lower prevalence in plant B isolates was the reason for the overall lower prevalence of BC resistance in *L. innocua* (73%) than *L. welshimeri* (83%). All BC-resistant isolates harbored the *bcrABC* resistance cassette. All BC-resistant isolates were also resistant to cadmium, but the reverse was not the case. An estimated 14% *L. welshimeri* and 23% *L. innocua* isolates were resistant to cadmium but susceptible to BC. Most of these isolates harbored *cadA1* (45%), followed by *cadA2* (29%), with 16% lacking any of the known *cadA* genes.

All BC-resistant isolates were also resistant to cadmium, but the reverse was not the case. An estimated 14% *L. welshimeri* and 23% of *L. innocua* isolates were resistant to cadmium but susceptible to BC. Most of these isolates harbored *cadA1* (45%), followed by *cadA2* (29%), with 16% lacking any of the known *cadA* genes. Among isolates harboring *cadA1* determinant highly prevalent were BC resistant (p=0.0003). Similarly high prevalence of BC resistance was observed among isolates harboring *cadA2* cassette (p<0.0001).

4.4.8. PFGE. Clusters of isolates with indistinguishable or closely related PFGE profiles were identified both in *L. innocua* and *L. welshimeri*. Most clusters were plant-specific, and included isolates from different sites in the plant and isolation dates, suggesting strains that were persistent and disseminated in the plant. Isolates in the same cluster frequently exhibited the same resistance profiles and *cadA-bcrABC* genotype. However, several exceptions were also noted, suggesting local gene acquisition or loss events (Fig. 4.4.7).

PFGE - Apa I	PFGE - Asc I	PFGE - Apa I								
50 100			Key	Species	Plant Code	Date Received	CdCl2 70	BC 10	cadA	bcrABC
 			L1208	welshimeri	В	2005-04-05	+	+	2	+
			L1225	welshimeri	В	2005-04-05	+	+	2	+
			L1228a	welshimeri	В	2005-01-18	+	+	2	+
			L1228b	welshimeri	В	2005-04-05	+	+	2	+
			L1316	welshimeri	В	2005-04-05	-	-	-	-
			L1325	welshimeri	В	2005-04-05	+	+	2	+
			L0725	welshimeri	В	2004-05-18	+	+	2	+
	er si désti tota dess		L0914	welshimeri	В	2004-12-09	+	+	2	+
		I CARDON ST.	L0918	welshimeri	В	2004-12-09	+	+	2	+
ГЦ		II WINDOW	L0926	welshimeri	В	2004-12-09	+		2	+
		I DORES	L0927	welshimeri	В	2004-12-09	-		•	-
			L0903	welshimeri	В	2004-12-09	+	+	1	+
			439a-1	welshimeri	F	2005-10-26	+	+	2	+
			61-1b	welshimeri	F	2003-11-10	+	+	2	+
	11 1 1 1 110		202a-1	welshimeri	А	2004-06-15	+	+	2	+
	1) 1 1 1 1 1 1	1.1.1.1.1.1.1	223b-5	welshimeri	А	2004-08-23	+	+	•	+
			239a-3	welshimeri	А	2004-08-23	+	+	•	+
			102a-1	welshimeri	А	2003-12-03	+	+	2	+
			L1203	welshimeri	В	2005-04-05	+	+	•	+
			342a	welshimeri	А	2004-12-14	+	+	•	+
		11	#138	welshimeri	А	2004-02-10	+	+	•	+
			L0922	welshimeri	В	2004-12-09	+	+	2	+
			L1315	welshimeri	В	2005-04-05	+	+	•	+





Fig.4.4.7. PFGE. Clusters of isolates with indistinguishable or closely related PFGE profiles were identified both in *L. welshimeri* and *L. innocua*. Most clusters were plant-specific, and included isolates from different sites in the plant and isolation dates, suggesting strains that were persistent and disseminated in the plant. Isolates in the same cluster frequently exhibited the same resistance profiles and *cadA-bcrABC* genotype. However, several exceptions were also noted, suggesting local gene acquisition or loss events

4.5. Survival and growth of outbreak and other strains of *Listeria monocytogenes* on cantaloupe

4.5.1. Growth and survival of *L. monocytogenes* **on cantaloupe**: *L. monocytogenes* was not isolated before inoculation from the surface of any of the whole cantaloupes used in the study. APCs on the outer surfaces were approximately 10^4 cfu/g (Fig.4.5.1) while on the flesh they were approximately 10^2 CFU/g (date not shown).



Fig.4.5.1. Growth of *L. monocytogenes* on cantaloupe rind A. *L. monocytogenes* 2011L-2875, 2011L-2858 and 2011L-2857, derived from the 2011 cantaloupe outbreak were tested for their ability to survive and grow on the cantaloupe rind during A, 21 days at 4°C; B. B, 21 days at 8°C; C, 7 days at 25°C. Results represent average of three independent trials, each done in duplicate. Inoculations and enumerations were done as described in Materials and Methods.

A.

Our results indicate that *L monocytogenes* survived and grew on cantaloupe fragments during incubation at 4 and 8°C (monitored for up to 21 days) (Fig. 1A and 1B) and at 25°C, monitored for up to 7 days (Fig. 1C). In all cases significant increase in the population during the incubation period was noted (p<0.0001). At 4°C populations on the rind increased by an average of 1.0 to 1.2 log units during the 21 day of incubation, with no significant difference among strains (Fig. 4.5.1A). Similar trends were observed for bacteria inoculated on the flesh with slightly lower growth (0.8 log units) in the extract (data not shown). *L. monocytogenes* grew significantly more on the rind then on the flesh or in the extract in certain temperature- time combinations. Specifically, after seven days at 4°C all tested strains grew more on the rind than on the flesh or in the extract (p=0.02) (Fig.4.5.2A and 3B).



STRAIN 2011L-2875, 25C

Fig. 4.5. 2. Comparative growth of *L. monocytogenes* 2011L-2875 on cantaloupe rind, flesh and extract after 24 and 72 hours at 25°C.



Fig. 4.5.3. Growth of *L. monocytogenes* on cantaloupe rind flesh and extract. Sample inoculations and bacterial enumerations were as described in Materials and Methods. Data indicate population increases after (A) 7 days of incubation at 4°C and (B) 72 hours at 25°C (B)

Increase in population (aprox. 1.7 log units) was observed at 8°C over the incubation period of 21 days with no statistically significant difference between rind, flesh and extract (Fig. 1B and 2B). Colony enumeration at 25°C showed increase in population of up to 2.1, 1.9 and 2.0 log units average, for rind flesh and extract, respectively, over the incubation period of 7 days. Noticeably more growth on the rind than on either the flesh or extract was recorded following incubation at 25°C for 72 h (p<.0001) (Fig. 4.5. 1C, 4.5. 2C and 4.5.3B); APCs on the *Listeria*-inoculated rind fragments increased at all three tested temperatures (up to 3 log units

over the entire incubation period) (Fig.4.5.1). Similar increases were noted on the peeled fragments and in the extract, even though initial APC levels were lower (data not shown).

4.5.2. Assessment of other *L* monocytogenes strains on cantaloupe. Testing of other *L*. monocytogenes strains of serotype 4b (H7550 and F8027) and 1/2a (2010L-1723) revealed similar location-dependent trend of growth as cantaloupe outbreak strains. Significant difference in growth (p<.0001) between rind, flesh and extract occurred after 7 days at 4°C as well as after 72 h at 25°C (Fig. 4.5. 4).

Α.

B





Strains:

J0161 (serotype 1/2a, 2000 turkey deli meats outbreak),

2010L-1723 (serotype 1/2a, 2010 celery outbreak),

H7550 (serotype 4b, 1998-99 hot dogs outbreak) and

F8027 (serotype 4b, celery)

Unlike strains from cantaloupe outbreak, evidence of a strain effect has been noted among this panel. Strain F8027 expressed significantly higher growth (p<.0001) on the cantaloupe rind after 24 hours and 21 days at 4°C, respectively, compared to the strain H7550 (data not shown).

4.5.3. Growth and survival of *L. monocytogenes* on cantaloupe rind after water treatment:

Right after washings decrease in *L. monocytogenes* population on the cantaloupe rind averaged 2 log units (Fig. 4.5.5 and 4.5.6).

2011L-2858, 72h at 8 and 25C



Fig.4.5.5. Growth and survival of *L* monocytogenes on the cantaloupe rind after rinsing with water: Growth and survival of *L* monocytogenes 2011L-2858 over 72 hours of incubation at 8 and 25°C, Growth and survival of *L* monocytogenes 20111-2858 on the fragment washed with water after inoculation, followed by incubation at 4, 8 and 25°C. Presented results are average of two independent trials done in duplicate.



Fig. 4.5.6. Growth and survival of *L monocytogenes* on the cantaloupe rind after rinsing with water: Change in population of *L monocytogenes* F2087 over 72 hours of incubation at 8°C and 25°C before and after rinsing with water. Presented results are average of two independent trials done in duplicate.

Washed fragments were stored at 4, 8 and 25° C, respectively, over 72 hours. After 24 hours at 4°C results indicate decrease of 0.1log and 0.02units for strains 2011L-2858 and F8027, respectively. Extended storage at the same temperature leads to the recovery and increase of 0.2-0.6 after 48 and 72 hours, respectively (data not shown). Increase in population of 0.3, 0.7 and 1.7 log unites at 8°C after 24, 48 and 72 hours, respectively, had been noted (Figure 4.5.5 and 4.5.6). At the temperature of 25°C, population ranged from 0.7 – 3.0 log units after 24, 48 and 72h, respectively. Results obtained from the untreated cantaloupe differ with initial decrease of 0.1 log units at 4°C after 24 hours followed by slow growth and increase of 0.02 log over the 72 hours of incubation (data not shown). At the temperatures of 8 and 25°C ranged from 0.1—1.0 and 0.5-1.3 log unites, respectively (Fig. 4.5. 5 and 4.5.6).

4.6. Change in phenotype and genotype as an asset for *L.monocytogenes* growth on cantaloupe

4.6.1. Growth and survival of *L* monocytogenes J0161 and ciprofloxacin adapted mutant on the surface of cantaloupe. *L.* monocytogenes J0161, a serotype 1/2a strain associated with a listeriosis outbreak in 2001, linked to consumption of turkey deli meats (Olsen) and mutant obtained upon the adaptation to antibiotic ciprofloxacin both expressed increase in population over the incubation period of 21 day on the cantaloupe surface. Increase ranged from 1.7 log units at 4°C, and 3log units at 8°C over the 21 days of incubation and 2.7log units at 25°C over the seven days (Fig. 4.6.1A, B and C). Difference in growth between parental strain and mutant had not been observed.





Fig. 4.6.1. Growth and survival of *L monocytogenes* **J0161 and ciprofloxacin adapted mutant on the surface of cantaloupe.** Growth at 4°C (**A**), 8°C (**B**) over the 3 weeks of incubation; and at 25°C (**C**) over the 7 days of incubation. Results presented are average of two trials

4.6.2. A comparison of behavior on the cantaloupe surface between *L monocytogenes* F2365 along with transposon mutant F2365*purA* and H7550Cds with mutant H7550-Cds *purB*

Strain H7550Cds and *purB* mutant and mutant, both grew at 4, 8 and 25 °C, respectively (Fig. 4.6.2A and data not shown). Average increase in population of 2.2 log units at 8°C had been noted with no significant difference between parental strain and mutant. Strain F2365and mutant ROA14, however, did not express significant growth in first 72 hours of incubation at 8°C, but after this time point trough the end of the incubation period population increased 2.2 log units. There was no significant difference between parental strain and mutant. Washing of cantaloupe fragments after inoculation and before incubation at different temperatures resulted in initial 2-3 log units decrease in population for both parental strains and designated mutants (Fig. 4.6.2B and data not shown). Over the incubation period of 7 days, strains recovered and grew (3-4 log units). Final population on the treated fragments did not differ from the population of *L monocytogenes* on the untreated ones (Fig. 4.6. 2A and B).



Fig. 4.6.2. A comparison of behavior on the cantaloupe surface between *L*. *monocytogenes* **F2365** along with transposon mutant **F2365***purA* and **H7550Cds** with **mutant H7550-Cds** *purB* Survival and growth at 8°C over the seven days of incubation without (A) and with treatment with sterile d-H2O (B). Presented results are average of two independent trials done in duplicate

4.6.3. Comparison of L monocytogenes F2365 and cold sensitive mutant F2365

LMOf2365_1746.In first 72 hours of incubation at 4 °C population of both, parental strain F2365 and cold sensitive mutant ROA4 decreased 1 log unit. Beyond this time point, parental F2365 grew with population increase of 3 log units at the end of the incubation period. Expectedly, mutant ROA4 did not grow. On the contrary, constant decrease in population had been noted over the incubation period of 21 days (Fig. 4.6.3A and data not shown). Treatment of the inoculated fragments with water prior the incubation at 4°C resulted in initial decrease

of 3log units. Interestingly, in first 72 hours of incubation, both strains grew with increase of 2 logs, followed by further growth of the parental strain and stagnation of mutant ROA4 (Fig. 4.6.3B).



Fig. 4.6. 3.Comparison of *L. monocytogenes* **F2365 and cold sensitive mutant F2365 LMOf2365_1746** Survival and growth at 4°C over the seven days of incubation without (A) and with treatment with sterile d-H2O (B). Change in *L monocytogenes* population over the incubation period (C).

4.6.4. Deletion of the genomic region 18 in *L monocytogenes* **strains F2365 and H7550 and performance on the cantaloupe surface.** Within the first 72 hours of incubation at 8°C population of *L. monocytogenes* H7550 and EC Δ 18R as well as F2365 and F2365 Δ 18R decreased approximately 0.4 log unit. After initial decrease strains recovered and grew 1 log unit average, over the 7 days of incubation (Fig. 4.6.4 A1). Same trend had been noted in the population of *L monocytogenes* on the washed fragments (Fig. 4.6.4 A2) with initial decrease of approximately 2.0 log units. At 25 °C both parental strains and deletion mutants grew approximately 1.3 - 2.3 log units after 72 and 168 hours, respectively, independent of weather fragments were treated with ater or not.



Fig. 4.6.4.Deletion of the genomic region 18 in *L monocytogenes* **strains F2365 and H7550 and performance on the cantaloupe surface.** Growth at 8°C before (**A1**) and after water treatment (**A2**) and 25°C before (**B1**) and after water treatment (**B2**) over the 7 days of incubation. Results presented are average of two independent trials.

Deletion of the cell-wall associated protein (*wap*) in strain F2365 did not reveal any significant difference between parental strain and mutant (data not shown).

4.7. Assessment of L. monocytogenes growth in raw and pasteurised milk

4.7.1. Survival and growth of *L. monocytogenes* in raw and pasteurized milk. The inoculated milk samples were monitored over a 10 days period in 24 hour intervals up to seven days and at 10^{th} day of incubation. All eighteen tested isolates were able to not only survive but also grow in both raw and pasteurized milk (Fig. 4.7.1 A and B and data not shown). *L.monocytogenes* population increased up to 3.5 log cfu/ml in raw and up to 4logcfu/ml in pasteurized milk over the 10 days of incubation at 8°C. As expected, increase in population was statistically significant over the time (p < 0.0001). No statistically significant difference was observed among strains. Growth appeared to be higher in pasteurized than in raw milk (Fig. 4.7. 1 A and B and data not shown). Our analysis indicate that differences in growth rate between milk types may depend on strain with most strains growing significantly better in pasteurized milk (p < 0.0003).









Fig. 4.7.1.Survival and growth of *L monocytogenes* **in raw and pasteurized milk. A.** Growth of *L monocytogenes* strains involved in 2011 listeriosis outbreak associated with cantaloupe (2011L-2857, 2011L-2858, and 2001L-2875) and 2010 celery associated outbreak (2010-1723) in raw (A1) and pasteurized (A2) milk at 8 ° C over 10days;

B. Growth of *L monocytogenes* strains involved in sporadic cases of Listeriosis in the period 1930-1990 (4b1, OLM121, OLM144 and OLM10) and 1983 dairy associated outbreak (SCOTT A) in raw (B1) and pasteurized (B2) milk at 8° C over 10days ;

4.7.2. Serotype comparison in raw and pasteurized milk: Isolates were compared across serotypes (1/2a, 1/2b and 4b) with no significant difference noticed (data not showed).

4.7.3. Wild type and ciprofloxacin adapted mutants in raw and pasteurized milk: Comparison between wild type strain H7550CdR and ciprofloxacin adapted mutant H7550CdRC showed no significant difference in growth between strains or milk type (Fig.4.7. 2 A1 and A2). Strain J0161CdR, wild type, grew better in raw milk compared to ciprofloxacin adapted mutant J0161CdRC, whereas adapted mutants expressed higher population increase in pasteurized milk (Fig. 4.7.2 B1 and B2).





A1.

B2.

A2.



Fig. 4.7.2.Comparison of growth in raw and pasteurized milk between *L monocytogenes* **parental strains and ciprofloxacin adapted mutants. A.** Increase in population of *L monocytogenes* parental strain H7550 and ciprofloxacin adapted mutant in raw (A1) and pasteurized (A2) milk at 8° C over 10days; **B.** Increase in population of *L monocytogenes* parental strain J0161 and ciprofloxacin adapted mutant in raw (A1) and pasteurized (A2) milk at 8° C over 10days; B. Increase in population of *L monocytogenes* parental strain J0161 and ciprofloxacin adapted mutant in raw (A1) and pasteurized (A2) milk at 8° C over 10days.

107

4.7.4. Difference between clonal groups: Further analysis revealed significantly better growth of isolates belonging to ECI clonal group in both pasteurized and raw milk compared to group ECIa (p=0.0433 and 0.0166, respectively)(Fig. 4.7. 3A and B) and in pasteurized milk compared to group ECII (p=0.0358) (Fig. 4.7.3.A1 and A2). ECIa associated isolates expressed significantly better growth compared to ECII group in raw milk (p=0.0026) (data not shown) with no difference in pasteurized milk. Overall ECI associated isolates grew significantly better in pasteurized then in raw milk (p=0.0001), whereas among isolates ECIa and ECII this difference was not noticed.







Fig.4.7.4. Comparison of growth between *L* monocytogenes strains associated with different clonal groups. Population of *L* monocytogenes strains belonging to ECI clonal group (A) increased more compared to group ECII in (B) in pasteurized milk (p=0.0358)

L. monocytogenes strains of serotype 1/2a and 1/2b involved in 2010 Texas outbreak associated with celery in chicken salad (2010-1723) and 2011 multistate outbreak connected to Jensen farm cantaloupe (2011L-2857, 2011L-2858 and 2011L-2875) survived and grew in raw and pasteurized milk. Population increase averaged from 3 log cfu/ml in raw and 4 logcfu/milk in pasteurized milk over the 10 days of incubation at 8°C (Fig. 4.7.1A1 and A2). Significant difference in growth between milk types has not been noticed. Growth of *L monocytogenes* strains associated with 2011 cantaloupe outbreak in milk both, raw and pasteurized was notably higher compared to growth of the same strains inoculated on the rind or the flash of cantaloupe, respectively (Fig. 4.7.5).



B1.

A1.

B2.

A2.





5.0. DISCUSSION

5.1. Adaptation of Listeria monocytogenes to Ciprofloxacin or to the Disinfectant Benzalkonium Chloride Results in Reduced Susceptibility to Ciprofloxacin, Gentamicin Benzalkonium Chloride and Other Toxic Compounds. In this study, selection of several L. monocytogenes strains on either ciprofloxacin or BC led to mutants with increased MICs not only to the agents employed in the selection but to several additional toxic compounds. The spectrum of compounds to which the mutants exhibited reduced susceptibility was the same regardless of whether selection was on ciprofloxacin or on BC. This multidrug resistance phenotype suggested that the mutants had increased expression of MDR efflux system(s). In accord with this notion, the ciprofloxacin and BC- selected mutants exhibited higher MICs to EthBr and TPP, which are known to serve as substrates for MDR efflux systems (95, 96). Moreover, at least 4fold reductions in MICs were observed in the presence of the potent efflux inhibitor reserpine. In contrast, the mutants did not have significant increases in MICs for the fourth generation fluoroquinolone moxifloxacin, which does not serve as a substrate for efflux systems; our finding that moxifloxacin MICs were not impacted by reserpine and were not enhanced in the mutants were similar to earlier observations with ciprofloxacinresistant clinical isolates (86). Taken together, these data suggest that MDR efflux system mutations are likely responsible for the phenotype of the mutants in the current study. Enhanced efflux has also been implicated in multidrug resistance phenotypes of other bacteria (e.g. Escherichia coli, Salmonella, and Pseudomonas) following exposure to disinfectants, although other mechanisms (e.g. envelope changes) have also been implicated (18, 100, 112, 181, 205).

In previous studies, mutants of *L. monocytogenes* strains selected on BC had phenotypes partially overlapping with those of the mutants in our study. Such mutants had reduced susceptibility to BC, EthBr, gentamicin and, in several cases, kanamycin, but changes in ciprofloxacin MICs were not reported (187, 207). Additionally, these mutants exhibited increased transcription of *mdrL* (but not *lde*) and their phenotype was attributed to increased levels of the *mdrL* transporter (187). Inactivation of *mdrL* in *L. monocytogenes* LO28 resulted in increased susceptibility to macrolides, cefotaxime and certain metals (zinc, cobalt and chromium) (144). The different resistance phenotype of our mutants, which did not have

increased MICs to erythromycin (a macrolide) or kanamycin, suggests that *mdrL* is likely not involved in the multidrug resistance profile that we observed. Further support for this is provided by the fact that we failed to detect increased expression of *mdrL* in either the ciprofloxacin-selected or the BC-selected mutants. One cannot exclude the possibility that different transporters will contribute to the multidrug resistance phenotype of BC-selected mutants in different studies, depending on strain background and experimental conditions employed for the selection.

Mutants of L. monocytogenes selected on ciprofloxacin have not been reported. However, clinical isolates with enhanced resistance to ciprofloxacin have been identified as mentioned above, and were found to also have increased resistance to EthBr and acridine orange, as well as increased expression of the *lde* transporter (86). Insertional inactivation of *lde* resulted in reduced MICs to ciprofloxacin, EthBr and acridine orange, suggesting that this transporter mediated the observed resistance phenotype. However, susceptibility of the clinical isolates or the *lde* mutant to gentamicin or BC was not described (86). Our data showing increased expression of *lde* in the mutants also provide tentative evidence for involvement of this transporter, although involvement of additional transporters cannot be excluded. In addition to mdrL and lde, the Listeria genome harbors several other genes for putative MDR transporters (83, 156), some of which may contribute to the phenotype of mutants described here. Two new transporters of the major facilitator superfamily, *mdrT* and *mdrM*, were identified during a screen for genes impacting the elicitation of the innate immune response in macrophages infected with L. monocytogenes 10403S, and transcript levels of mdrM were markedly enhanced in the presence of rhodamine 6G and TPP (46). However, we failed to obtain evidence or increased expression of either *mdrT* or *mdrM* in the ciprofloxacin- or BCselected mutants, suggesting that these transporters are likely not involved in the phenotype of the mutants. Further studies (e.g. comparative analysis of transciptome profiles) would be valuable in the effort to identify other transporters that may be expressed at higher levels in the mutants than in the parental strains, and to characterize the impact of exposure to antibiotics, disinfectant or other toxic compounds such as TPP on expression of the genes.

Strains H7550 Cd^R and J0161 Cd^R harbor large and closely related plasmids (121, 133, 156). Even though MICs to ciprofloxacin and gentamicin did not differ between the parental and

plasmid-cured strains, ciprofloxacin-selected mutants had higher MICs for either ciprofloxacin or gentamicin than mutants derived from the plasmid-cured derivatives of either strain. These findings were consistently obtained and were specific to MICs for these antibiotics; they were not observed in MICs to EthBr or TPP. Further studies are needed to determine whether the apparent impact of the plasmid is specific to pLM80 and closely related plasmids and to clarify the underlying mechanism. It is possible that a pLM80-associated efflux system for ciprofloxacin and gentamicin (but not for EthBr or TPP) was activated in the pLM80-harboring mutants, along with chromosomal transporters such as *lde*. Comparative transcriptome analyses would be valuable in assessing the validity of this hypothesis.

As has been discussed for other pathogens (100, 133), mutants such as described in the current study have a number of clinical or environmental implications. Exposure to ciprofloxacin (e.g. during empirical treatment, or in the course of treatment for other infections) may lead to *L. monocytogenes* mutants with decreased susceptibility to gentamicin, currently one of the drugs of choice for treatment of listeriosis. Such mutants may have enhanced ability to persist in the environment, as they also exhibit enhanced tolerance to disinfectants such as BC. Similarly, BC and other quaternary ammonium disinfectants are extensively used in healthcare settings as well as in the food processing industry. Mutants obtained during selection on BC can have enhanced resistance not only to BC but to a range of other antimicrobial compounds, including antibiotics such as ciprofloxacin and gentamicin.

Lastly, it is conceivable that in such mutants additional phenotypes of public health and food safety relevance may be impacted. There is increasing evidence that MDR transporters in bacterial pathogens can mediate not only resistance to antimicrobials but a number of other processes as well (95, 96, 135, 170). In the case of *L. monocytogenes*, the study by Crimmins et al. (46) has provided clear evidence that MDR transporter systems may be involved in processes of fundamental importance to host-pathogen interactions, such as elicitation of the innate immune response. Furthermore, *L. monocytogenes* virulence genes *prfA* and *inlA* were shown to be upregulated in response to sub-lethal concentrations of quaternary ammonium

compounds (113). It will be important to determine whether BC- or ciprofloxacin-selected mutants are also impacted in their virulence in cell culture or animal models, and whether attributes such as ability to persist in biofilms and persist in the environment may also be altered in such mutants.

5.2. Co-selection of cadmium and benzalkonium chloride resistance in conjugative transfers from non-pathogenic *Listeria* spp. to other listeriae. In this work we provide evidence that BC resistance mediated by *bcrABC* can be effectively transferred among certain strains of non-pathogenic *Listeria* spp. that harbored both *bcrABC* and the cadmium resistance determinant *cadA2*. We also showed that resistance could be transferred from non-pathogenic *Listeria* spp. to *L. monocytogenes* strains of all three serotypes primarily associated with human listeriosis (1/2a, 1/2b and 4b). The findings indicated that cadmium resistance transfer can be effectively used as a surrogate for transfer of resistance to BC, since transconjugants selected on cadmium were resistant to both cadmium and to BC.

Transfer of resistance was not indiscriminate: even though all tested *L. monocytogenes* strains yielded transconjugants with at least some of the non-pathogenic donors, one of the non-pathogenic strains employed as recipient failed to yield any transconjugants. Furthermore, transconjugants were produced with markedly higher frequency when non-pathogenic donors harbored *cadA2* (often while also harboring *bcrABC*) than when they harbored the alternative cadmium resistance determinant *cadA1*.

Non-pathogenic *Listeria* spp. have potential to serve as reservoirs for resistance genes and transfer them among themselves as well as to *L. monocytogenes* inhabiting the same environments, but data on such transfers remain scarce. Thus far only one study reported conjugative transfer of disinfectant resistance attributes among *Listeria* spp. (131). However, only two strains of non-pathogenic *Listeria* spp. (*L. innocua* in both cases) were tested as donors; furthermore, the donors in that study exhibited resistance to the dye ethidium bromide but not to cadmium (131). In contrast, strains employed as donors in the current study were resistant to cadmium but susceptible to ethidium bromide (M. Rakic-Martinez, unpublished findings). Thus, it is hard to compare data from this earlier study with the current findings. In the case of non-pathogenic recipients transfer was found to be more efficient at 25 than at 37°C, suggesting that it may represent an environmental adaptation. In contrast, no difference

in transfer frequency between 25 and 37°C was noted for *L. monocytogenes*, regardless of serotype, suggesting the potential for such transfers to be taking place not only in the environment but *in vivo* as well, e.g. in the mammalian gastrointestinal tract.

In the current study conjugations were on agar or on membrane filters overlaid on solid media. Only limited information is currently available on horizontal gene transfer in listeriae in foods and other complex systems such as the gastrointestinal tract (39, 56). Further studies are needed to determine whether conjugative transfer frequency is impacted by the presence of the conjugation partners on surfaces relevant to food processing environments (e.g. stainless steel, food) and within polymicrobial biofilms.

While direct evidence of nonpathogenic *Listeria* spp. behaving as resistance gene reservoirs for *L. monocytogenes* is still lacking, co-selection and disinfectant resistance gene distribution in other pathogens perhaps illustrate analogous processes at work. For instance, Ciric et al. have shown the presence of a *Streptococcus oralis* Tn916-like conjugative transposon, Tn6087 *that* confers resistance to cetrimide bromide, a disinfectant in the quaternary ammonium compound (QAC) family, as well as tetracyclines, potentially providing a mechanism for co-selection of disinfectant and antibiotic resistance (44). In food-derived staphylococci, the presence of BC resistance genes linked to antibiotic resistance genes suggested the potential for similar co-selection (198). Bjorland et al. demonstrated the widespread distribution of QAC resistance genes in bovine and equine coagulase-negative staphylococci (13). The wide distribution of such genes and the potential of increased fitness through co-selection have important public health implications (191).

L. monocytogenes plasmids (e.g. pLM80) harboring both *bcrABC* and *cadA2* have been characterized in the course of genome sequencing investigations (64, 121, 156). Genome sequence data of the non-pathogenic listeriae employed as donors in the current study are currently not available. Nonetheless, when donors harbored both *bcrABC* and *cadA2* the transconjugants acquired both of these determinants even though selection was only for cadmium resistance, suggesting plasmid-associated resistance genes similar to those harbored by pLM80. Further supportive evidence for pLM80-like plasmids was provided by detection of all other tested pLM80-associated genes in these donor strains. Though these PCR-based assessments involved only a subset of pLM80-associated genes, the data provide compelling

reasons to further elucidate the sequence content of the plasmids of these *L. welshimeri* and *L. innocua* donor strains harboring *bcrABC* and *cadA2*.

Our PCR data suggest that different plasmids were harbored by strains containing *cadA1*. However, it was intriguing that such strains failed to serve as efficient donors to other listeriae. Plasmids harboring *cadA1* have been extensively described in *L. monocytogenes* (25, 121, 127, 128) and conjugative transfer of one such plasmid was demonstrated in an earlier study. A single donor-recipient strain combination was examined in that study, and non-pathogenic strains were not included (129). Further studies are needed to determine whether our findings reflect differences in the plasmids or in the types of strains employed in the conjugations.

In conclusion, we have demonstrated the potential for resistance to BC and to cadmium to be conjugatively transferred among non-pathogenic listeriae and from these strains to *L. monocytogenes* of diverse serotypes. Our findings also demonstrate co-selection of resistance to BC and cadmium when the non-pathogenic *Listeria* spp. donors were resistant to both of these agents: transconjugants selected in the presence of cadmium were also resistant to BC. Co-selection between cadmium resistance and BC resistance has not been documented before in *Listeria* or other bacteria. Future work should examine additional factors in food processing and other dynamic environments that may affect efficacy of resistance transfer, such as varied growth surfaces and the presence of mixed and single-species biofilms. Further study of conjugative dissemination of BC and cadmium resistance in *Listeria* spp. would provide the opportunity to assess impact on fitness in disinfectant-abundant environments such as food processing plants and healthcare settings. Data from such studies would be needed to characterize potential impacts of such resistance determinant acquisitions on additional attributes, including those associated with virulence.

5.3. Resistance gene distribution among non-pathogenenic *Listeriae* from different poultry processing plants. We previously reported that non-pathogenic *Listeria* spp. could serve as donors of resistance to disinfectant (BC) and to the heavy metal cadmium to other *Listeriae*, including diverse serotypes of the pathogenic species, *L. monocytogenes*. Transconjugants acquired the resistance determinants *bcrABC* (BC resistance) and *cadA1* or *cadA2* (resistance to cadmium) harbored by the donor strains (117). The current population
based analysis of non-pathogenic *Listeria* spp. from processing plants revealed high prevalence of resistance to BC and cadmium, and of the *bcrABC*, *cadA1* and *cadA2* determinants, thus providing further support for the role of non-pathogenic *Listeria* spp. as resistance gene reservoirs for pathogenic *L. monocytogenes*. The observed high prevalence of resistance may reflect responses to selective pressure stemming from exposure to disinfectant. Since all BC-resistant strains were also resistant to cadmium, cadmium resistance may have been co-selected upon exposure to BC, as observed during in vitro conjugative transfers (117). However, we also identified strains that were cadmium-resistant but BC-susceptible. Such strains may reflect recent introductions from sources outside of the processing plant, or derivatives that either have lost or have not yet acquired bcrABC and corresponding resistance to BC. Strains unable to serve as recipients were indeed identified earlier (117).

An unexpected finding was that even though *cadA1* and *cadA2* were similarly common in *L*. *welshimeri* and *L. innocua*, plant-specific differences in prevalence of these resistance genes were noted for each these species. For instance, in plant A *cadA2* was relatively common regardless of species, while in F *cadA1* was predominant in both species. On the other hand, in plant B prevalence of *cadA1* and *cadA2* differed between *L. innocua* and *L. welshimeri*. Such findings may reflect the outcome of colonization of the plant with certain strains (e.g. *cadA2*-harboring strains in plant A) and subsequent dissemination of the resistance determinant by intra- and inter-species gene transfer within the individual plant's ecosystem. This was supported by the detection of different *cadA* genes or resistance phenotypes among strains with closely related or indistinguishable PFGE profiles. PFGE profiles of *L. welshimeri* or *L. innocua* were largely plant-specific, with strain clusters suggesting the presence of certain strains disseminated and persistent in specific plants.

Non-pathogenic *Listeriae* employed in this study were isolated from the same plants as *L monocytogenes*strains described by Mullapudu et al (154, 155). This group reported high prevalence (57%) of BC- resistance among isolates of serotype 1/2a and 1/2b. Prevalence of BC resistance was markedly lower in isolates of serotype 4b (12%). All BC resistant isolated harbored *bcrABC* cassette and were also resistant to cadmium. These findings significantly correlate with current study implying similar distribution of resistance determinants among

non-pathogenic Listeriae and L monocytogenes strains of serotype 1/2a and 1/2b. Among $Cd^{r} BC^{r} L$ monocytogenes strains most predominant was cadA2 determinant either alone or together with cadA1 (64%), whereas 42% of non-pathogenic isolates harbored cadA2. In contrast, most strains resistant to cadmium but susceptible to BC (Cd^r BC^s) possessed cadA1 (74%) of L monocytogenes and 60% of non-pathogenic Listeriae). Interestingly, plant specific distribution of Cd resistance determinants differs between L monocytogenes and Listeriae isolates. Most of the *L* monocytogenes isolates tested by Mullapudi et al. (155) originated from the plant A with predominance of cadA2 (~50%). In contrast, cadA1 was most frequent among non-pathogenic *Listeriae* isolated from the plant A (47%). Possible explanation of such a difference could be in horizontal gene transfer of cadmium resistance genes between non-pathogenic Listeriae and L. monocytogenes (117). Recent findings reported by Katharios-Lanwermeyer et al. (117) revealed that all donor strains that could efficiently transfer resistance harbored *cadA2*. Given that the BC resistance determinant *bcrABC* is cotransferred with the cadmium resistance determinant cadA2 (117), adaptation of strains in the processing plants to BC may contribute to the higher prevalence of *cadA2*. Findings in this study strengthen evidence that non-pathogenic Listeria spp. serve as reservoirs for disinfectant and cadmium resistance genes in the processing plant environment. Predominant cadmium resistance determinants vary by plant and species, possibly reflecting intra- and inter-species dissemination of the determinants within the ecosystem of individual plants.

5.4. Growth and survival of *L. monocytogenes* **on cantaloupe**. The results of this study provided further evidence of minimally processed fresh fruits as a good media for growth of microorganisms as previously suggested by various authors (166, 211, 212). Assessment of *L. monocytogenes* growth oh the outer surface at 4°C revealed 1.0 log increase in population with no significant difference among strains. Bacteria reached this increase within 7 day and survived at 4°C at the same level throughout the incubation period of 21 days. Our findings differ from a previous report that *L monocytogenes* survived but did not grow on fresh-cut cantaloupe pieces stored at 4°C (211). Possible reasons include differences in methodology, e.g. submerging for 10 minutes in the mixed bacterial inoculum in the earlier study (211) vs. spot inoculation of individual strains in the current one. Furthermore, in the previous study

time left for attachment of cells (2hours at room temperature) differed from current one (1 hour at room temperature). The strains employed also differed between the two studies. Similar reasons may account for the greater (approximately 10fold) increases on inoculated fragments observed at 8 and 25 °C in this study than in the earlier report (211). Population growth on the cantaloupe surface at 8° C obtained in this study is in agreement with increase in *L. innocua* population at the same temperature reported by Behrsing et al. (9). Interestingly, in current study we observed that growth on the cantaloupe surface was higher then growth in the extract or on the cantaloupe flesh with statistically significant difference at 25°C after 72 hours (p<0001) and 4°C after 7 days of incubation (p=0.0007). This could be explained by the characteristics of rind surface that allows better attachment of the bacteria, combined with protective role of extensive netting (209, 210, 212). Lower growth in the extract could be explained by metabolism of the melon fruit. Biais et al. (12) reported strong decrease in ATP and ADP ratios and the adenylate energy charge from the periphery to the center of the fruit. From the periphery (rind) to the center of fruit there was also significant increase of ethanol concentration and other markers of hypoxia in plants which could be explanation of lower increase in *Listeria* population in the cantaloupe extract. Washing of inoculated fragments with sterile deionized water prior to the incubation resulted with initial decreases of *L* monocytogenes of approximately 2 log units followed by subsequent growth. However, washing decreases LM counts temporarily (hence consuming product immediately after washing -at least within 24h, would enhance safety), but Lm grows to the same levels as on unwashed samples within 48 h—hence, washing may not confer any benefit after 48h. In contrast to this finding Ukuku et al (215) did not observed significant reductions in L. monocytogenes populations after washing inoculated whole melons at day 0. The results of this study suggest that L. monocytogenes can not only survive on the surface of cantaloupe but that it also has temperature and time-dependent potential for growth. Results also revealed that water treatment of the surface does not prevent growth of L. monocytogenes. These data will be valuable in design of controls to limit persistence and growth of this pathogen on cantaloupe and other produce.

5.5. Change in phenotype and genotype as an asset for *L. monocytogenes* growth on cantaloupe. Limited information is available on mechanisms that *L monocytogenes* employs for adherence, survival and persistence or growth on produce. Previous studies reported colonization and persistence of various pathogens such as *E. coli* O157:H7, *Salmonella* ans *L monocytogenes* on the surface of the plants (219, 224). Strain variability in interactions with plants has been noted in other foodborn pathogens (14, 118). Assessment of different *L. monocytogenes* strains revealed that one of them, F8027 associated with celery had higher potential of growth on lettuce then others . In current study, by employing various strains and selected mutants of interest we are providing evidence of *L monocytogenes* ability to colonize surface of cantaloupe, survive and grow under different conditions (various incubation temperatures, treatment with water).

Antibiotic-resistant *L. monocytogenes* have been found in foods with increasing frequency (39, 48, 228). In our previous study we isolated mutant of the *L. monocytogenes* J0161 adapted to higher concentrations of antibiotic ciprofloxacine (182). Characterization of this mutant revealed increased resistance to other antimicrobials (e.g. disinfectant bezalkonium chloride and antibiotic gentamicin). Such mutants with enhanced resistance present a burden for the food processing environment. Comparison of growth ability between parental strain J0161 and ciprofloxacin adapted mutant revealed no significant difference at any of the tested incubation temperatures (4, 8 or 25 °C).

Using the *mariner*-based transposon (8) to construct mutant libraries presents powerful genetic tool for identification genes responsible for different changes in phenotype. Through screening of libraries of *L monocytogenes* strains F2365 and H7550 numerous mutants have been isolated in our laboratory. Analysis of such mutants revealed that they harbored single transposon insertions. Through screenings of these libraries cold-sensitive mutant with an insertion in a gene encoding a DEAD family RNA helicase have been isolated as well as nonhemolytic H7550-Cds,*hly* mutant, transposon mutant of F2365*purA*, transposon mutant of H7550-Cds,*purB* (6, 7, 118). Testing ability of these mutants to survive and grow on the surface of cantaloupe revealed no significant difference in comparison with parental strain. As expected, difference was notable between strain F2365 and cold sensitive mutant ROA4 which expressed decrease in population throughout the incubation period.

Most outbreaks of Listeriosis involved serotype 4b strains. These strains are associated with two major clonal groups. Epidemic Clone I (EC I) involved in numerous outbreaks worldwide, whereas Epidemic clone II (ECII) represents a novel epidemic clone indentified during the 1998-99 multistate outbreak in the United States. Previous studies described a genomic region (region-18) with unusual diversifications in ECII, and specific and conserved among other serotype 4b strains (68). This region was flanked on one side by a large (ca. 6.6 kb) gene encoding a putative cell wall-associated protein (*wap*) in ECII and other serotype 4b strains. On the other side, the region was flanked 119 by inIA and inIB, implicated in virulence of L. monocytogenes (23). Wap has been identified as a serotype 4b specific with possible role in sensing environmental changes (20, 81). The protein encoded by wapA belongs to a super-family of surface-associated proteins involved in various cellular processes, including surface hydrophobicity, wall metabolism, secretion, pathogenicity, immunogenicity and cell adhesion (83). In current study, deletion mutants of region 18 in L. monocytogenes F2365 and H7550 and wap in F2365 did not impact ability to survive and grow on the cantaloupe surface. After initial decrease at low temperatures (4 and 8 °C) cells recovered and population increased trough out the incubation period.

Taken together, screening of mutant libraries and construction of different deletion mutants served as a valuable tool in the assessment of *Lmonocytogenes* survival and growth on the surface of produce. Even though growth ability of tested mutants did not differ significantly from parental strains further testing and characterization of mutants could help in better understanding of the mechanisms involved in such ability. Of great importance is finding that water treatment of inoculated surfaces does not prevent further growth of bacteria. Such finding may help in creating new strategies in food safety.

5.6. Assessment of *L. monocytogenes* growth in raw and pasteurized milk. According to our results *L. monocytogenes* grew generally better and with fewer variations in pasteurized than in raw milk at 8C. Similar findings were reported in cow milk by Northolt et al. (157) and in goat's milk by Leuchner et al (132). This is suggestive of potential impact of microbiota in raw milk, as well as inhibitory effects of antibacterial substances such as lactoperoxidase and lysozyme present in raw milk (157, 171, 229). Unlike results of these studies that indicates *L monocytogenes* population decrease over the first two days of

incubation due to the presence of antibacterial substances in raw milk, such decrease was not observed in our study. Our results are in agreement with those reported by Farber et al (71) and show increase in population over the incubation period of 10 days.

Serotype 4b has been the most common serotype connected to listeriosis outbreaks. However, serotype 4b highly represented in clinical isolates is not the most common serotype in food isolates (138). Even thou relation between serotype and virulence has not been established (115); increased virulence could be the reason for higher number of reported clinical cases of listeriosis caused by serotype 4b. Comparisons across serotypes indicate neither significant difference between serotypes nor difference in growth of strais of one serotype between two milk types. Wide geographical distribution of different *L. monocytogenes* serotypes and high adaptability to variety of environmental conditions and food composition may be explanation for the lack of difference in growth between serotypes.

Two wild type strains of *L. monocytogenes* (H7550CdR and J0161CdR) employed in this study displayed no significant difference in growth compared to their ciprofloxacin adapted mutants (H7550CdRC and J0161CdRC) in raw or pasteurized milk. This finding suggests that adaptation to antibiotics does not change growth potential of *L. monocytogenes*.

Recent epidemiological data suggest that produce and fruit contribute to listeriosis more then previously recognized. Therefore, we analyzed possible difference in *L. monocytogenes* growth in milk and on cantaloupe. For the purpose of analysis we used unpublished data on *Listeria* growth on cantaloupe, obtained in our lab. *L. monocytogenes* strains of serotype 1/2a and 1/2b involved in 2011 multistate outbreak connected to cantaloupes expressed high increase in population in both raw and pasteurized milk. Increase in population was much lower when same strains were tested on cantaloupe. These findings suggesting better nutritive composition of milk as a growth medium for *L. monocytogenes*. As reported by Donnely and Brigs (58) (milk fat content might be related to listerial lipase produced by hemolytic *L. monocytogenes* strains and this could be the reason for faster growth of such strains in milk. Explanation of results could also be in the fact that glucose concentration decrease from the surface to the center of cantaloupe fruit due to conversion of glucose to sucrose (12) and glucose tend to be one of the major substrates for growth of *Listeria* in milk (157, 188).

Eleven strains of serotype 4b assigned to three epidemic clonal groups (ECI, ECIa and ECII) were employed in this study. Epidemic clones ECIa and ECI are composed of older human and animal clinical isolates from outbreaks and sporadic cases occurred in the first half of 20th century. ECII isolate was involved in Food Hotdog Outbreak (1998-99). Clonal groups were compared for possible difference in growth in raw and pasteurized milk over the 10 days of incubation at 8C. Statistical analysis of results obtained indicate that ECI grows better in raw (p=0.01660) and pasteurized milk (p=0.0433) compared to ECIa. ECI represents widely distributed clonal group associated with multiple outbreaks in Europe and North America (194, 134). General presence across different environments indicates high adaptability of ECI, which may be one of the explanations for enhanced growth in milk compared to ECIa. Answer could also be better adaptation to inhibitory lactoperoxidase and lysozyme present in raw milk as well as unique virulence characteristics.

Compared to both ECI and ECIa lower increase in population raw and pasteurized milk, respectively, has been observed for ECII isolate. As reported by Kathariou et al (115) this clonal group was first observed in food hot dog outbreak (1998-1999). Ability of ECII to transmit among meat processing plants was discussed by various authors (41, 92). We speculate that this epidemic clone might be better adapted to meat and meat processing environment which would justify lower population increase in milk.

Demographical changes such as increase in population of elderly and immunocompromissed person, as well as changes in food consumption patterns, might highly contributed to a change in epidemiological profile of human Listeriosis. Mayor food-born listeriosis outbreaks reported recently are connected to processed meats, produce or fruit. As reported by Public Health Service/Food and Drug Administration (179) less than 1% of total food-borne disease outbreaks are currently linked to milk and milk products, with a few large outbreaks occurred in last few decades (3, 15, 79). According to the same report in 1938 milk was cause of 25% of food related outbreaks. This observation and ability of old clinical isolates of *L. monocytogenes* to grow relatively high in raw and pasteurized milk reported in this study emphasized major historical role of milk as a vehicle for this pathogen. Low consumption of processed meats and still not well implemented pasteurization in first half of 20th century lead

to a speculation that raw milk was involved in most of human cases including ones presented in this study.

6.0. CONCLUSIONS:

1. Recent epidemiologic data indicate declined incidence of listeriosis in the US, hence, *L*. *monocytogenes* still produce the highest mortality (16-19%) and hospitalization rate (94%) among food-borne pathogens.

Bacterial pathogens are often exposed to sub-lethal levels of different antimicrobial agents (i.e. disinfectants in food processing plants, antibiotics in the health environment). Such exposure is considered the main reason for the increase in *L. monocytogenes* antimicrobial resistance.
 Selection of *L monocytogenes* to antimicrobials such as antibiotic ciprofloxacin or disinfectant bezalkonium chloride (BC) led to the emergence of mutants with increased MICs not only to antimicrobial agents used in the selection process, but also a few additional toxic substances. The spectrum of agents to which they have developed resistance mutations did not differ regardless of whether the chosen selection of ciprofloxacin or BC. The change in the direction of multiresistance phenotype presented in this thesis suggests overexpress MDR efflux systems and leads to the conclusion that this system is responsible for the occurring change.

4. Screening of a *mariner*-based mutant library of selected *L monocytogenes* strains failed to isolate mutants with impaired resistance to TPP. However, *tetR*::Tn917 mutants with pronounced (8-fold) increase in TPP resistance have been isolated. One of these mutants had insertion in *tetR* gene. Characterization of such mutant revealed transposon integrated in LMRG_01858 (sucrose phosphorylase). Such data suggest that the observed TPP resistance of the *tetR*::Tn917 mutant involve increased expression of MDR transporter(s) other than *mdrT*, but also repressed by *tetR*.

5. Broad resistance to the tested agents confirms the hypothesis that non-pathogenic strains *Listeriae* spp could be reservoir of resistance genes for *L monocytogenes*. Resistance to disinfectant BC mediated by gene cassette *bcrABC* can be effectively transferred among certain strains of non-pathogenic *Listeria* spp. that harbored both *bcrABC* and the cadmium resistance determinant *cadA2*. Resistance could also be transferred from non-pathogenic

Listeria spp. to *L. monocytogenes* strains of all three serotypes primarily associated with human listeriosis (1/2a, 1/2b and 4b). The findings presented in this Dissertation indicated that cadmium resistance transfer can be effectively used as a surrogate for transfer of resistance to BC, since transconjugants selected on cadmium were resistant to both cadmium and to BC.

6. Analysis of non-pathogenic *Listeria* spp. from processing plants revealed high prevalence of resistance to BC and cadmium, and of the *bcrABC*, *cadA1* and *cadA2* determinants, providing further support for the role of non-pathogenic *Listeria* spp. as resistance gene reservoirs. The observed high prevalence of resistance may reflect responses to selective pressure stemming from exposure to disinfectant. The outcome of colonization of the plant with certain strains could result with dissemination of the resistance determinant by intra- and inter-species gene transfer within the individual plant's ecosystem. This hypothesis was supported by the detection of different *cadA* genes or resistance phenotypes among strains with closely related or indistinguishable PFGE profiles. PFGE profiles of *L. welshimeri* or *L. innocua* were largely plant-specific, with strain clusters suggesting the presence of certain strains disseminated and persistent in specific plants

7. Strains from the 2011 cantaloupe outbreak grew on cantaloupe. Generally growth was more pronounced on rind than on flesh or in cantaloupe extract. Differences were significant under certain time-temperature combinations (7 days at 4C and 72h at 25C).

•No significant difference was noted among the three tested cantaloupe outbreak strains, which differed in serotypes and PFGE profiles.

Experiments with unrelated strains from outbreaks involving other vehicles (hot dogs, turkey deli meats, soft cheese, and celery) revealed trends similar to those with the 2011 cantaloupe outbreak strains. Growth was generally more pronounced on rind than flesh or extract.
Growth on rind at 4C was consistently observed (ca. 1 log increase after 7 days at 4C), differing from previous reports (Ukuku 2002).

•Growth on rind and flesh at 8 and 25C, while consistently observed, was less than reported (Ukuku 2002, 2012; Brazil study). Differences in strains and inoculation method may account for the differing results.

•Washing with water decreased *L. monocytogenes* populations by ca. 2 logs but bacteria grew back, with numbers at 24h approximating those of the original inoculum.

•A cold sensitive (helicase) mutant failed to grow on cantaloupe rind at 4C, but grew at room temperature. Mutants that fail to grow on cantaloupe at room temperature

8. By employing various strains and selected mutants of interest we provided evidences of L monocytogenes ability to colonize surface of cantaloupe, survive and grow under different conditions (various incubation temperatures, treatment with water). Screening of mutant libraries and construction of different deletion mutants served as a valuable tool in the assessment of *L. monocytogenes* survival and growth on the surface of produce. Even though growth ability of tested mutants did not differ significantly from parental strains further testing and characterization of mutants could help in better understanding of the mechanisms involved in such ability. Of great importance is finding that water treatment of inoculated surfaces does not prevent further growth of bacteria. Such finding may help in creating new strategies in food safety.

9. Milk and dairy products along with processed meats are still considered major vehicles for *L. monocytogenes* involved in food related outbreaks. Eighteen *L. monocytogenes* strains of different serotypes involved in food-related outbreaks as well as human and animal clinical isolates were tested for growth in raw and pasteurized milk. Isolates of serotype 4b assigned to three epidemic clonal groups (ECI, ECIa and ECII) have been analyzed for such a difference between clonal groups as well as types of milk. Population expectedly, increased significantly over the 10 days of incubation at 8C (p<0.0001). Results obtained indicate overall better growth of *L. monocytogenes* in pasteurized over raw milk. Comparison across serotypes showed no significant differences between serotypes or individual serotype between types of milk. Significant difference, however, has been noted between clonal growth of *L. monocytoggenes* in milk. However, further studies are necessary in order to understand better distribution of epidemic clones, their transmission characteristics and ability to cause foodborne disease

7.0. REFERENCES:

1. Aase, B., G. Sundheim, S. Langsrud, and L. V. Rørvik. 2000. Occurrence of and a possible mechanism for resistance to a quaternary ammonium compound in *Listeria monocytogenes*. Int.J.Food Microbiol. 62:57-63.

2. Allerberger, F., and M. Wagner. **2010.** Listeriosis: a resurgent foodborne infection. Clin Microbiol Infect. 16:16-23.

3. Anonymous. 2001. Outbreak of listeriosis associated with homemade Mexican-style cheese—North Carolina, October 2000–January 2001. Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep. 50:560–562.

4. Antunes, P., C. Réu, J.C. Sousa, N. Pestana, L. Peixe. 2002. Incidence and susceptibility to antimicrobial agents of *Listeria* spp. and *Listeria monocytogenes* isolated from poultry carcasses in Porto, Portugal. J. Food Prot. 65(12):1888-1893.

5. Aziza, F., E. Mettler, J.J. Daudin, M. Sanaa. 2006. Stochastic, compartmental, and dynamic modeling of cross-contamination during mechanical smearing of cheeses. Risk Anal. Jun;26(3):731-45.

6. Azizoglu, R. O., and S. Kathariou. **2010.** Temperature-dependent requirement for catalase in aerobic growth of *Listeria monocytogenes* F2365. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 76:6998-7003. PMCID: PMC2976248

7. Azizoglu, R. O., and S. Kathariou. 2010. Inactivation of a cold-induced putative RNA helicase gene of *Listeria monocytogenes* is accompanied by failure to grow at low temperatures but does not affect freeze-thaw tolerance. J. Food Prot. 73:1474-1479.

8. Barbalho, T.C.F., P.E. Almeida, R.C.C. Almeida, E. Hofer. 2005. Prevalence of *Listeria* spp. at a poultry processing plant in Brazil and a phage test for rapid confirmation of suspect colonies. Food Contr. 16 (3): 211–216.

9. Behrsing, J., J. Jaeger, F. Horlock, N. Kita, P. Franz, and R. Premier. 2003. Survival of *Listeria innocua, Salmonella salford* and *Escherichia coli* on the surface of fruit with inedible skins. Postharvest Biology and Technology 29 (2003) 249_/256

10. Beuchat, L. R. 1996. *Listeria monocytogenes* incidence on vegetables. Food Control 7:223-228.

11. Beuchat, L. R. 2002. Ecological factors influencing survival and growth of human pathogens on raw fruits and vegetables. 2002. Microb. Infec. 4:413-423.

12. Biais, B., B. Beauvoit, J. William Allwood, C. Deborde, M. Maucourt, R. Goodacre,
D. Rolin, A. Moing. 2010. Metabolic acclimation to hypoxia revealed by metabolite
gradients in melon fruit. J Plant Physiol. Feb 15;167(3):242-5.

13. Bjorland, J., T. Steinum, B. Kvitle, S. Waage, M. Sunde, E. Heir. 2005. Widespread distribution of disinfectant resistance genes among staphylococci of bovine and caprine origin in Norway. J. Clin. Microbiol. 43(9):4363-4368.

14. Blackman, I. C., and J. F. Frank. 1996. Growth of *Listeria monocytogenes* as a biofilm on various food processing surfaces. J. Food Prot. 59:827-831.

15. Boor, K. 2001. Fluid dairy product quality and safety: Looking to the future. J. Dairy Sci. 84:1–11

16. Bourry, A., B. Poutrel, J. Rocourt. 1995. Bovine mastitis caused by *Listeria monocytogenes*: characteristics of natural and experimental infections. J. Med Microbiol. Aug; 43(2):125-32.

17. Bowen, A., A. Fry, G. Richards, L. Beuchat. 2006. Infections associated with cantaloupe consumption: a public health concern. Epidemiol. Infect. 134;675–685.

18. Braoudaki, M., and A. C. Hilton. 2005. Mechanisms of resistance in *Salmonella enterica* adapted to erythromycin, benzalkonium chloride and triclosan. Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents. 25:31-37.

19. Briers, Y., J. Klumpp, M. Schuppler, M.J. Loessner. 2011. Genome sequence of *Listeria monocytogenes* Scott A, a clinical isolate from a food-borne listeriosis outbreak. J. Bacteriol.193:4284 –4285.

20. Buchrieser, C., R. Brosch, B. Catimel, and J. Rocourt. 1993. Pulsed-field gel electrophoresis applied for comparing *Listeria monocytogenes* strains involved in outbreaks. Can J Microbiol 39:395-401.

21. Bunning, V.K., C.W. Donnelly, J.T. Peeler, E.H. Briggs, J.G. Bradshaw, R.G.
Crawford, C.M. Beliveau, J.T. Tierney. 1988. Thermal inactivation of *Listeria monocytogenes* within bovine milk phagocytes. Appl Environ Microbiol. Feb; 54(2):364-70.

22. Burrus, V., G. Pavlovic, B. Decaris, G. Guédon. 2002. The ICESt1 element of *Streptococcus thermophilus* belongs to a large family of integrative and conjugative elements that exchange modules and change their specificity of integration. Plasmid. Sep;48(2):77-97

23. Cabanes, D., P. Dehoux, O. Dussurget, L. Frangeul, and P. Cossart. 2002. Surface proteins and the pathogenic potential of *Listeria monocytogenes*. Trends Microbiol 10:238-45.

24. Cao, M., A. P. Bitar, and H. Marquis. 2007. A mariner-based transposition system for *Listeria monocytogenes*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 73:2758-2761. PMCID: PMC1855599

25. Canchaya, C., V. Giubellini, M. Ventura, C.G. de los Reyes-Gavilán, A. Margolles.
2010. Mosaic-like sequences containing transposon, phage, and plasmid elements among *Listeria monocytogenes* plasmids. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 76(14):4851-4857.

26. Cartwright, E.J., K.A. Jackson, S.D. Johnson, L.M. Graves, B.J. Silk, B.E. Mahon.
2013. Listeriosis outbreaks and associated food vehicles, United States, 1998-2008. Emerg
Infect Dis. Jan; 19 (1):1-9; quiz 184. doi: 10.3201/eid1901.120393.

27. Castanon, J.I. 2007. History of the use of antibiotic as growth promoters in European poultry feeds. Poult Sci. Nov; 86(11):2466-71.

28. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (CDC) **1998.** Multistate outbreak of listeriosis—United States, 1998 MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep. 47:1085–1086.

29. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). 1999. Update: multistate outbreak of listeriosis—United States, 1998-1999. MMWR Morb. Mortal.Wkly. Rep. 47:1117-1118.

30. Centers for Disease Control (CDC). 2001. Outbreak alert closing the gaps in our fedral food-safety net. Center of Science in the Public Interest, Washinton, DC

31. Centers for Disease Control (CDC). 2002. Outbreak of listeriosis—northeastern United States, 2002. MMWR Morb. Mortal.Wkly. Rep. 51:950-951.

32. Centers for Disease Control (CDC). 2011. Multistate outbreak of listeriosis associated with Jensen Farms cantaloupe—United States, August–September 2011. MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep. **60**:1357–1358

33. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) 2012. Multistate outbreak of listeriosis associated with Jensen Farms cantaloupe (update addendum)

34. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) 2013. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2013 Jun 7; 62(22):448-52

35. Celli, J., P. Trieu-Cuot 1998. Circularization of Tn916 is required for expression of the transposon-encoded transfer functions: characterization of long tetracycline-inducible transcripts reading through the attachment site. Mol Microbiol Apr; 28(1):103-17.

36. Charpentier, E., G. Gerbaud, and P. Courvalin. 1993. Characterization of a new class of tetracycline-resistance gene tet(S) in *Listeria monocytogenes* BM4210. Gene. 131:27-34.

37. Charpentier, E., G. Gerbaud, and P. Courvalin. 1994. Presence of the *Listeria* tetracycline resistance gene tet (S) in Enterococcus faecalis. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 38:2330-2335.
38. Charpentier, E., G. Gerbaud, C. Jacquet, J. Rocourt, and P. Courvalin. 1995.

Incidence of antibiotic resistance in Listeria spp. J. Infect. Dis. 172:277-281. 37

39. Charpentier, E., P. Courvalin. 1999. Antibiotic resistance in *Listeria* spp. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 43(9): 2103–2108.

40. Charpentier, E., G. Gerbaud, and P. Courvalin. **1999.** Conjugative mobilization of the Rolling -circle plasmid pIP823 from *Listeria monocytogenes* BM4293 among grampositive and gram-negative bacteria. J. Bacteriol. 181: 3368–3374.

41. Chen, Y., W. Zhang, and S. J. Knabel. 2005. Multi-virulence-locus sequence typing clarifies epidemiology of recent listeriosis outbreaks in the United States. J. Clin. Microbiol. 43:5291–5294.

42. Cheng, Y., R. M. Siletzky, and S. Kathariou. 2008. Genomic divisions/lineages, epidemic clones, and population structure, p. 337-358. In D. Liu (ed.), Handbook of *Listeria monocytogenes*. CRC Press, Inc., Boca Raton, FL.

43. Cheng, Y., J. W. Kim, S. Lee, R. M. Siletzky, and S. Kathariou. 2010. DNA probes for unambiguous identification of *Listeria monocytogenes* Epidemic Clone II strains. Appl. Environ Microbiol. 76:3061-3068.

44. Ciric, L., P. Mullany, A. Roberts. 2011. Antibiotic and antiseptic resistance genes are linked on a novel mobile genetic element: Tn6087. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 66(10): 2235–2239.

45. Cole, M.B., M.V. Jones, C. Holyoak. **1990.** The effect of pH, salt concentration and temperature on the survival and growth of *Listeria monocytogenes*. J. Appl Bacteriol. Jul; 69(1):63-72.

46. Crimmins, G. T., A. A. Herskovits, K. Rehder, K. E. Sivick, P. Lauer, T.
W.Dubensky, Jr., and D. A. Portnoy. 2008. *Listeria monocytogenes* multidrug resistance transporters activate a cytosolic surveillance pathway of innate immunity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 105:10191–10196.

47. Curiale, M.S., C. Lewus. 1994. Detection of *Listeria monocytogenes* in samples containing *Listeria innocua*. J. Food Prot. 57(12): 1043–1051.

48. Davis, J.A., and C. R. Jackson. 2009. Comparative antimicrobial susceptibility of *Listeria monocytogenes*, *L. innocua*, and *L. welshimeri*. Microb. Drug Resist. 15:27-32. 9

49. da Rocha, L.S., G.U. Gunathilaka, Y. Zhang. 2012. Antimicrobial resistant Listeria species from retail meat in metro Detroit. JFood Prot. Dec; 75(12):2136-41
50. de Castro, V., J. M. Escudero, J.L. Rodriguez, N. Muniozguren, J. Uribarri, D. Saez, J. Vazquez. 2012. Listeriosis outbreak caused by Latin-style fresh cheese, Bizkaia, Spain, August J Appl Bacteriol. 1990 Jul; 69(1):63-72.

51. De Cesare, A., J.L. Bruce, T.R. Dambaugh, M.E. Guerzoni, M. Wiedmann.2004.

Automated ribotyping using different enzymes to improve discrimination of *Listeria monocytogenes* isolates with a particular focus on serotype 4b strains.J Clin Microbiol. 2001 Aug; 39(8):3002-5.

52. Delhalle, L., M. Ellouze, M. Yde, A. Clinquart, G. Daube, N. Korsak. 2012. Retrospective analysis of a *Listeria monocytogenes* contamination episode in raw milk goat cheese using quantitative microbial risk assessment tools. J. Food Prot. Dec; 75(12):2122-35.

53. Del Rosario, B.A., and L.R., Beuchat, 1995. Survival and growth of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in cantaloupe and watermelon. J. Food Prot. 58,105–107.

54. den Bakker, H.C., E.D. Fortes, M.Wiedmann. 2010. Multilocus sequence typing of outbreak-associated *Listeria monocytogenes* isolates to identify epidemic clones. Foodborne Pathog. Dis. 7(3):257-265.

55. Denny, J., and J. McLauchlin. 2008. Human *Listeria monocytogenes* infections in Europe--an opportunity for improved European surveillanceEuro Surveill. 2008 Mar 27; 13(13) 56.Doucet-Populaire, F., P. Trieu-Cuot, I. Dosbaa, A. Andremont, P. Courvalin.1991. Inducible transfer of conjugative transposon Tn1545 from *Enterococcus faecalis* to *Listeria monocytogenes* in the digestive tracts of gnotobiotic mice. Antimicrob.Agents Chemother. 35(1): 185–187.

57. Dillon, R., T. Patel, S. Ratnam.1994.Occurrence of *Listeria* in hot and cold smoked seafood products.Int J Food Microbiol. Apr; 22(1):73-7.

58. Donnelly, C. W. and E. H. Briggs. 1986. Psychrotrophic growth and thermal inactivation of *Listeria monocytogenes* as a function of milk composition. J. Food Prot. 49, 994-998.

59. Doumith M., C. Buchrieser, P. Glaser, C. Jacquet, and P. Martin. 2004. Differentiation of the Major *Listeria monocytogenes* Serovars by Multiplex PCR. Journal of Clinical Microbiology, 42(8): 3819-3822.3)

60. Drevets, D. A., and M. S. Bronze.2008. *Listeria monocytogenes*: epidemiology, human disease, and mechanisms of brain invasion. FEMS Immunol. Med. Microbiol. 53:151-165.

61. Edman, D.C., M.B.Pollock, E.R.Hall. 1968. *Listeria monocytogenes* forms induction maintenance and biological characteristics. J. Bacterial. Aug; 96(2):352-7.

62. EFSA.2008a. Draft Opinion onAntimicrobial Resistance in Food. Available online: http://www.efsa.eu.int/EFSA/DocumentSet/biohaz_public_cons_amr_en.pdf.

63. EFSA. 2008b. Scientific Opinion of the Panel on Biological Hazards on a request from the Health and Consumer Protection, Directorate General, European Commission on Microbiological Risk Assessment in feeding stuffs for food producing animals. The EFSA Journal **720**.1–84.

64. Elhanafi, D., V.Dutta, and S. Kathariou. 2010. Genetic characterization of plasmid associated benzalkonium chloride resistance determinants in a *Listeria monocytogenes*

Strain from the 1998-1999 outbreak. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 76:8231-8238.

65. Ercolini D., F. Russo, I. Ferrocino and F. Villani. 2009. Molecular Identification of Mesophilic and Psychrotrophic Bacteria from Raw Cow's Milk. Food Microbiology, 26: 228-231.

66. European Commission.1998. Council Regulation (EC) No 2821/98 of 17 December 1998 amending, as regards withdrawal of the authorisation of certain antibiotics, Directive

70/524/EEC concerning additives in feedingstuffs. Official Journal of the European Community L 351: 4–8.

67. Evans, R.P. Jr., F.L. Macrina. 1983. Streptococcal R plasmid pIP501: endonuclease site map, resistance determinant location, and construction of novel derivatives. J Bacteriol. Jun;154(3):1347-55.

68. Evans, M.R., B. Swaminathan, L.M. Graves, E. Altermann, T.R. Klaenhammer, R.C.
Fink, S. Kernodle, and S. Kathariou. 2004. Genetic markers unique to *Listeria monocytogenes* serotype 4b differentiate Epidemic Clone II (hot dog outbreak strains) from other lineages. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 70:2383–2390

69. Facinelli, B., P.E. Giovanetti, Varaldo, C. Casolari, and U. Fabio. 1991. Antibiotic resistance in foodborne listeria. Lancet 338:1272.

70.Facinelli, B., M.C. Roberts, E. Giovanetti, C. Casolari, U. Fabio, P.E. Varaldo. 1993. Genetic basis of tetracycline resistance in food-borne isolates of *Listeria innocua*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 59(2): 614–616.

71. Farber, J.M., G.W. Sanders, and J.I. Speirs, 1990. Growth of *Listeria monocytogenes* in naturally-contaminated raw milk. Lebensm. Wiss. Technol. 23:252-254

72. Food and Drug Administration (FDA). 2001b. Food and Drug Administration (FDA),
2001b. FDA survey of domestic fresh produce: interim results. Available from:
/http://www.cfsan.fda.gov/_dms/ prodsur8.htmlS.

73. Food and Drug Administration (FDA). 2003. Duck Delivery Produce recalls cut honeydew and cut cantaloupe melon for possible health risk. Available from: /http://www.fda.gov/oc/po/firmrecalls/duck07_03.htmlS.

74. Fedio, W.M., M. Schoonderwoerd, R.H. Shute, H. Jackson. 2001. A case of bovine mastitis caused by *Listeria monocytogenes*.1990. J.Dairy Sci. Oct; 84(10):2157-62.

75. Flamm, R.K., D.J. Hinrichs, M.F. Thomashow. 1984. Introduction of pAM beta 1 into *Listeria monocytogenes* by conjugation and homology between native *L. monocytogenes* plasmids.Infect Immun. Apr; 44(1):157-61.

76. Flowers, R.S., K. Eckner, D.A. Gabis, B.J. Robison, J.A. Mattingly, J.H. Silliker. 1986.

Enzyme immunoassay for detection of *Salmonella* in foods: collaborative study. J Assoc. off Anal Chem. Sep-Oct; 69(5):786-98.

77. Franke, A.E., and D.B. Clewel. 1981. Evidence for a chromosome-borne resistance transposon (Tn916) in *Streptococcus faecalis* that is capable of "conjugal" transfer in the absence of a conjugative plasmid. J.Bacteriol. 145(1):494-502.

78. Fretz, R., J. Pichler, U. Sagel, P. Much, W. Ruppitsch, A.T. Pietzka, et al. 2010 Multinational listeriosis outbreak due to 'Quargel', a sour milk curd cheese, caused by two different *L. monocytogenes* serotype 1/2a strains, 2009-2010 in Euro surveillance bulletin europeen sur les maladies transmissibles European communicable disease bulletin

79. Fretz, R., J. Pichler, U. Sagel, P. Much, W. Ruppitsch, A.T. Pietzka, A. Stöger, S. Huhulescu, S. Heuberger, G. Appl, D. Werber, K. Stark, R. Prager, A. Flieger, R. Karpísková, G. Pfaff, F. Allerberger. 2010. Update: Multinational listeriosis outbreak due to 'Quargel', a sour milk curd cheese, caused by two different *L. monocytogenes* serotype 1/2a strains, 2009-2010 Euro Surveill. Apr 22; 15(16) doi:pii: 19543

80. Furrer, B., U. Candrian, C. Hofelein, and J. Luthy. 1991. Detection and identification of *Listeria monocytogenes* in cooked sausage products and in milk by in vitro amplification of haemolysin gene fragments. J. Appl. Bacteriol. 70:372-379.

81. Gaillard, J. L., P. Berche, C. Frehel, E. Gouin, and P. Cossart. 1991. Entry of *L.monocytogenes* into cells is mediated by internalin, a repeat protein reminiscent of surface antigens from gram-positive cocci. Cell 65:1127-41.

82. Gaul LK, Farag NH, Shim T, Kingsley MA, Silk BJ, Hyytia-Trees E. 2013. Hospitalacquired listeriosis outbreak caused by contaminated diced celery--Texas, 2010. Clin Infect Dis. Jan;56 (1):20-6. doi: 10.1093/cid/cis817. Epub 2012 Sep 20.

83.Glaser, P., L. Frangeul, C. Buchrieser, C. Rusniok, A. Amend, F. Baquero, P. Berche,
H. Bloecker, P. Brandt, T. Chakraborty, A. Charbit, F. Chetouani, E. Couve, A. de
Daruvar, P. Dehoux, E. Domann, G. Dominguez-Bernal, E. Duchaud, L. Durant, O.
Dussurget, K. D. Entian, H. Fsihi, F. Garcia-del Portillo, P. Garrido, L. Gautier, W.
Goebel, N. Gomez-Lopez, T. Hain, J. Hauf, D. Jackson, L. M. Jones, U. Kaerst, J. Kreft,
M. Kuhn, F. Kunst, G. Kurapkat, E. Madueno, A. Maitournam, J. M. Vicente, E. Ng, H.
Nedjari, G. Nordsiek, S. Novella, B. de Pablos, J. C. Perez-Diaz, R. Purcell, B. Remmel,
M. Rose, T. Schlueter, N. Simoes, A. Tierrez, J. A. Vazquez-Boland, H. Voss, J.
Wehland, and P. Cossart. 2001. Comparative genomics of *Listeria* species. Science 294:849

84. Gil, M.I., E. Aguayo, A.A. Kader. 2006. Quality changes and nutrient retention in
Fresh -cut versus whole fruits during storage. J. Agric. Food Chem. 54, 4284–4296.
85. Gilmour, M.W., et al. 2010. High-throughput genome sequencing of two *Listeria monocytogenes* clinical isolates during a large foodborne outbreak. BMC Genomics 11:120

86. Godreuil, S., M. Galimand, G. Gerbaud, C. Jacquet, and P. Courvalin. 2003. Efflux pump Lde is associated with fluoroquinolone resistance in *Listeria monocytogenes*. Antimicrob.Agents Chemother. 47:704-708. PMCID: PMC151722

87. Golden, D.A., E.J. Rhodehamel, D.A. Kautter, 1993. Growth of *Salmonella* spp. in cantaloupe, watermelon, and honeydew melons. J. Food Prot. 56, 194–196.
88. Gorski, L., J. D. Palumbo, and K. D. Nguyen. 2004. Strain-specific differences in the

attachment of Listeria monocytogenes to alfalfa sprouts. J. Food Prot. 67:2488-2495.

89. Gorski, L., D. Flaherty, and J. M. Duhé. 2008. Comparison of the stress response of *Listeria monocytogenes* strains with sprout colonization. J. Food Prot. 71:1556-1562.

90. Gorski, L., J. M. Duhé, and D. Flaherty. 2009. The use of flagella and motility for plant colonization and fitness by different strains of the foodborne pathogen *Listeria monocytogenes*. PLoS ONE 4:e5142.

91. Gorski, L., J. M. Duhé, and D. Flaherty. 2011. The Sigma B operon is a determinant of fitness for a *Listeria monocytogenes* serotype 4b strain in soil. in press, Foodborne Pathog. Dis.

92. Gottlieb, S. L., E. C. Newbern, P. M. Griffin, L. M. Graves, R. M. Hoekstra, N. L. Baker, S. B. Hunter, K. G. Holt, F. Ramsey, M. Head, P. Levine, G. Johnson, D. Schoonmaker-Bopp, V. Reddy, L. Kornstein, M. Gerwel, J. Nsubuga, L. Edwards, S. Stonecipher, S. Hurd, D. Austin, M. A. Jefferson, S. D. Young, K. Hise, E. D. Chernak, and J. Sobel. 2006. Multistate outbreak of listeriosis linked to turkey deli meat and subsequent changes in US regulatory policy. Clin. Infect. Dis. 42:29–36.

93. Gravani, R. 1999.Incidence and control of *Listeria* in food-processing facilities. In: Ryser ET, Marth EH (eds) *Listeria*, listeriosis, and food safety.2nd edn. Marcel Decker, New York, pp. 657-700 Gray MJ, Zadoks RN, Fortes ED, Dogan

94. Graves, L.M., B. Swaminathan. 2001. PulseNet standardized protocol for subtyping *Listeria monocytogenes* by macrorestriction and pulsed-field gel electophoresis. Int.J.Food Microbiol. 65:55–62.

95. Grkovic, S., M. H. Brown, and R. A. Skurray. 2002. Regulation of bacterial drug export systems. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 66:671–701.

96. Grkovic, S., M. H. Brown, and R. A. Skurray. 2002. Regulation of bacterial drug export systems. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 66:671–701.

97. Hadorn, K., H.Hächler, A. Schaffner, and F. H. Kayser. 1993. Genetic characterization of plasmid-encoded multiple antibiotic resistance in a strain of *Listeria monocytogenes* causing endocarditis. Eur. J. Clin Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 12:928–937.

98. Hasegawa, M., E. Iwabuchi, S. Yamamoto, H. Esaki, K. Kobayashi, M. Ito, K. Hirai.
2013. Prevalence and characteristics of *Listeria monocytogenes* in bovine colostrum in Japan.
J. Food Prot. Feb; 76(2):248-55.

99. Hain, T., C. Steinweg, C.T. Kuenne, A. Billion, R. Ghai, S.S. Chatterjee, E. Domann, U. Kärst, A. Goesmann, T. Bekel, D. Bartels, O. Kaiser, F. Meyer, A. Pühler, B.
Weisshaar, J. Wehland, C. Liang, T. Dandekar, R. Lampidis, J. Kreft, W. Goebel, T.
Chakraborty. 2006. Whole-genome sequence of *Listeria welshimeri* reveals common steps in genome reduction with *Listeria innocua* as compared to *Listeria monocytogenes*. J.
Bacteriol. 188(21):7405-7415.

100. Hegstad, K., S. Langsrud, B.T. Lunestad, A. A. Scheie, M. Sunde, and S.
P.Yazdankhah. 2010. Does the wide use of quaternary ammonium compounds enhance the selection and spread of antimicrobial resistance and thus threaten our health? Microb. Drug Resist. 16:91-104.

101.Heisick, J. E., D. E. Wagner, M. L. Nierman et al. 1989. *Listeria* spp. found on fresh market produce. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **55**:1925-1927.

102. Hof, H., T. Nichterlein, and M. Kretschmar. 1997. Management of listeriosis. Clin. Microbiol. Rev.10:345–357.

103. Hof, H. 2003. History and epidemiology of listeriosis. FEMS Immunol. Med. Microbiol. 35:199–202.

104. Hofer, E., R. Ribeiro, and D.P. Feitosa. 2000. Species and serovars of the genus *Listeria* isolated from different sources in Brazil from 1971 to 1997. Memorias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz, Rio de Janeiro. 95: 615–620.

105. Hofer E, Ribeiro R, Feitosa DP. 2000. Species and serovars of the genus Listeria isolated from different sources in Brazil from 1971 to 1997. Mem. Inst. Oswaldo Cruz 95:615–620.

106. Huillet E., S. Larpin, P. Pardon and P. Berche. 1999. Identification of new locus in *Listeria monocytogenes* involved in cellobiose dependent repression of hly expression. FEMS Microbiol Lett 174: 265–272. PMID: 10339818

107. Huillet, E., P. Velge, T. Vallaeys, and P. Pardon. 2006. LadR, a new PadR-related transcriptional regulator from *Listeria monocytogenes*, negatively regulates the expression of the multidrug efflux pump MdrL. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 254:87–94. PMID: 16451184

108. Jayarao, B.M., and D.R. Henning 2001. Prevalence of foodborne pathogens in bulk tank milk. J. Dairy Sci. Oct; 84(10):2157-62.

109. Jensen, N.E., F.M. Aarestrup, J. Jensen, H.C. Wegener.1996. *Listeria monocytogenes* in bovine mastitis.Possible implication for human health. In.J.Food Microbiol. Sep; 32(1-2):209-16.

110. Johnson J. 1998. Isolation and Identification of *Listeria monocytogenes* from meat, poultry and egg products., United States Department of Agriculture Food Safety and Inspection Service Microbiology Laboratory Guidebook, 3rd ed. United States Department of Agriculture Food Safety and Inspection Service, Washington DC

111. Jones, E.M., and A.P. MacGowan. 1995. Antimicrobial chemotherapy of human infection due to *Listeria monocytogenes*. Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 14(3):165-175.

112. Karatzas, K. A., M. A. Webber, F. Jorgensen, M. J. Woodward, L. J. Piddock, and T. J. Humphrey. 2007. Prolonged treatment of *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium with commercial disinfectants selects for multiple antibiotic resistance, increased efflux and reduced invasiveness. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 60:947-955.

113. Kastbjerg, V. G., M. H. Larsen, L. Gram, and H. Ingmer. 2010. Influence of sublethal concentrations of common disinfectants on eession of virulence genes in *Listeria monocytogenes*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol.76:303–309.

114. Kathariou, S., P. Metz, H. Hof, and W. Goebel. 1987. Tn916 - induced mutations in the hemolysin determinant affecting virulence of *Listeria monocytogenes*. J. Bacteriol. 169(3):1291-1297.

115. Kathariou, S. 2002.*Listeria monocytogenes* virulence and pathogenicity, a food safety perspective. J. Food Prot. 65(11):1811-1829.

116. Kathariou, S., et al. 2006. Involvement of closely related strains of a new clonal group of *Listeria monocytogenes* in the 1998–99 and 2002 multistate outbreaks of foodborne listeriosis in the United States. Foodborne Pathog. Dis. 3:292–302.

117. Katharios-Lanwermeyer, S., M. Rakic-Martinez , D. Elhanafi , S. Ratani , J.M. Tiedje, and S. 2012. Coselection of cadmium and benzalkonium chloride resistance in conjugative transfers from nonpathogenic *Listeria* spp. to other *Listeria*e. Appl Environ Microbiol. Nov; 78(21):7549-56.

118. Kim, J.W., and S. Kathariou. 2009. Temperature-dependent phage resistance of

Listeria monocytogenes epidemic clone II. Appl. Environ Microbiol. 75:2433-2438.

119. Kirk, M. D., I. McKay, G. V. Hall, C. B. Dalton, R. Stafford, L. Unicomb, and J. Gregory. **2008**. Foodborne disease in Australia: The OzFoodNet Experience. Clin. Infect. Dis. 47:392–400.

120. Kornacki, J.L., and J. B. Gurtler. 2007. Incidence and control of *Listeria* in food processing facilities, p. 681-766. In E. T. Ryser and E. H. Marth (ed.), *Listeria*, listeriosis and food safety, 3rd ed. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL 44

121. Kuenne, C., S. Voget, J. Pischimarov, S. Oehm, A. Goesmann, R. Daniel, T. Hain, and T. Chakraborty. 2010. Comparative analysis of plasmids in the genus *Listeria*. PLoS One. 5(9): e12511.

122. Laksanalamai, P., L.A. Joseph, B.J. Silk, L.S. Burall, C. L Tarr, P. Gerner-Smidt, and A.R. Datta 2012. Genomic characterization of *Listeria monocytogenes* strains involved in a multistate listeriosis outbreak associated with cantaloupe in US. 7(7):42448.

123. Lang, M.M., L.J.Harris, L.R. Beuchat, 2004. Survival and recovery of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7, *Salmonella*, and *Listeria monocytogenes* on lettuce and parsley as affected by

method of inoculation, time between inoculation and analysis, and treatment with chlorinated water. J Food Prot. Jun; 67(6):1092-103.

124. Langsrud, S., M. S. Sidhu, E. H. and A. L. Holck. 2003. Bacterial disinfectant resistance—a challenge for the food industry. Int. Biodeter. & Biodeg. 51: 283-290

125. Latorre, A.A., J.A. Van Kessel, J.S. Karns, M.J. Zurakowski, A.K. Pradhan, R.N. Zadoks, K.J. Boor, Y.H. Schukken. 2009 Molecular ecology of *Listeria monocytogenes*: evidence for a reservoir in milking equipment on a dairy farm. Appl Environ Microbiol. Mar; 75(5):1315-

126. Lauer, P., Y.N.C. Man, M.J. Loessner, and D.A. Portnoy. 2003. Construction, characterization, and use of two *Listeria monocytogenes* site-specific phage integration vectors. J. Bacteriol. 185(4): 1484.

127. Lebrun, M., J. Loulergue, E. Chaslus-Dancla, and A. Audurier. 1992. Plasmids in *Listeria monocytogenes* in relation to cadmium resistance. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 58:3183–3186.

128. Lebrun, M., A. Audurier, P. Cossart. 1994. Plasmid-borne cadmium resistance genes in *Listeria monocytogenes* are similar to *cadA* and *cadC* of *Staphylococcus aureus* and are induced by cadmium. J. Bacteriol.176:3040–3048. Plasmid-borne cadmium resistance genes in *Listeria monocytogenes* are present on Tn5422, a novel transposon closely related to Tn917. J. Bacteriol. 176(10): 3049–3061.

130. Lee, S., M. Rakic-Martinez, L.M. Graves, T.J. Ward, R.M. Siletzky, and S. Kathariou. 2013. Genetic determinants for cadmium and arsenic resistance among *Listeria monocytogenes* serotype 4b isolates from sporadic human listeriosis patients. Appl Environ Microbiol. Apr; 79(7):2471-6

131. Lemaitre, J.P., H. Echchannaoui, G. Michaut, C. Divies, A. Rousset. 1998. Plasmidmediated resistance to antimicrobial agents among *listeriae*. J. Food Prot. 61: 1459–1464.

132. Leuchner, L., T. Annamalai, T. Hoagland, Y. Zhao, and K. Venkitanarayanan. 2002. Behavior of *Listeria monocytogenes* in pasteurized and unpasteurized goat milk at different storage temperatures. Abstract 61-34. Annual Meeting of the Institute of Food Technologists, Anaheim, CA

133. Levy, S. B. 2002. Active efflux, a common mechanism for biocide and antibiotic resistance. J. Appl Microbiol. 92:65-71.

134. Li, G., and S. Kathariou. 2003. An improved cloning vector for construction of gene replacements in *Listeria monocytogenes*. Appl Environ Microbiol. May; 69(5):3020-3.

135. Li, X.Z., and H. Nikaido. 2009. Efflux-mediated drug resistance in bacteria: an update.Drugs. 69:1555-1623

136. Linnan, M.J., L. Mascola, X.D. Lou, V. Goulet, S. May, C. Salminen, D.W. Hird,
M.L. Yonekura, P. Hayes, R.Weaver, et al. 1988. Epidemic listeriosis associated with
Mexican-style cheese. N. Engl J Med. Sep 29; 319(13):823-8.

137. Little, C.L., J.R. Rhoades, S.K. Sagoo, J. Harris, M. Greenwood, V. Mithani, K. Grant, McLauchlin. 2008. Microbiological quality of retail cheeses made from raw, thermized or pasteurized milk in the UK.J.Food Microbiol. Apr; 25(2):304-12.

138. Lundén, J., T.Autio, A. Markkula, S. Hellström, and H. Korkeala. 2003. Adaptive and cross-adaptive responses of persistent and non-persistent *Listeria monocytogenes* strains to disinfectants.Int. J.Food Microbiol. 82:265-272.

139. Lyytika¨inen, O., T. Autio, R. Maijala, P. Ruutu, T. Honkanen Schlech, W. F., P. M. Lavigne, R. A. Bortolussi, A. C. Allen, E. V. Haldane, A. J. Wort, A. W. Hightower, S. E. Johnson, S. H. King, E. S. Nicholls, and C. V. Broome. 1983. Epidemic listeriosis: evidence for transmission by food. N. Engl. J. Med. 308:203–206.

140. MacDonald, F., A.D. Sutherland. 1994. Important differences between the generation times of *Listeria monocytogenes* and *Listeria innocua* in two *Listeria* enrichment broths. J. Dairy Res. 61(3):433-436.

141. Mahmoud, B.S.M., R.H. Linton. 2008. Inactivation kinetics of inoculated *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and *Salmonella enterica* on lettuce by chlorine dioxide gas. Food Microbiol. 25, 244–252.

142. Marth E.H., R.E. Brackett, R.B. Tompkin, S. Kathariou and E.C.D. Todd. 2007.Perspectives on Research Needs. P. 813-839. In E. T. Ryser, and E. H. Marth. *Listeria*, Listeriosis and Food Safety, 3rd ed. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.

143. Martin, A., A. Cherubini, C. Andres-Lacueva, M. Paniagua, J.A. Joseph,
2002.Effects of fruits and vegetables on levels of vitamins E and C in the brain and their association with cognitive performance. J. Nutr.Health Aging 6, 392–404.
144. Mata M.T., F. Baquero, and J. C. Perez-Diaz. 2000. A multidrug efflux transporter in

Listeria monocytogenes. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 187: 185–188.

145. Mathew, F.P., E.T. Ryser. 2002. Competition of thermally injured *Listeria monocytogenes* with a mesophilic lactic acid starter culture in milk for various heat treatments. J. Food Prot. Apr; 65(4):643-50

146. McDonnell, G., and A. D. Russell. **1999.** Antiseptics and disinfectants: activity, action, and resistance. Clin.Microbiol. Rev.12:147-179.

147. McLauchlin, J., et al. 1997. Subtyping of *Listeria monocytogenes* on the basis of plasmid profiles and arsenic and cadmium susceptibility. J. Appl. Microbiol. 83:381–388.

148. Mead, P. S., L. Slutsker, P. M. Griffin, and R.V. Tauxe.1999. Food-related illness and death in the United States–Reply to Dr. Hedberg. Emerg. Infect Dis. 5:841-842.

149. Mead, P., E.F. Dunne, L. Graves, M. Wiedmann, M.Patrick, S. Hunter, E. Salehi,
FMostashari, A. Craig, P.Mshar, T. Bannerman, B.D. Sauders, P. Hayes, W. DeWitt, P.
Sparling, P. Griffin, D. Morse, L. Slutsker, and B.Swaminathan, for the Listeria
Outbreak Working Group.2006. Nationwide outbreak of listeriosis due to contaminated
meat. Epidemiol. Infect. 1:1–8.

150. Mereghetti, L., R.Quentin, N. Marquet-Van der Mee, and A. Audurier. 2000. Low sensitivity of *Listeria monocytogenes* to quaternary ammonium compounds. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 66:5083-5086.

151. Merianos, J. J.1991. Quaternary ammonium antimicrobial compounds, p. 225–255. In S. S. Block (ed.), Disinfection, sterilization and preservation, 4th ed. Lea & Feigner, Malvern, PA.

152. Miettinen, H., and G. Wirtanen. 2005. Prevalence and location of *Listeria monocytogenes* in farmed rainbow trout. .Int J Food Microbiol Oct 15; 104(2):135-43.

153. Morvan A., C. Moubareck, A. Leclercq, M. Hervé-Bazin, S. Bremont, M. Lecuit, P. Courvalin, and A. LeMonnier. 2010. Antimicrobial resistance of *Listeria monocytogenes* strains isolated from humans in France. Antimicrob.Agents Chemother. 54: 2728-2731.

154. Mullapudi, S., R. M. Siletzky, and S. Kathariou. 2008. Heavy-metal and benzalkonium chloride resistance of Listeria monocytogenes isolates from the environment of turkey processing plants. Appl. Environ. Microbiol.74:1464-1468.

155. Mullapudi, S., R.M. Siletzky, and S. Kathariou. 2010. Diverse cadmium resistance determinants in *Listeria monocytogenes* isolates from the turkey processing plant environment. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 76(2): 627–630.

156. Nelson, K. E., D. E. Fouts, E. F. Mongodin, J. Ravel, R. T. DeBoy, J. F. Kolonay, D. A. Rasko, S. V. Angiuoli, S. R. Gill, I. T. Paulsen, J. Peterson, O. White, W. C. Nelson, W. Nierman, M. J. Beanan, L. M. Brinkac, S. C. Daugherty, R. J. Dodson, A. S. Durkin, R. Madupu, D. H. Haft, J. Selengut, S. Van Aken, H. Khouri, N. Fedorova, H. Forberger, B. Tran, S. Kathariou, L. D. Wonderling, G. A. Uhlich, D. O. Bayles, J. B. Luchansky, and C. M. Fraser. 2004. Whole genome comparisons of serotype 4b and 1/2a strains of the food-borne pathogen *Listeria monocytogenes* reveal new insights into the core genome components of this species. Nucleic Acids Res. 32:2386-2395.

157. Northolt, M. D., H. J. Beckers, U. Vecht, L. Toepoel, P. S. S. Soentoro, and H. J. Wisselink. 1988. *Listeria monocytogenes*: heat resistance and behavior during storage of milk and whey and making of Dutch types of cheese. Neth. Milk Dairy J. 42: 207 – 219

158. Norwood, D. E. and A. Gilmour. 2000. The growth and resistance to sodium hypochlorite of *Listeria monocytogenes* in a steady-state multispecies biofilm. J. Appl. Microbiol. 88:512-520.

159. Oliver, S.P., B.M. Jayarao, and R.A. Almeida. 2005 Foodborne pathogens in milk and the dairy farm environment: food safety and public health implications. Foodborne Pathog Dis.; 2 (2):115-29.Review.

160. Oliver, H.F., M. Wiedmann, and K. J. Boor. 2007. Environmental Reservoir and Transmission into the Mammalian Host, p. 111-137. In H. Goldfine and H. Shen (ed.), *Listeria monocytogenes*: Pathogenesis and Host Response. Springer-Verlag, New York, NY

161.Olsen, S.J., M. Patrick, S.B. Hunter, V. Reddy, L. Kornstein, W.R. MacKenzie, K. Lane, S. Bidol, G.A. Stoltman, D.M. Frye, I. Lee, S. Hurd, T.F. Joens, T.N. LaPorte, W. DeWitt, L. Graves, M. Wiedmann, D.J. Schoonmaker- Bopp, A.J. Huang, C. Vincent, A. Bugenhagen, J. Corby, E. R. Carloni, M.E. Holcomb, R. F. Woron, S. M. Zansky, G. Dowdle, F. Smith, S. Ahrabi-Fard, A. R. Ong, N. Tucker, N. A. Hynes, and P. Mead.
2005. Multistate outbreak of *Listeria monocytogenes* infection linked to delicatessen turkey meat.Clin. Infect. Dis. 40:962–967.

162. Ordóñez, E., M. Letek, N. Valbuena, J.A. Gil, and L.M. 2005. Analysis of genes involved in arsenic resistance in *Corynebacterium glutamicum* ATCC 13032. Appl Environ Microbiol. Oct; 71(10):6206-15.

163.Painter J, Slutsker L. 2007. Listeriosis in humans, p. 85–109. In E. T. Ryser and E. H. Marth (ed.), Listeria, listeriosis and food safety, 3rd ed. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.

164. Pareja E., et al. 2006. ExtraTrain: a database of extragenic regions and transcriptional information in prokaryotic organisms.BMC Microbiol. 6:29.

165. Park, H. J. 2002. Edible coatings for fruits, p. 331–345. *In* W. Jongen (ed.), Fruit and vegetable processing. Woodhead Publishing Limited, Cambridge, UK.

166. Penteado, A. L., and F. F. Leita^o. 2004. Growth of *Listeria monocytogenes* in melon, watermelon and papaya pulps. Int.J.Food Microbiol. 92:89–94.

167. Peterkin, P.I., M.A. Gardiner, N. Malik, E.S. Idziak. 1992. Plasmids in *Listeria monocytogenes* and other *Listeria* species. Can. J. Microbiol.38(2):161-164.

168. Petran, R.L., Swanson, K.M.J. 1993. Simultaneous growth of *Listeria monocytogenes* and *Listeria innocua*. J. Food Prot. 56 (7): 616–618.

169. Phillips, I., M. Casewell, T. Cox, B. De Groot, C. Friis, R. Jones, C. Nightingale, R.Preston, and J. Waddell. 2004. Does the use of antibiotics in food animals pose a risk to human health? A critical review of published data. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 23: 28–52.

170. Piddock, L.J. 2006. Multidrug-resistance efflux pumps - not just for resistance. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 4:629-636.

171. Pitt, W. M., T.J.Harden, and R.R.Hull. 1999. Antibacterial activity of raw milk against *Listeria monocytogenes*. Aust. J. Dairy Technol. 54: 90-93

172. Poimenidou, S., C.A. Belessi, E.D. Giaouris, A.S. Gounadaki, G.J. Nychas, and P.N. Skandamis. 2009. *Listeria monocytogenes* attachment to and detachment from stainless steel surfaces in a simulated dairy processing environment. Appl Environ Microbiol. Nov; 75(22):7182-8.

173. Poole, K. 2005. Efflux- mediated antimicrobial resistance.J.Antimicrob. Chemother 56:20-5

174. Portnoy, D.A., P.S. Jacks, and D.J. Hinrichs. **1988**. Role of hemolysin for the intracellular growth of *Listeria monocytogenes*. J. Exp. Med. 167(4): 1459–1471.

175. Portnoy, D.A. 2007. A 20-Year Perspective on *Listeria monocytogenes* Pathogenesis, p.
1-25. In H.Goldfine and H. Shen. (ed.), *Listeria monocytogenes*: Pathogenesis and Host
Response. Springer-Verlag New York, NY

176. Poyart-Salmeron, C., C. Carlier, P. Trieu-Cuot, A. L. Courtieu, and P. Courvalin.
1990. Transferable plasmid-mediated antibiotic resistance in *Listeria monocytogenes*. Lancet 335:1422–1426.

177. Poyart-Salmeron, C., P. Trieu-Cuot, C. Carlier, A. MacGowan, J. McLauchlin, and
P. Courvalin. 1992. Genetic basis of tetracycline resistance in clinical isolates of *Listeria* monocytogenes. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 36:463–466.

178. Promadej, N.F., P. Fiedler, S. Cossart, Dramsi, S. Kathariou. 1999. Cell wall teichoic acid glycosylation in *Listeria monocytogenes* serotype 4b requires gtcA, a novel, serogroup-specific gene. J. Bacteriol. 181:418–425.

179. Public Health Service/Food and Drug Administration. 1999. Grade "A" Pasteurized Milk Ordinance. U.S. Dept. of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service. Publication #229. 292 pp. Washington, DC.

180. Quentin, C., M. C. Thibaut, J. Horovitz, and C. Bebear. **1990**. Multiresistant strain of *Listeria monocytogenes* in septic abortion. Lancet 336:375

181. Randall, L.P., S.W. Cooles, N. G. Coldham, E. G. Penuela, A.C. Mott, M.J.
Woodward, L. J. Piddock, and M. A. Webber. 2007. Commonly used farm disinfectants can select for mutant *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium with decreased susceptibility to biocides and antibiotics without compromising virulence. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 60:1273-1280.

182. Rakic-Martinez, M., D.A. Drevets, V. Dutta, V. Katic, and S. Kathariou. 2011. *Listeria monocytogenes* strains selected on ciprofloxacin or the disinfectant benzalkonium chloride exhibit reduced susceptibility to ciprofloxacin, gentamicin, benzalkonium chloride, and other toxic compounds. Appl. Environ. Microbiol.77(24):8714-8721.

183. Richards, G.M., and L.R. Beuchat. 2005b. Metabiotic associations of molds and *Salmonella Poona* on intact and wounded cantaloupe rind. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 97, 327–339.

184. Roberts, M.C., B. Facinelli, E. Giovanetti, P.E. Varaldo. 1996. Transferable erythromycin resistance in *Listeria* spp. isolated from food. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 62:269–270.

185. Rocourt, J., C. Jacquet, and J. Bille. 1997. Human Listeriosis. Publication WHO/FNU/FOS/97.1. World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland.

186. Romanova, N., S. Favrin, and M. W. Griffiths. 2002. Sensitivity of *Listeria* monocytogenes to sanitizers used in the meat processing industry. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 68:6405-6409. PMCID: PMC134375

187. Romanova, N.A., P.F.Wolffs, L. Y. Brovko, and M. W.Griffiths. 2006. Role of efflux pumps in adaptation and resistance of *Listeria monocytogenes* to benzalkonium chloride. Appl. Environ.Microbiol. 72:3498-3503.

188. Rosenow, E.M. and E.H. Marth. 1987. Growth of *Listeria monocytogenes* in skim, whole and chocolate milk, and in whipping cream during incubation at 4, 8, 13, 21 and 35°C.J. Food Protect. 50: 452–459.

189. Rota, C., J. Yangue, D. Blanco, J.J. Carramina, A. Arin, and A.Herrera. **1996**. High prevalence of multiple resistances to antibiotics in 144 *Listeria* isolates from Spanish dairy and meat products. J. Food Prot. **59**: 938-943.

190. Russell, A.2000. Do biocides select for antibiotic resistance? Journal of Pharmacy

Pharmacology 52: 227–233.

191. Russell AD. 2002. Introduction of biocides into clinical practice and the impact on antibiotic-resistant bacteria. J. Appl. Microbiol. 92 Suppl: 121S-135S.

192. Ruusunen, M., M. Salonen, H. Pulkkinen, M. Huuskonen, S. Hellström, J. Revez,
M.L. Hänninen, M. Fredriksson-Ahomaa, and M. Lindström. 2013. Pathogenic bacteria
in Finnish bulk tank milk Foodborne Pathog Dis. Feb; 10(2):99-106

193. Scallan, E., R. M. Hoekstra, F. J. Angulo, R. V. Tauxe, M. A. Widdowson, S. L. Roy, J. L. Jones, and P. M. Griffin. 2011. Foodborne illness acquired in the United States--major pathogens. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 17:7-15. 51

194. Schlech, W.F. 3rd, P.M. Lavigne, R.A. Bortolussi, A.C. Allen, E.V. Haldane, A.J.
Wort, A.W. Hightower, S.E. Johnson, S.H. King, E.S. Nicholls, C.V. Broome. 1983.
Epidemic listeriosis--evidence for transmission by food. N Engl J Med. Jan 27; 308(4):203-6.

195. Schirawski, J., W. Hagens, G.F. Fitzgerald, and D. Van Sinderen. 2002. Molecular characterization of cadmium resistance in *Streptococcus thermophilus* strain 4134: an example of lateral gene transfer. Appl Environ Microbiol. Nov; 68(11):5508-16.

196. Schwaiger, K., K. Helmke, C.S. Holzel, and J.Bauer. 2011. Comparative analysis of the bacterial flora of vegetables collected directly from farms and from supermarkets in Germany. Int J Environ Health Res. Jun; 21(3):161-72.

197. Sheridan, J.J., G. Duffy, D.A. McDowell, and I.S. Blair. 1994. The occurrence and initial numbers of *Listeria* in Irish meat and fish products and the recovery of injured cells from frozen products. Int.J.Food Microbiol. 22:105–113.

198. Sidhu, M.S., E. Heir, H. Sørum, and A.Holck A. 2001.Genetic linkage between resistance to quaternary ammonium compounds and beta-lactam antibiotics in food-related *Staphylococcus* spp. Microb. Drug Resist. 7(4):363-371.

199. Silliker, J. H. 1986. Listeria monocytogenes. Food Technol. 40(8):24.

200. Silver, S., and L.T. Phung 1996. Bacterial heavy metal resistance: new surprises. Annu RevMicrobiol. ; 50:753-89.

201. Skovgaard, N., and C.A.Morgen. 1988. Detection of *Listeria* spp. in faeces from animals, in feeds, and in raw foods of animal origin. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 6:229–242.

202. Soumet C, Ragimbeau C, Maris P. 2005. Screening of benzalkonium chloride resistance in Listeria monocytogenes strains isolated during cold smoked fish production. Lett. Appl. Microbiol. 41:291–296.

203. Srinivasan, V., H.M. Nam, L.T. Nguyen, B. Tamilselvam, S.E. Murinda, and S.P.Oliver. 2005. Prevalence of antimicrobial resistance genes in *Listeria monocytogenes* isolated from dairy farms. Foodborne Pathog Dis. Fall; 2 (3):201-11.

204. Swaminathan, B., and P. Gerner-Smidt. 2007. The epidemiology of human listeriosis.Microbes Infect. 9:1236-1243.

205. Tattawasart, U.,Y.J. Maillard, J. R. Furr, and A. D. Russell. 1999. Development of resistance to chlorhexidine diacetate and cetylpyridinium chloride in *Pseudomonas stutzeri* and changes in antibiotic susceptibility. J. Hosp. Infect. 42:219-229.

206. Thévenot, D., M.L. Delignette-Muller, S. Christieans, and C. Vernozy-Rozand.
2005. Prevalence of *Listeria monocytogenes* in 13 dried sausage processing plants and their products. Int JFood Microbiol. Jun 25; 102(1):85-94.

207. To, M. S., S. Favrin, N. Romanova, and M. W. Griffiths. 2002. Postadaptational resistance to benzalkonium chloride and subsequent physicochemical modifications of *Listeria monocytogenes*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 68:5258–5264.

208. Tsakaris, A., A. Papa, J. Douboyas, and A. Antoniadis. 1997. Neonatal meningitis due to multi-resistant *Listeria monocytogenes*. J. Antimicrob.Chemother. 39:553–554.

209. Ukuku, D. O., V. Pilizota, and G. M. Sapers. 2001. Influence of washing treatments on native microflora and *Escherichia coli* population of inoculated cantaloupes. J. Food Saf. 21:31–47.

210. Ukuku, D. O., and G. M. Sapers. 2001. Effect of sanitizer treatments on *Salmonella Stanley* attached to the surface of cantaloupe and cell transfer to fresh-cut tissues during cutting practices. J. Food Prot. 64:1286–1291.

211. Ukuku, D. O., and W. F. Fett. 2002. Behavior of *Listeria monocytogenes* inoculated on cantaloupe surfaces and efficacy of washing treatments to reduce transfer from rind to fresh-cut pieces. J.Food Prot. 65:925–930.

212. Ukuku, D. O., and W. F. Fett, and G. M. Sapers. 2004. Inhibition of *Listeria monocytogenes* by native microflora of whole cantaloupe. J. Food Saf. 24:129–146.

213. Ukuku, D., and M.L. Bari, S. Kawamoto, and K. Isshiki. 2005. Use of hydrogen peroxide in combination with nisin, sodium lactate and citric acid for reducing transfer of bacterial pathogens from whole melon surfaces to fresh-cut pieces. Int.J.Food Microbiol. 104, 225–233.

214. Ukuku, D.O., and Fett, W.F., 2006.Effect of cell surface charge and hydrophobicity on attachment of 16 *Salmonella* serovars to cantaloupe rind and decontamination with sanitizers. J. Food Prot. 69, 1835–1843.

215. Ukuku, D.O., M.Olanya, D.J. Geveke, C.H. Sommers.2012. Effect of native microflora, waiting period, and storage temperature on *Listeria monocytogenes* serovars transferred from cantaloupe rind to fresh-cut pieces during preparation. J Food Prot. v; 75(11):1912-9. doi: 10.4315/0362-028X.JFP-12-191.

216. **Van Bambeke, F., E. Balzi , and P.M. Tulkens. 2000.** Antibiotic efflux pumps. Biochem Pharmacol Aug 15; 60(4):457-70

217. Van Kessel, J.S., J.S. Karns, L. Gorski, B.J. McCluskey, and M.L. Perdue.2004 Prevalence of *Salmonellae, Listeria monocytogenes*, and fecal coliforms in bulk tank milk on US dairies.J Dairy Sci. Sep; 87(9):2822-30.

218. Varma, J.K., M.C. Samuel, R. Marcus, R.M. Hoekstra, C. Medus, S. Segler, B.J. Anderson, T.F. Jones, B. Shiferaw, N. Haubert, M. Megginson, P.V. McCarthy, L. Graves, T.V. Gilder, and F.J. Angulo. 2007. *Listeria monocytogenes* infection from foods prepared in a commercial establishment: a case-control study of potential sources of sporadic illness in the United States. Clin Infect Dis. Feb 15; 44(4):521-8.

219. Wachtel, M. R., and A. O. Charkowski. 2002. Cross-contamination of lettuce with *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. J. Food Prot. 65:465-470.

220. Wagner, M., and J. MacLauchlin. 2008. Biology, p 3–26. In Liu D (ed), Handbook of *Listeria monocytogenes*, 1st ed. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL

221. Walsh, D., G. Duffy, J. J. Sheridan, I. S. Blair, and D. A. McDowell. 1998. Comparison of selective and non-selective media for the isolation of Listeria species from retail foods. J. Food Safety 18: 85-89. **222.** Walsh, D., G. Duffy, J. J. Sheridan, I. S. Blair, and D. A. McDowell. 2001. Antibiotic resistance among *Listeria*, including *Listeria monocytogenes*, in retail foods. J. Appl. Microbiol. 90:517-522. 53

223. Webber, M.A., and L.J. Piddock. 2003 The importance of efflux pumps in bacterial antibiotic resistance. JAntimicrob Chemother. Jan; 51(1):9-11

224. Welshimer, H. J. 1968. Isolation of *Listeria monocytogenes* from vegetation. J. Bacteriol. 95:300-320.

225. Wieczorek, K., K. Dmowska, and J. Osek. 2012 Characterization and antimicrobial resistance of *Listeria monocytogenes* isolated from retail beef meat in Poland. Foodborne Pathog Dis.Aug; 9(8):681-5.

226. Winter, P., F. Schilcher, Z. Bagò, D. Schoder, M. Egerbacher, W. Baumgartner, and M. Wagner. 2004. Clinical and histopathological aspects of naturally occurring mastitis caused by *Listeria monocytogenes* in cattle and ewes. J Vet Med B Infect Dis Vet Public Health. May; 51(4):176-9.

227. Woodward, J.J., A.T. Iavarone, and D.A.Portnoy. 2010. c-di-AMP secreted by intracellular *Listeria monocytogenes* activates a host type I interferon response. Science 328 (5986): 1703-1705.

228. Yan, H., S.B. Neogi , Z. Mo , W. Guan , Z. Shen , S. Zhang , L. Li , S. Yamasaki , L. Shi, and Zhong. 2010. Prevalence and characterization of antimicrobial resistance of foodborne *Listeria monocytogenes* isolates in Hebei province of Northern China, 2005-2007. Int JFood Microbiol. Dec 15; 144(2):310-6

229. Zapico, P., M. Medina, P. Gaya, and M. Nunez. 1998. Synergistic effect of nisin and the lactoperoxidase system on *Listeria monocytogenes* in skim milk. Int.J.Food Microbiol. 40:35-42

230. Zhang, Y., E. Yeh, G. Hall, J. Cripe, A.A. Bhagwat, and J. Meng. 2007 Characterization of *Listeria monocytogenes* isolated from retail foods. Int J Food Microbiol.Jan 1; 113(1):47-53. Epub 2006 Sep 22.
231. Zheng, W., and S. Kathariou. 1997. Host-mediated modification of Sau3AI restriction in *Listeria monocytogenes* prevalence in epidemic-associated strains. Appl. Environ.Microbiol. 63:3085–3089.

BIOGRAPHY

Mira Rakić-Martinez was born in Užice, a beautiful mountain area in western Serbia. During high school Mira traveled and attended high school in Hastings, England. Upon graduation she joined the Veterinary College at the University of Belgrade where she pursued her degree in Veterinary Medicine, specifically in hygiene and technology of food of animal origin.

After receiving her degree, Mira joined PhD program at the Veterinary College under the guidance of Dr Vera Katic and during her research she focused on studying behavior of *Listeria monocytogenes* in milk and in processing plants. During this period of her life Mira enjoyed learning Spanish at the 'Instituto Cervantes' in Belgrade and more importantly she made acquaintance with her now husband Sergio.

In 2010, Mira moved to United States, continuing her research in the laboratory of Dr Sophia Kathariou at North Carolina State University. Her doctorate work at NC State has been focused on identifying the mechanisms of *Listeria monocytogenes* resistance to different antimicrobials as well as the ability of the pathogen to populate and grow in different foods.

In 2011 Mira and Sergio were blessed with the arrival of their precious little boy Gregory Alexander.

Прило	r 1.								
Изјава о ауторству									
Потпис	ани-а	мир	A PAK	ИЋ МАРТИ	1HE3				
број ин	декса		14/5						
				Изја	вљујем				
да је д	окторска д	исертац	ија под	насловом					
ИСПИ.	ТИВАЊЕ М	ЕХАНИ	3AMA	PE3NCTEH	ІЦИЈЕ И	МОГУЋЕ УН	AKPCHE		
РЕЗИС	ТЕНЦИЈЕ	LISTER	IA MOI	VOCYTOGI	ENES HA	КОН АДАПТ	АЦИЈЕ НА	РАЗЛИЧИ	<u>1TA</u>
АНТИМ	ИИКРОБНА	СРЕДС	TBA						
•	резултат с	опствен	ог истр	аживачког	рада,				
•	да предло	жена ди	исерта	ција у цели	ини ни у	деловима н	ије била пр	редложен	а за
	добијање	било	које	дипломе	према	студијским	и програм	иима др	угих

• да су резултати коректно наведени и

високошколских установа,

 да нисам кршио/ла ауторска права и користио интелектуалну својину других лица.

Потпис докторанда

У Београду, 30.09.2013

MR Mayting

Apendix 1.

Statement of Authorship

Signed MIRA RAKIĆ MARTINEZ

Student ID 14/5

I declare

That the dissertation entitled

IDENTIFICATION OF THE MECHANISMS OF RESISTANCE AND POTENTIAL CROSS RESISTANCE OF *Listeria Monocytogenes* UPON ADAPTATION TO DIFFERENT ANTIMICROBIALS

• the result of its own research,

• the proposed dissertation in whole or in part is not being proposed for obtaining any diploma to degree programs of other higher education institutions,

• that the results are correctly specified and

· have not violated / by copyright and intellectual property used by others

Signature

Belgrade, 09.30.2013

1R Maytinez

Прилог 2.

Изјава о истоветности штампане и електронске верзије докторског рада

Име и презиме аутора МИРА РАКИЋ МАРТИНЕЗ

Број индекса 14/5

Студијски програм ДОКТОРСКЕ СТУДИЈЕ

Наслов рада Испитивање механизама резистенције и могуће унакрсне

резистенције Listeria monocytogenes након адаптације на различита антимикробна

средства

Ментор __др ВЕРА КАТИЋ

Потписани/а _____

Изјављујем да је штампана верзија мог докторског рада истоветна електронској верзији коју сам предао/ла за објављивање на порталу Дигиталног репозиторијума Универзитета у Београду.

Дозвољавам да се објаве моји лични подаци везани за добијање академског звања доктора наука, као што су име и презиме, година и место рођења и датум одбране рада.

Ови лични подаци могу се објавити на мрежним страницама дигиталне библиотеке, у електронском каталогу и у публикацијама Универзитета у Београду.

У Београду, _____ 30.09.2013

Потпис докторанда

MRMautirez

Apendix 2.

The statement of the identity of printed and electronic copies of the dissertation

Author's name	MIRA RAKIĆ MA	RTINEZ						
Student ID	14/5							
Study program	Doctoral studie	<u>s</u>						
Dissertation title	DENTIFICATION	OF THE MECHANISMS OF RESISTANCE AND						
POTENTIAL C	ROSS RESISTANC	E UPON Listeria Monocytogenes ADAPTATION TO						
ANTIMICROB	IALS							
Mentor dr VERA KATIĆ								

Signed

I declare that the printed version of my doctoral thesis identical electronic version that I gave for publication on the website Digital Repository of the University of Belgrade.

Permission to disclose my personal information related to obtaining the academic title of

doctor of science, such as name, age and place of birth and date of defense.

These personal data may be published on the website of the digital library, the Library and the publications of the University of Belgrade.

Belgrade, _____09.30.2013.

Signature

MRMaytime

Прилог 3.

Изјава о коришћењу

Овлашћујем Универзитетску библиотеку "Светозар Марковић" да у Дигитални репозиторијум Универзитета у Београду унесе моју докторску дисертацију под насловом:

ИСПИТИВАЊЕ МЕХАНИЗАМА РЕЗИСТЕНЦИЈЕ И МОГУЋЕ УНАКРСНЕ РЕЗИСТЕНЦИЈЕ *LISTERIA MONOCYTOGENES* НАКОН АДАПТАЦИЈЕ НА РАЗЛИЧИТА АНТИМИКРОБНА СРЕДСТВА

која је моје ауторско дело.

Дисертацију са свим прилозима предао/ла сам у електронском формату погодном за трајно архивирање.

Моју докторску дисертацију похрањену у Дигитални репозиторијум Универзитета у Београду могу да користе сви који поштују одредбе садржане у одабраном типу лиценце Креативне заједнице (Creative Commons) за коју сам се одлучио/ла.

- 1. Ауторство
- 2. Ауторство некомерцијално
- 3. Ауторство некомерцијално без прераде
- 4. Ауторство некомерцијално делити под истим условима
- 5. Ауторство без прераде
- 6. Ауторство делити под истим условима

(Молимо да заокружите само једну од шест понуђених лиценци, кратак опис лиценци дат је на полеђини листа).

Потпис докторанда

У Београду, _____ 30.09.2013

MRMayting

Apendix 3.

Statement of Use

I authorize the University Library "Svetozar Markovic" in the digital repository of the University of Belgrade entered my doctoral thesis entitled:

IDENTIFICATION OF THE MECHANISMS OF RESISTANCE AND POTENTIAL CROSS RESISTANCE OF *Listeria Monocytogenes* UPON ADAPTATION TO DIFFERENT ANTIMICROBIALS

Which is my original work.

Dissertation submitted with all attachments / I in electronic format suitable for permanent archiving.

My dissertation is stored in the digital repository of the University of Belgrade can be used by all who respect the provisions contained in the selected type of license Creative Communities (Creative Commons) that I decided to.

1. Authorship

2. Attribution - noncommercial

3. Attribution - noncommercial - no processing

4. Attribution - Noncommercial - Share Alike

5. Attribution - without processing

6. Attribution - Share Alike

(Please circle one of six licenses, a brief description of the license given to the back of the page).

Belgrade, 09.30.2013

MR May +12cz